Risk-Quantified Decision Making in Reservoir Management

by

Di Yang

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Mining Engineering

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering University of Alberta

© Di Yang, 2022

Abstract

Limited understanding of the complex subsurface brings uncertainty and risk of production shortfalls in the oilfield development. Geostatistics provides tools to model the geological uncertainty that occurs in reservoir decision making. The common decision criterion under uncertainty is to find the strategy that maximizes the expected return. But the value of assets is influenced by investors' tendency to risk, which could lead to different responses in decision-making problems. Therefore, risk-quantified decision making becomes increasingly important in reservoir management.

Decision analysis tools such as minimizing expected loss and maximizing expected utility are suitable for many petroleum applications. They are often employed when investors are sensitive to risk. Since the specific utility function is difficult to quantify in practice, the mean-variance criterion and maximizing the risk-adjusted value are widely employed when there is no explicit utility function. These approaches employ variance as the measure of risk. The variance, however, is often considered inadequate to quantify risk as investors dislike the downside volatility and are less concerned about unusual windfalls. This research develops techniques to improve risk-quantified decision making in reservoir management. The main contributions of the thesis include: (1) The impact of preferences on decision analysis is demonstrated, and a workflow is proposed to establish the relationship between the preference measurements. The relationship is constructed by connecting the risk tolerance of utility functions and penalty factor of loss functions. (2) The downside-risk approach is introduced in reservoir decision making within the expected utility framework. The risk in this approach is reflected by the downside volatility and quantified by the lower partial variance, which is able to improve the reservoir decision making by explicitly analyzing risk. (3) Preferences are taken into account in value of information (VOI) analysis by integrating the utility theory into the simulation-regression approach. The consideration of different risk preferences leads to a more robust VOI analysis in spatial decision situations.

The proposed methodologies are applied to the design of production strategies. The impact of different preferences in the decision-making process is documented, and the limitations of current approaches are revealed. The ultimate goal of this research is to improve reservoir management in the presence of geological uncertainty by explicitly quantifying and managing risk.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to

My parents:

Wenjun, Xiaomei

and

My girlfriend:

Ying

Who give me endless support and love.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor, Dr. Clayton V. Deutsch, for providing invaluable advice and constant guidance throughout my Ph.D. journey. His patience and encouragement inspire me to stay confident in life.

I would like to acknowledge the financial support from Centre for Computational Geostatistics (CCG). I am also grateful to all the colleagues of the CCG for their friendship to make these years memorable.

Finally, I would like to deeply thank my family for their love. A special thanks to my father for your unconditional support of my every decision, which motivates me to keep moving forward.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Intr	oductio	'n	1	
	1.1	Proble	m setting	2	
	1.2	Resear	rch contributions and thesis statement	5	
	1.3	Thesis	outline	6	
2	Lite	rature	review	8	
	2.1	Utility	theory	8	
		2.1.1	Utility and preference	8	
		2.1.2	Expected utility	9	
		2.1.3	Multi-attribute utility theory	11	
	2.2	Multip	ble realizations in the presence of geological uncertainty	12	
		2.2.1	Uncertainty analysis	12	
		2.2.2	Monte Carlo simulation	14	
	2.3	Reserv	voir decision making	17	
		2.3.1	Techniques with an explicit utility function	17	
		2.3.2	Techniques with an implicit utility function	18	
		2.3.3	Techniques with expected utility approximation	21	
		2.3.4	Techniques outside expected utility	23	
	2.4	Value	of information	26	
		2.4.1	Classification of information	26	
		2.4.2	VOI analysis in the Earth Sciences	28	
		2.4.3	Posterior value estimation	30	
3	Pref	ference	measurements in the presence of geological uncertainty	34	
	3.1	Motiv	ation	34	
	3.2	Prefer	ence measurements in decision making	35	
	3.3	Loss f	unction and utility function selection	40	
	3.4	Transi	tional parameters in preference measurements	43	

	3.5	Link between loss function and utility function	16
	3.6	Conclusion	19
4	Deci	ion making with an explicit consideration of risk 5	51
	4.1	Motivation	51
	4.2	Variance-based approach in decision making	53
	4.3	Measure of risk	54
	4.4	Downside-risk approach in decision making	56
		4.4.1 MLU model in decision making	59
		4.4.2 MLU optimization in decision making	51
	4.5	Conclusion	55
5	Valu	e of geophysical information analysis for different risk positions	57
	5.1	Motivation	57
	5.2	VOI analysis in spatial decision situations	59
	5.3	Methodology	71
		5.3.1 Simulation-regression approach	71
		5.3.2 VOI analysis for different preferences	73
		5.3.3 Partial least squares regression	75
	5.4	Synthetic example	76
		5.4.1 Workflow of VOI analysis in spatial decision situations	76
		5.4.2 Impacts of risk positions in VOI analysis	79
	5.5	Conclusion	31
6	Арр	ication: reservoir decision making 8	32
	6.1	Introduction	32
	6.2	Decision making in well placement optimization	33
		6.2.1 Background	33
		6.2.2 Workflow	36
		6.2.3 Results	39
	6.3	Decision making in drilling order selection) 4

		6.3.1	Background	94
		6.3.2	Workflow	96
		6.3.3	Results	98
	6.4	Conclu	asion	101
7	Арр	lication	: value of geophysical information analysis	103
	7.1	Introd	uction	103
	7.2	Value	of geophysical information	104
		7.2.1	Problem formulation	104
		7.2.2	Data modeling	105
		7.2.3	Partial least square regression	108
		7.2.4	VOI analysis for different risk positions	109
	7.3	Conclu	usion	112
8	Con	cluding	remarks	114
8	Con 8.1	cluding Summ	remarks ary of contributions and limitations	114 114
8	Con 8.1	cluding Summ 8.1.1	remarks ary of contributions and limitations	114 114 114
8	Con 8.1	cluding Summ 8.1.1 8.1.2	ary of contributions and limitations	114 114 114 115
8	Con 8.1	cluding Summ 8.1.1 8.1.2 8.1.3	ary of contributions and limitations	114 114 114 115 116
8	Con 8.1 8.2	cluding Summ 8.1.1 8.1.2 8.1.3 Future	remarks ary of contributions and limitations Preference measurements under geological uncertainty Decision making with an explicit consideration of risk Value of information for different risk positions work	 114 114 115 116 117
8	Con 8.1 8.2 8.3	cluding Summ 8.1.1 8.1.2 8.1.3 Future Final c	aremarks ary of contributions and limitations Preference measurements under geological uncertainty Decision making with an explicit consideration of risk Value of information for different risk positions work comments	 114 114 115 116 117 120
8 Re	Con 8.1 8.2 8.3 eferen	cluding Summ 8.1.1 8.1.2 8.1.3 Future Final c	ary of contributions and limitations	 114 114 115 116 117 120 121
8 Re	Con 8.1 8.2 8.3 eferen App	cluding Summ 8.1.1 8.1.2 8.1.3 Future Final c aces	ary of contributions and limitations	 114 114 115 116 117 120 121 142
8 Re A	Con 8.1 8.2 8.3 eferen A.1	cluding Summ 8.1.1 8.1.2 8.1.3 Future Final c ices Prefere	ary of contributions and limitations	 114 114 115 116 117 120 121 142 142
8 Re A	Con 8.1 8.2 8.3 eferen A.1 A.2	cluding Summ 8.1.1 8.1.2 8.1.3 Future Final c cces Prefere Downs	ary of contributions and limitations . . Preference measurements under geological uncertainty . . Decision making with an explicit consideration of risk . . Value of information for different risk positions . . work . . . comments . . . side-risk approach in decision making . .	 114 114 115 116 117 120 121 142 142 143

LIST OF TABLES

2.1	The classification of information (Eidsvik et al., 2015a).	27
4.1	Comparison between the mean-variance model and mean-variance optimization.	54
6.1	Summary of the information from exploration wells.	84
6.2	Economic parameters in the well placement.	90
6.3	General simulation information in the well placement	90
7.1	The table summarizes the information from exploration wells	105

LIST OF FIGURES

1	Introduction	1
1.1	Relationship of geological uncertainty (multiple realizations), decision making	
	(well placement), and VOI analysis (geophysical data) in reservoir management	
	(De Barros and Deutsch, 2018; Moradi et al., 2010; Odoh et al., 2014)	3
2	Literature review	8
2.1	Utility function with different risk positions	9
2.2	The elements for modeling uncertainty in the Earth Science problem (Caers,	
	2011)	13
2.3	Reservoir modeling captures geological uncertainty using multiple realizations	
	(De Barros, 2019)	15
2.4	A sketch of the mean-variance model.	19
2.5	A sketch of stochastic dominance relationship between alternatives A and B.	
	(a) The relationship for first-order stochastic dominance. (b) The relationship	
	for second-order stochastic dominance. The area of $(-)$ indicates the $F_A(x)$	
	is greater than $F_B(x)$, while the area of (+) denotes the $F_A(x)$ is smaller than	
	$F_B(x)$	21
2.6	A case study to show the workflow of minimizing expected loss in the param-	
	eter estimation (Deutsch, 2010). (a) The asymmetric linear loss function. (b)	
	The distribution of variable z . (c) The expected utility for three scenarios. (d)	
	The optimal estimate with the minimum expected loss	25
2.7	A sketch of the changes of uncertainty, cost and VOI along with the increasing	
	information	26
3	Preference measurements in the presence of geological uncertainty	34
3.1	The workflow of reservoir decision making based on expected utility	36
3.2	The workflow for reservoir decision making based on expected loss	37

3.3	A simple decision tree for binary decision making	37
3.4	The expected utility of alternatives A and B under different risk positions. (a)	
	The risk-neutral position. (b) The risk-averse position. (c) The opportunity-	
	seeking position.	38
3.5	The linear loss function with different penalty factors. (a) The symmetric loss	
	function with equal weights. (b) The asymmetric loss function with more weights	
	on the overestimation. (c) The asymmetric loss function with more weights on	
	the underestimation.	40
3.6	The optimal estimates of each alternative under different loss functions. (a)	
	The optimal values under a symmetric linear loss function. (b) The optimal	
	values under an asymmetric linear loss function with more penalty on the over-	
	estimation. (c) The optimal values under an asymmetric linear loss function	
	with more penalty on the underestimation.	40
3.7	The quadratic loss function with different penalty factors	42
3.8	The exponential utility function with different risk tolerance	43
3.9	A sketch to illustrate the transitional parameters for different preference mea-	
	surements. (a) The transitional penalty factor λ_T . (b) The transitional risk tol-	
	erance r_T	45
3.10	A sketch of workflow to connect the loss function and utility function	46
3.11	An example of numerically solving the transitional parameters from: (a) The	
	quadratic loss function. (b) The exponential utility function.	47
3.12	The position of two decisions (green and blue) with uniform distributions. (a)	
	The decisions have separate distributions. (b) The decisions have overlapping	
	distributions. (c) The decisions have separate distributions	48
3.13	The cross plot between transitional penalty factor (logarithmic scale) and tran-	
	sitional risk tolerance (linear scale).	49

4 Decision making with an explicit consideration of risk 51

4.1	A sketch of the mean-variance model. The red dotted line is the efficient fron-	
	tier, and the dots in the shadow area is dominated by the dot in the upper left	
	corner	53
4.2	The profit distributions from two alternatives with the same expected value and	
	variance	57
4.3	The illustration of risk and potential in a probability distribution.	58
4.4	A sketch of the MLU model. The red dotted line is the efficient frontier, and	
	the dot in the corner dominates other dots in the shadow box	60
4.5	Comparison between mean-variance model and MLU model in the first case.	
	(a) The cumulative distributions for alternatives. (b) The parameters involved	
	in these decision models (minimum acceptable return is 7)	61
4.6	Comparison between mean-variance model and MLU model in the second case.	
	(a) The cumulative distributions for alternatives. (b) The parameters involved	
	in these decision models (minimum acceptable return is 7)	62
4.7	A sketch of the hierarchically geological model in reservoir characterization.	63
5	Value of information analysis for different risk positions	67
5.1	A sketch of an explanation of two different concepts in the information analysis.	
	(a) The procedure of VOI analysis. (b) The procedure of terminal analysis	
	(Hong et al., 2018)	70
5.2	A sketch of VOI approximation considering risk preferences in the presence of	
	geological uncertainty.	72
5.3	A sketch of particle least square regression (Yoshida et al., 2017)	76
5.4	The simplified decision tree for VOI analysis (modified from Eidsvik et al.	
	(2017))	77
6	Application: reservoir decision making	82
6.1	The location of predrilled exploration wells.	83

6.2	Three representative realizations of (a) Lithofacies (code 1 is channelized sand	
	and code 2 is floodplain mud), (b) Porosity, (c) Permeability (millidarcy on	
	a logarithmic scale), and (d) Water saturation. The blue dots are predrilled	
	injection wells, and the red dot is the predrilled production well	85
6.3	The result of realization reduction. The two axes are arbitrary coordinates from	
	MDS	86
6.4	A sketch of the workflow for the MLU optimization in decision making	88
6.5	The convergence plot of PSO and MPSO in a risk-neutral position	89
6.6	Results of a risk-neutral position. (a) The optimal well locations. (b) The profit	
	distribution from representative realizations.	91
6.7	Results of a risk-averse position in the mean-variance optimization. (a) The op-	
	timal well locations. (b) The profit distribution from representative realizations.	92
6.8	Results of an opportunity-seeking position in the mean-variance optimization.	
	(a) The optimal well locations. (b) The profit distribution from representative	
	realizations.	92
6.9	Result of a risk-averse position in the MLU optimization. (a) The optimal well	
	locations. (b) The profit distribution from representative realizations	93
6.10	Results of an opportunity-seeking position in the MLU optimization. (a) The	
	optimal well locations. (b) The profit distribution from representative realiza-	
	tions	93
6.11	Production strategies from different preferences in a determined realization. (a)	
	The risk-neutral position in realization 14. (b) The risk-averse position in re-	
	alization 14. (c) The risk-neutral position in realization 8. (d) The opportu-	
	nity-seeking position in realization 8. The grid maps are the permeability mod-	
	els on a logarithmic scale.	94
6.12	The well locations in the drilling order selection.	95
6.13	A list of alternatives in the drilling order selection.	95
6.14	A sketch of workflow for the MLU model in decision making	97
6.15	The boxplot of profit distributions from different drilling orders	98
6.16	The efficient frontier in the mean-variance model.	99

6.17	The MLU model of the drilling order selection
6.18	The MLU dominance matrix of the drilling order selection
6.19	The parameters of optimal alternatives in the mean-variance model 101
7	Application: value of geophysical information analysis103
7.1	The locations of producers and injectors in different production strategies. (a)
	The alternative D1. (b) The alternative D2
7.2	Three realizations each of: (a) Lithofacies (code 1 is channelized sand and code
	2 is floodplain mud). (b) Porosity. (c) Permeability (millidarcy on a logarithmic
	scale)
7.3	Three realizations of synthetic acoustic impedance
7.4	The prior distribution of these two alternatives
7.5	Relationship between MSE and number of principal components under a risk-
	neutral position. (a) The alternative D1. (b) The alternative D2
7.6	Scatter plot of fitted values vs observed values under the risk-neutral position
	for two different alternatives. (a) The alternative D1. (b) The alternative D2 109
7.7	The utility distributions for alternatives over different risk positions. (a) The
	risk-averse position ($r = 1$). (b) The risk-neutral position ($r = 0$). (c) The
	opportunity-seeking position ($r = -1$)
7.8	The VOI distributions for alternatives over different risk positions. (a) The
	risk-averse position ($r = 1$). (b) The risk-neutral position ($r = 0$). (c) The
	opportunity-seeking position ($r = -1$)
7.9	The result of VOI analysis for different risk positions. (a) The plot of $U(\text{COI})$
	and $EU(\text{VOI})$. (b) The plot of difference between $EU(\text{VOI})$ and $U(\text{COI})$ 112

LIST OF SYMBOLS

Description Symbol An ensemble of alternatives DAn ensemble of geological models \boldsymbol{g} An ensemble of geophysical models y $Cov(\cdot)$ Covariance operator $F(\cdot)$ Cumulative density function $E(\cdot)$ Expected value operator $L(\cdot)$ Loss function LPM_{α} Lower partial moment of order α Maximim maxMinimum minNumber of realizations N P_o Oil price Optimal alternative d_0 Optimal estimate z_{opt} λ Penalty factor Probability density function $f(\cdot)$ TProduction life VProfit distribution Profit value evaluated on realization n v_n X Random variable **Risk** tolerance r \mathbb{S} Search space Standard deviation σ The alternative d

Symbol Description

The attitude toward to potential
The attitude toward to risk
The benchmark value
The discount factor
The estimate value
The index of realizations
The index of the maximum value
The index of the minimum value
The regression value
The true value
Total cost to drill the wells
Total volumes of oil at time t
Total volumes of water injected at time t
Total volumes of water produced at time t
Upper partial moment of order α
Utility function
Water injection cost
Water production cost

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Description
2-D	Two-dimensional
3-D	Three-dimensional
4-D	Four-dimensional
ARA	Absolute risk aversion
CDF	Cumulative distribution function
COI	Cost of information
ES	Expected shortfall
EV	Expected value
FSD	First-order stochastic domiance
GSLIB	Geostatistical software library
LPM	Lower partial moment
М	Million
MAUT	Multi-dimensional scaling
MCS	Monte Carlo simulation
MDS	Multidimensional scaling
MLU	Mean-lower partial variance-upper partial variance
MPSO	Modified particle swarm optimization
MRST	MATLAB Reservoir simulation toolbox
MSE	Mean square error
NPV	Net present value
OOIP	Original oil in place
PDF	Probability distribution function
PLSR	Partial least square regression
PoV	Posterior value

Abbreviation	Description
Pr	Reliability of information
Prob	Probability
PSO	Particle swarm optimization
PV	Prior value
RAV	Risk-adjusted value
SAGD	Steam-assisted gravity drainage
SGS	Sequential Gaussian simulation
SNESIM	Single normal equation simulation program
SSD	Second-order stochastic domiance
STB	Stock tank barrel
TI	Tolerance interval
TSD	Third-order stochastic domiance
UPM	Upper partial moment
USGSIM	Ultimate sequential Gaussian simulation program
VNM	Von Neumann and Morgenstern
VOI	Value of information

Chapter 1 Introduction

The complex distribution of subsurface properties combined with limited data brings challenges to reservoir characterization. With the improvement of computer performance, reservoir characterization has evolved from a determined model to a model with uncertainty, and now into risk management (Ma and La Pointe, 2011; Mamudu et al., 2020; Santos et al., 2017c; Suslick and Schiozer, 2004). Risk analysis and decision making have become increasingly important in the optimization of reservoir management.

Decision analysis tools for the risk-sensitive position include minimizing expected loss and maximizing expected utility (Sivakumar et al., 2015; Xuena and Jinlan, 2011). The loss function and utility function are not directly related to each other, as the loss function is often used in parameter estimation while the utility function is commonly employed in the optimization of strategies (Deutsch, 2020; Vasylchuk and Deutsch, 2018). These functions aim to capture investors' preferences to alternate outcomes. Therefore, a better understanding of the influence of risk attitudes will improve reservoir decision making.

The main framework for risk-quantified decision making based on expected utility generally includes (Khosravanian and Aadnoy, 2016; Wood and Khosravanian, 2015): (1) quantification of uncertainty based on multiple realizations, (2) risk preference analysis through a utility function, and (3) making decisions based on the maximum expected utility. However, the utility function is difficult to quantify in practice (Gallardo and Deutsch, 2020), which leads to the application of the mean-variance criterion or the risk-adjusted value (Wang et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2017). These approaches are often utilized in different contexts (selection or optimization), and both of them assess risk by variance (Markowitz, 1952). However, variance is an inappropriate measure of risk. Studies on the lower partial moments and semi-variance are proposed to improve the measure of risk (Kettunen and Salo, 2017; Mondal and Selvaraju, 2019). These risk measurements are based on downside volatility, which is more consistent with investors' behavior. Additional information plays an important role in reservoir decision making. Value of information (VOI) analysis is a prior analysis that evaluates the quality of decision-relevant information (Hong et al., 2018; Waggoner, 2002). The relationship between uncertainty, decision making, and VOI analysis is shown in Figure 1.1. It indicates that decision making and VOI analysis are implemented under a situation with uncertainty, and the gathering of information could reduce uncertainty and enhance confidence in the decision making. It should also be noted that the VOI becomes worthwhile if the decision could be changed with additional information. That is, VOI attributes value to the potential of increasing profits by enabling decision-makers to better adjust their choices in the accommodation of potential uncertainties (Bratvold et al., 2009). VOI is usually expressed as the difference between expected return with information and expected return without information, which has the underlying assumption of risk neutrality (Chen et al., 2017; Eidsvik et al., 2015a; Santos et al., 2017b). In order to better understand the role of information in decision making, different risk preferences will be taken into consideration in VOI analysis.

This chapter introduces the challenges in reservoir decision making that motivate the research of this dissertation, as well as a description of the contributions and thesis outline. Section 1.1 discusses the limitations of current techniques, which provides the background for the problem setting of this research. Section 1.2 summarizes the research contributions and thesis statement. The outline of the thesis and a brief summary of each chapter are presented in Section 1.3.

1.1 Problem setting

Decision analysis is a critical task in the petroleum industry. The complex geological distribution of subsurface rock and fluid properties cannot be fully understood from limited data. There is inevitable uncertainty and this must be considered with different preferences of investors in the process of decision-making under uncertainty. A better understanding of risk preference is an important theme in decision analysis, but challenges remain in reservoir decision analysis under geological uncertainty. Among them, the following three aspects are the main challenges addressed in this research.



Figure 1.1: Relationship of geological uncertainty (multiple realizations), decision making (well placement), and VOI analysis (geophysical data) in reservoir management (De Barros and Deutsch, 2018; Moradi et al., 2010; Odoh et al., 2014).

(1) Preference measurements in the presence of geological uncertainty

The first challenge comes from the difference of preference measurements in the presence of geological uncertainty. Investors hold different attitudes in the decision-making process under uncertainty. Decision analysis tools for the non-risk-neutral position (risk-averse position and opportunity-seeking position) include minimizing expected loss and maximizing expected utility. In these decision analysis tools, preferences are measured by loss functions and utility functions. Loss functions are often used in parameter estimation, while utility functions are commonly employed in the optimization of strategies. Although these preference measurements are widely applied in the petroleum industry, there is little research on their relationship.

(2) Decision making explicitly considering risk

The second challenge comes from risk measurement in reservoir decision analysis. In many practical applications, variance or standard deviation of returns is utilized to assess risk, such as the mean-variance model and risk-adjusted value. These approaches are under the expected utility framework and widely applied in reservoir decision making. However, it is obvious that investors dislike the downside volatility more than upside potential. Variance or standard deviation penalizes upside potential disproportionately, which makes them inappropriate to measure risk. Semi-variance and lower partial moments are proposed as alternatives to improve risk measures. Therefore, in the context of reservoir decision making, it is necessary to develop a more robust decision model with appropriate risk quantification.

(3) Value of information analysis for different risk positions

Lastly, there are also some challenges involved in VOI analysis. VOI analysis is aimed to facilitate decision making by valuing future information. The decision-related information is worth collecting when its value exceeds the cost. VOI analysis is performed before collecting information, which makes it difficult to estimate the conditional value. Although many approaches have been developed to approximate the posterior value, such as the simulationregression approach and double-loop Monte Carlo approach. But all of these approaches are implemented associated with expected return on the premise of risk neutrality, which disregards the influence of preferences on the VOI analysis.

1.2 Research contributions and thesis statement

In order to solve the above problems, this research consists of three parts: (1) construct the relationship between the penalty factor in loss functions and the risk tolerance in utility functions; (2) improve the decision model with an explicit consideration of risk in the context of decision-optimization; (3) evaluate the VOI with a consideration of different risk preferences. These objectives are expanded on below:

- The relationship between loss functions and utility functions will be constructed. More specifically, the connection between the penalty factor and risk tolerance in decision analysis is investigated. The purpose is to strengthen the understanding of preference measurements for reservoir decision making in the presence of geological uncertainty.
- A more robust risk measurement method will be introduced in reservoir decisionmaking to capture different risk positions. In this approach, the risk is clearly assessed by the downside volatility, and the decision criterion is based on maximizing the expected utility.
- VOI analysis will be conducted with preferences taken into account. It is implemented by integrating the utility theory into the simulation-regression approach. The impact of attitudes will be analyzed by performing a sensitivity analysis of different risk positions.

This research focuses on improving reservoir management by capturing preferences in the presence of geological uncertainty. It will be achieved by developing a workflow based on expected utility with an explicit consideration of risk. The proposed research provides (1) a new perspective for the place of loss functions and utility functions in petroleum applications; (2) an enhanced risk management in reservoir decision making; (3) a more robust way to perform VOI analysis in the decision-relevant context. This proposed workflow will provide more scientific and reasonable decision analysis for investors by capturing various attitudes toward risk, which has significance in managing oilfield production strategy.

1. Introduction

Thesis statement

Understanding the impacts of risk preferences has great significance to reservoir management. Reservoir decision making and risk management in the presence of geological uncertainty will be enhanced by explicitly analyzing risk.

1.3 Thesis outline

This research focuses on improving reservoir decision making and risk management in the presence of geological uncertainty. It will be achieved by developing a workflow based on expected utility with an explicit consideration of risk. The outline of this thesis is organized as follows.

Chapter 2 reviews relevant literature on some concepts and techniques. A summary of the development of reservoir decision making is provided. The basic concepts of utility theory and risk management are also documented. Several current decision-making approaches with the incorporation of different risk positions are then presented. The limitations of these methods and their applications in the petroleum industry are discussed.

Chapter 3 addresses the relationship between different preference measurements in the presence of geological uncertainty. Loss functions and utility functions are utilized to measure the non-risk-neutral position in many petroleum applications. The main goal of this section is to investigate the relationship between the penalty factor of loss functions and the risk tolerance of utility functions.

Chapter 4 discusses the downside-risk approach in decision making. Since some controversies exist in the mean-variance criterion and risk-adjusted value about measuring the risk by variance. A workflow based on the downside-risk approach is developed to improve risk management. In this approach, investors only penalize downside volatility and use the lower partial variance to quantify risk. This is more consistent with investors' behavior.

Chapter 5 illustrates the workflow of VOI analysis for different risk preferences. The synthetic geophysical information is firstly generated through rock physics analysis. Then, the conditional expectation of the given information in the posterior value is approximated

by the simulation-regression approach. Lastly, the sensitivity analysis of different risk attitudes is conducted to investigate their impacts on VOI.

Chapter 6 is the application of the downside-risk approach in the design of production strategies in the presence of geological uncertainty. The case study utilizes stochastic simulation to transfer geological uncertainty and then employs the downside-risk approach as decision-making criterion. A comparison between the mean-variance approach and the downside-risk approach is also provided.

Chapter 7 presents a case study to illustrate the impact of risk preferences on evaluating geophysical information. This case study is demonstrated in a spatial decision situation related to the production strategy selection, and it is implemented by integrating utility theory in the simulation-regression approach to incorporate different preferences.

Chapter 8 wraps up the thesis with conclusions and future work. The impacts of risk preference in reservoir management are summarized, and the benefits of using the riskquantified decision making are evaluated. Lastly, the possible directions for future research are discussed to further improve reservoir management.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter involved a series of topics related to decision analysis in reservoir management. It covers the utility theory, geological uncertainty, reservoir decision making, and value of information. The relevant literature is reviewed in the following sections.

2.1 Utility theory

In the past few decades, utility theory has had a profound impact on decision analysis. The concept of utility originated from the St. Petersburg game proposed by Nicolaus Bernoulli (Plous, 1993). It could reflect the investor's satisfaction over a set of alternatives, which is different from simple monetary value or wealth (Armstrong, 1948; Bernoulli, 1954; Eidsvik et al., 2015a; Weber, 2019).

2.1.1 Utility and preference

Risk preference is an attitude-related term toward the risk, which includes risk-averse, riskneutral, and opportunity-seeking (Hillson and Murray Webster, 2017). The behavior to risk could be described by the curvature of the utility function in the decision theory (Fellner and Maciejovsky, 2007) (Figure 2.1): (1) For the risk-averse position, people tend to choose the decision that avoids low outcomes for the sake of safety, even it has a lower expected return. This implies the utility function has a concave shape with a diminishing marginal utility; (2) For the risk-neutral position, investors only pay attention to the expected return in the decision making without consideration of risk. This utility function has a linear shape with a constant marginal utility; (3) For the opportunity-seeking position, more interest is shown in the high reward outcomes even if associated with high risk. The utility function has a convex shape with an increasing marginal utility.



Figure 2.1: Utility function with different risk positions.

Since the real utility function is difficult to obtain in practice, many different types of utility functions U(x) are employed in economics to reflect the investor's tendency for risk. The most commonly used utility functions are the exponential form, power form, log form, and quadratic form, all of them are able to reflect different risk positions (Cozzolino, 1977; Huang and Litzenberger, 1988). In addition, the absolute risk aversion (ARA) is widely utilized to quantitatively characterize the risk attitude under the given utility function (Arrow, 1971). It is defined as:

$$ARA = -\frac{U^{(2)}(X)}{U^{(1)}(X)}$$
(2.1)

Where X is a random variable. $U^{(1)}(\cdot)$ and $U^{(2)}(\cdot)$ denote the first derivative and second derivative of the utility function, respectively. A larger value of ARA often indicates a more risk-averse consumer. For example, the exponential utility function, $U(X) = \frac{1-e^{-rX}}{r}$ and $r \neq 0$, has the absolute risk aversion ARA = r. This r is also called risk tolerance, and it is the only parameter in the exponential utility function that determines risk preference.

2.1.2 Expected utility

The expected utility is a famous theory for decision making under uncertainty. This concept was first conceived by Dianiel Bernoulli, and a systematic framework of the expected utility theory (VNM expected utility theory) was built in 1947 by John von Neumann and Oskar Morgenstern. This theorem indicates that a rational decision is always associated with the maximum expected utility.

Four basic axioms are given in VNM expected utility theory to define a rational decisionmaker (Morgenstern and Von Neumann, 1953). Assuming a decision-maker faced with three alternatives $\{A, B, C\}$. The relationship $A \succ B$ represents the A is strictly preferred than B; $A \succeq B$ indicates the A is preferred at least as much as B; $A \sim B$ means the A is indifferent to B. The basic axioms in the VNM expected utility theory is that (Akkaya, 2021; Keith and Ahner, 2021): (1) Completeness: it indicates investors have a well-defined preference. Either $A \succeq B$ or $B \succeq A$ or both. (2) Transitivity: it implies people make decisions consistently. If $A \succ B$ and $B \succ C$, then $A \succ C$. (3) Independence: if A is preferred to B, the combination of A and C is also preferred to the combination of B and C using the same probability p. If $A \succ B$, then $pA + (1 - p)C \succ pB + (1 - p)C$ for $\forall p \in [0, 1]$. (4) Continuity: if the investor prefers A to B and B to C, then there should be a combination of A and C in which the investor is indifferent between this mix and B. If $A \succ B$ and $B \succ C$, then $pA + (1 - p)C \sim B$ for $\exists p \in [0, 1]$.

The approaches under the VNM expected utility framework are summarized into three categories based on Markowitz (2014): (1) Implicit utility function, like mean-variance criterion, is able to approximate the maximum expected utility in a risk-averse position; (2) Expected utility approximation, it approximates expected utility through a Taylor series expansion. The profit distribution might not be required in this non-parametric approach; (3) Explicit utility function, the utility function and the profit distribution should be specified in this method. The utility function widely used in the petroleum industry has an exponential form. The details of these approaches will be illustrated in Section 2.3.

The expected utility theory has gradually been applied in the oil industry, such as the selection of production strategy (Santos et al., 2017c; Wood and Khosravanian, 2015), optimization of well placement (Güyagüler and Horne, 2004), optimization of casing string placement (Khosravanian and Aadnoy, 2016), and exploration portfolio management (Moore et al., 2005). The reservoir decision making problems, taking production strategy selection as an example, with the expected utility framework could be expressed as:

$$d_0 = \operatorname*{argmax}_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} E\{U(V(\boldsymbol{g}, d))\}$$
(2.2)

Where $U(\cdot)$ and $V(\cdot)$ are the utility function and profit function, respectively. $\{g = g_n; n = 1, 2, ..., N\}$ represents an ensemble of geological models from N realizations. D is a set of production strategies, and d_0 is the optimal production strategy.

2.1.3 Multi-attribute utility theory

There are many situations that our decisions are influenced by multiple factors, multiattribute utility theory (MAUT) is useful in quantifying the relative attractiveness of multiattribute alternatives (Allah Bukhsh et al., 2019; Gass and Harris, 1997). The construction of a multi-attribute utility function is based on decomposing the function into lower-order assessments (Andersen et al., 2018; Greco et al., 2016). Under the assumption of utility independence and preferential independence, the multi-attribute utility function could be expressed as the addition or multiplication of the one-attribute utility functions (Kaddoura et al., 2018; Keeney and Sicherman, 1976).

The MAUT has also been applied in the petroleum industry for project selection and investment management. Suslick and Furtado (2001) aimed to improve investment decisions in petroleum exploration from these three main targets: financial, environmental and technological gain. These attributes are combined in an additive or multiplicative multi-attribute utility model, and a high-dimensional sensitivity analysis is utilized to assess the weights in this multicriteria decision model. Lopes and de Almeida (2015) employed MAUT to evaluate projects which are in the development phase. Three aspects are taken into consideration: financial return, hydrocarbon production, and political risk. The one-attribute utility function is obtained from the questionnaire, and the multi-attribute utility function is constructed by the sum of these one-attribute utility functions. Santos et al. (2017a) also used the MAUT in the selection of production strategies. The objectives include maximizing oil recovery and maximizing net present value (NPV). The weights of each attribute are analyzed through sensitivity analysis, and the summation of all the weights should equal one.

2.2 Multiple realizations in the presence of geological uncertainty

The complete reservoir in the subsurface is difficult to accurately measure. The uncertainty in reservoir characterization comes from our incomplete understanding caused by limited data and geological variability at all scales. Therefore, understanding uncertainty is significant for improving reservoir management.

2.2.1 Uncertainty analysis

The exploration and development of oilfields are inherently risky. Investors often rely on the predicted economic return to make decisions under uncertain situations. Caers (2011) used Figure 2.2 to illustrate the elements involved in the modeling uncertainty in Earth Sciences problems. It mainly includes three aspects as follows:

- Uncertainty from data (green boxes)
- Uncertainty from parameters (orange boxes)
- Uncertainty from models (blue boxes)

These elements cover the uncertainty ranging from geological modelling and physical modelling to economic modelling. The source of the uncertainty could be mainly explained by the following aspects (Da Cruz, 2000; Gorbovskaia and Belozerov, 2016; Ma, 2010; Ma and La Pointe, 2011):

- · Heterogeneous petrophysical properties and irregular reservoir geometry
- · Complex fluids and recovery mechanism
- Incomplete information and limited data
- The fluctuation of future oil prices

In this research, the scope of uncertainty is restricted to the geological model due to the sparse sampling of the reservoir. Geostatistical techniques are employed to transfer this uncertainty with multiple realizations through stochastic simulation.



Figure 2.2: The elements for modeling uncertainty in the Earth Science problem (Caers, 2011).

Conventionally, the production strategy in hydrocarbon field development is designed based on a single reference case (Erbas and Christie, 2007; Nakajima and Schiozer, 2003). The reference case represents the deemed most appropriate model for predicting future reservoir performance. The deterministic model could be regarded as a useful start in the Earth Sciences problem, it is only one outcome of a large ensemble of possible geological scenarios. Making decisions based on one reference case disregards the geological uncertainty (Deutsch, 2018; Scheidt et al., 2018).

In statistics, a popular way to quantify uncertainty is based on standard deviation (Rachev et al., 2011). Standard deviation (σ) is a measure of dispersion from the variable relative to its expected value, which is defined in Equation 2.3. It gives us an understanding of the variability around the expected value of the distribution. This concept is not only used to measure the local uncertainty in the geostatistics (Caers, 2011; Ma and La Pointe, 2011), but also provides a quantified estimate of economic uncertainty in decision analysis (Gallardo and Deutsch, 2020).

$$\sigma = \sqrt{E\{(X - E\{X\})^2\}}$$
(2.3)

Many other techniques are also proposed to quantify uncertainty, such as bootstrap and precision. Bootstrap analysis is a statistical resampling technique developed by Efron (1982). It allows us to quantify uncertainty by constructing confidence intervals of estimate statistics. This approach is implemented by resampling the original data with replacement, and it is useful to evaluate the parameter uncertainty in many natural resource applications (Caers, 2011; Pyrcz and Deutsch, 2014; Selle and Hannah, 2010). Additionally, Precision is also able to measure uncertainty by characterizing the narrowness of a distribution (Harding, 2021; Wilde, 2010). A narrower distribution usually indicates less uncertainty. Consider a tolerance interval (TI) in Equation 2.4:

$$TI = E\{X\} \times t \tag{2.4}$$

Where t is the tolerance value, which is usually 15% in the mining industry (Dohm, 2005). The precision (PRE) is the probability within the specified tolerance interval around the expected value, it could be expressed in Equation 2.5:

$$PRE(t) = Prob\{E\{X\} - TI(t) \le X \le E\{X\} + TI(t)\}\}$$
(2.5)

The uncertainty of interesting variables caused by the incomplete understanding could be characterized by the probability distribution. Despite many different ways are proposed to describe uncertainty, they are often related to the volatility of the distribution.

2.2.2 Monte Carlo simulation

Geostatistics provides tools to quantify uncertainty and support reservoir uncertainty analysis (De Barros and Deutsch, 2018; Deutsch, 2018). Monte Carlo simulation (MCS) is a well-established technique in statistics, it is widely used in geostatistics to characterize geological heterogeneity by generating multiple realizations that are equally probable. This technique relies on the random sampling of realizations from a specified probability distribution and the geological uncertainty is captured by the difference between the realizations. The workflow of Monte Carlo simulation in the uncertainty quantification and decision analysis involves these four steps (Deutsch, 2018): (1) formulate the transfer function, (2) simulate multiple realizations using the input variables, (3) compute the assembled response models, and (4) understand the uncertainty and facilitate decision analysis. This process is sketched in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3: Reservoir modeling captures geological uncertainty using multiple realizations (De Barros, 2019).

Although MCS takes advantage of an ensemble of realizations to transfer uncertainty, a long-standing problem is that multiple realizations usually lead to increased computational costs, especially in well placement optimization. In order to improve the computational efficiency, a proxy model and realization reduction are commonly utilized in petroleum industry applications.

(1) Proxy model

A proxy model provides a cheap alternative to approximate the non-linear response of numerical simulation in subsurface modeling. It sacrifices some degree of accuracy to significantly improve computational efficiency, which is especially useful in optimizing problems considering multiple realizations. The main methods used to build a proxy model include the statistical method and physical-based method.

A statistical method, such as the surface response model or convolutional neural network (Fetel and Caumon, 2008; Kim et al., 2020), could be used to construct the proxy model. The observation data sets are trained to forecast the reservoir performance without relying on any physical process, so this data-driven proxy model does not necessarily preserve geological characteristics. The physical-based proxy model reduces the computational cost by approximating the physical process in the reservoir simulation. Cardoso and Durlofsky (2010) proposed the reduced-order modeling to construct the proxy model, it is implemented by projecting the Newton solver in a low-dimensional space to improve the computation cost. Pouladi et al. (2017) applied the fast marching algorithm to build the proxy model in well placement optimization, which is able to approximate the bottom hole pressure. Gallardo and Deutsch (2019) introduced an approximate physics-discrete simulator to model the steam chamber in steam-assisted gravity drainage (SAGD). It is more computationally efficient than the full-physical thermal simulation.

(2) Realization reduction

Realization reduction aims to select a subset of representative realizations from the full set of models. It often includes two steps: realization ranking and realization selection. The realization ranking could be categorized as static and dynamic based on the properties of underlying realizations. The static ranking employs the calculation of connected reservoir volume or original oil in place (OOIP) as the measure. McLennan and Deutsch (2005) described the statistic measures for the static ranking in the heavy oil recovery process. The dynamic ranking of realizations is able to reflect the connective of the reservoir. The dynamic ranking is based on fluid flow to account for the production mechanism. For example, Sharifi et al. (2014) introduced time of flight in the implementation of dynamic ranking to reflect the connectivity of the reservoir.

After ranking the realizations, many approaches are proposed to select the representative realizations. The traditional method of selecting represent realizations is based on low, median, and high quantile values (P10, P50, and P90), but these three realizations are not sufficient to span the geological uncertainty. Scheidt and Caers (2010) applied multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) and clustering methods to select representative realizations. Rahim and Li (2015) proposed a mixed-integer linear optimization to minimize the Kantorovich distance of static properties for the representative realizations. Jesmani et al. (2020) aimed to cover all realizations in the well placement optimization by randomly selecting the representative realizations. Mahjour et al. (2021) compared the distance-based clustering and metaheuristic algorithm in the selection of representative models.

2.3 Reservoir decision making

Risk management and decision analysis are becoming essential in the optimization of production strategies. Many studies have documented the application of decision analysis in the petroleum industry under geological uncertainty (Bratvold and Begg, 2010; Eidsvik et al., 2015a; Shafiee et al., 2019). The following will outline some important concepts and main technologies in reservoir decision making.

2.3.1 Techniques with an explicit utility function

(1) Decision making with an exponential utility function

The expected utility is calculated by summing the weighted utility values, and the weights come from the probability distribution. In the practical applications of reservoir management with an explicit utility function, the expected utility in Equation 2.2 could be solved by using multiple realizations (Equation 2.6), and the utility function $U(\cdot)$ should be specified.

$$\operatorname*{argmax}_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} E\{U(V(\boldsymbol{g}, d))\} = \operatorname*{argmax}_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} U(V(g_n, d))$$
(2.6)

Generally, the approaches used for constructing the utility function include questionnaires and interviews, like the 50-50 gamble (Berger, 2013) or certainty equivalent (Walls, 2005a). Since the interview opportunities are few and the interview process is complicated, it makes the investor's utility function difficult to obtain in practice. Therefore, a simplified utility function with an exponential form is proposed by Cozzolino (1977), and Walls (2005b) introduced it in the petroleum industry to investigate the impact of investors' risk position. The exponential utility function is given by:

$$U(X) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{r}(1 - e^{-rX}) & r \neq 0\\ X & r = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.7)

The risk tolerance r is the only parameter to reflect the risk position in Equation 2.7. In order to investigate the impact of different risk positions, the sensitivity analysis is often performed by varying the coefficient r (Al Harthy, 2007; Güyagüler and Horne, 2004). This exponential utility function is also popular in petroleum industry, Ozdogan and Horne (2006) applied this exponential form utility function in the assessment of well placement. Wood and Khosravanian (2015) employed the exponential utility function to support investment decisions in the upstream gas and oil industry.

2.3.2 Techniques with an implicit utility function

(1) Mean-variance criterion

The mean-variance criterion is a cornerstone of modern portfolio theory. It is widely applied in different disciplines for its simplicity (Rubinstein, 2002). In this criterion, the efficient frontier is established from the optimal alternatives based on maximizing expected return for a given level of variance, or minimizing variance for a specific level of expected return (Markowitz, 1952). The set of decisions on the efficient frontier could be considered optimal decisions that dominate other decisions in the bottom right (Figure 2.4). Taking alternatives A and B as an example to illustrate the mean-variance rule. A is preferred over B when they have the following relationship in Equation 2.8. It also requires that the equalities are not satisfied for both equations at the same time.

$$E_A(X) \ge E_B(X) \text{ and } \sigma_A^2(X) \le \sigma_B^2(X)$$
 (2.8)

Where $E(\cdot)$ and $\sigma(\cdot)$ denote the expectation operator and standard deviation operator, respectively. In the mean-variance criterion, variance or standard deviation is treated as the measure of risk, and the efficient frontier could approximate the maximizing of expected utility for risk-averse investors (Markowitz, 2014). Due to the convenience of implicit utility functions in the decision-making process, this mean-variance model has also been introduced in the petroleum industry for the decision selection problems (Gallardo and Deutsch, 2020; Wang et al., 2020). However, we need to be cautious when applying this model in practice, because this decision model has limited ability in the comparison of alternatives (Gallardo and Deutsch, 2020).

(2) Risk-adjusted value

Risk-adjusted value (RAV), also called certainty equivalent, is another important concept


Figure 2.4: A sketch of the mean-variance model.

introduced from economics to the petroleum industry. It is the cash value that a firm attributes to a decision alternative involving uncertain outcomes (Walls, 2005a). A mathematical form of risk-adjusted value is expressed in Equation 2.9.

$$U(RAV) = E(U(X))$$
(2.9)

Where RAV is the risk-adjusted value, and $E(\cdot)$ represents the expectation operator. Since the utility function $U(\cdot)$ usually increases monotonically, it implies a decision based on maximizing the risk-adjusted value will lead to the same result as maximizing expected utility E(U(X)). Cozzolino (1977) proposed a simplified form of RAV (Equation 2.10). The maximum RAV is also consistent with the efficient frontier in mean-variance criterion.

$$RAV = \mu - \frac{1}{2}r\sigma^2 \tag{2.10}$$

Where μ and σ are the expected value and the standard deviation of the profits, respectively. The advantage of risk-adjusted value is its intuitive expression of the value under the measure of utility. Although this value has monetary units, it also incorporates decision-makers' risk attitudes. Therefore, the maximizing of RAV is often employed in an optimization problem to capture different preferences, such as well placement optimization and pit-shell optimization (Acorn et al., 2020; Capolei et al., 2015; Jesmani et al., 2020; Moore et al., 2005).

(3) Stochastic dominance rule

The stochastic dominance rule is another approach that does not require a specific utility function (Levy, 2015). There are three main relationships in stochastic dominance rule: first-order stochastic dominance (FSD), second-order stochastic dominance (SSD), and third-order stochastic dominance (TSD). Assuming the cumulative distribution functions (CDF) of random variables X for decision A and B are $F_A(X)$ and $F_B(X)$ in the interval [a, b], respectively. A first-order stochastically dominances B when they satisfy the condition in Equation 2.11. A sketch is utilized to illustrate this relationship, which is shown in Figure 2.5a. It shows that if $F_B(X)$ is not less than $F_A(X)$ for any given value $x \in [a, b]$, then A dominates B in the sense of FSD.

$$F_A(x) \le F_B(x) \text{ for } \forall x \in [a, b]$$
 (2.11)

The conditions for FSD are very strict, which leads to SSD and TSD. $G_A(X)$ and $G_B(X)$ are the areas enclosed by the CDFs, the horizontal axis (y = 0) and a changeable vertical axis $(x \in [a, b])$. Then, A second-order stochastically dominates B when they satisfy the condition in Equation 2.12. The SSD allows $F_A(X)$ and $F_B(X)$ to intersect each other, which could be reflected by Figure 2.5b.

$$G_A(x) \le G_B(x) \text{ or } \int_a^x \left(F_A(t) - F_B(t) \right) dt \le 0 \text{ for } \forall x \in [a, b]$$
 (2.12)

Similarly, $\{H_A(X), H_B(X)\}$ is defined as the area enclosed by $\{G_A(X), G_B(X)\}$, the horizontal axis (y = 0), and an alternate vertical axis $x \in [a, b]$. $E_A(X)$ and $E_B(X)$ are assumed as the expected returns of A and B, respectively. Then, A third-order stochastically dominances B when they satisfy Equation 2.13. In addition, the relationship among these three dominance rules is FSD \subseteq SSD \subseteq TSD.

$$E_A(x) > E_B(x)$$
 and $H_A(x) \le H_B(x)$ for $\forall x \in [a, b]$ (2.13)

The stochastic dominance rule has been applied in the petroleum industry. For example,

Lean et al. (2010) investigated the market efficiency of oil spot and futures price by stochastic dominance rule. Gallardo and Deutsch (2020) combined the mean-variance criterion and stochastic dominance to reduce the number of alternatives in well position selection. This rule was also introduced in the mining industry for optimizing pit shell and block caving drawpoints (Acorn et al., 2020; Ugarte Zarate et al., 2020).



Figure 2.5: A sketch of stochastic dominance relationship between alternatives A and B. (a) The relationship for first-order stochastic dominance. (b) The relationship for second-order stochastic dominance. The area of (-) indicates the $F_A(x)$ is greater than $F_B(x)$, while the area of (+) denotes the $F_A(x)$ is smaller than $F_B(x)$.

2.3.3 Techniques with expected utility approximation

(1) Mean-variance approximation

The expected utility is often approximated by the Taylor series expansion (Fahrenwaldt and Sun, 2020; Garlappi and Skoulakis, 2011; Harvey et al., 2010). The Taylor series for expected utility $E\{U(X)\}$ at x_0 is expressed as:

$$E\{U(X)\} = U(x_0) + U^{(1)}(x_0)E\{(X - x_0)\} + \dots + \frac{1}{n!}U^{(n)}(x_0)E\{(X - x_0)^n\}$$
(2.14)

Where $U^{(n)}(\cdot)$ is the *n*-th derivative of utility function $U(\cdot)$. When n = 2 and $x_0 = 0$, $E\{U(x)\}$ will be approximated by the first three terms of Equation 2.14.

$$E\{U(X)\} \approx U(0) + U^{(1)}(0)E\{X\} + \frac{1}{2!}U^{(2)}(0)E\{X^2\}$$
(2.15)

Where U(0), $U^{(1)}(0)$, $U^{(2)}(0)$ are constants, $E\{X\}$ is the expected return. When $x_0 = EV$, the expected utility could be approximated by:

$$E\{U(X)\} \approx U(EV) + U^{(1)}(EV)E\{X - EV\} + \frac{1}{2!}U^{(2)}(EV)E\{(X - EV)^2\}$$
(2.16)

Where U(EV), $U^{(1)}(EV)$, $U^{(2)}(EV)$ are constants, and $E\{X^2\} = Var\{X\} + E^2\{X\}$. The expected utility could be approximated by the mean and variance, which is also called the mean-variance approximation approach (Markowitz, 2014).

(2) Mean-semivariance approximation

Many studies have documented the alternatives to substitute variance in the expected utility framework (Ballestero, 2005; Klebaner et al., 2017). Estrada (2004) approximated the expected utility by applying Taylor series at the expected value from Equation 2.16. It could be expressed as the mean and semi-variance by replacing the variance with twice the semi-variance of profits (Equation 2.17).

$$E\{U(X)\} \approx U(EV) + U^{(2)}(EV) \times S_B^2$$
 (2.17)

Where $S_B^2 = E\{\min[(X - B), 0]^2\}$ denotes the semi-variance with a benchmark B. $U^{(2)}(\cdot)$ is the operation of the second derivative of $U(\cdot)$. Guo et al. (2012) employed the mean-variance model in the petroleum investment decisions. Santos et al. (2017c) utilized the relationship in Equation 2.17 to optimize production strategies. Sefair et al. (2017) proposed a linear scheme to solve the mean-semivariance project portfolio selection problem, this approach is illustrated in an upstream oil project selection.

In order to get higher precision, the skewness preference is also included in the approximation of expected utility by the Taylor series expansion (Brockett and Kahane, 1992; Chiu, 2010; Hassett et al., 1985). The skewness preference is captured by the third moment about the mean, which could be expressed as:

$$E\{U(X)\} \approx U(EV) + \frac{1}{2!}U^{(2)}(EV)E\{(X - EV)^2\} + \frac{1}{3!}U^{(3)}(EV)E\{(X - EV)^3\}$$
(2.18)

2.3.4 Techniques outside expected utility

(1) Decision making with a loss function

Loss functions are often used in parameter estimation, it assigns different penalties in the underestimation and overestimation to facilitate decision making (Agterberg and Bonha Carter, 2005; Schorfheide, 2000; Yousefzadeh, 2017). Journel (1984) introduced this concept in geostatistics to improve the estimation variance criterion. Da Cruz et al. (2004) utilized an asymmetric linear loss function in the quality map to facilitate the optimization of well placement. De Barros (2019) explained the loss function in reservoir management with the consideration of geological uncertainty. The loss function is also widely employed in the mining industry in recent years. Sivakumar et al. (2015) utilized the loss function to measure the benefit and risk in the evaluation of vendor selection. Vasylchuk and Deutsch (2018) provided a simple method to implement the minimum expected loss in the grade control. Vasylchuk and Deutsch (2019) applied the loss function in the optimization of surface mining. Consider an estimate z^* from the variable Z, the optimal estimate z_{opt} could be found by minimizing the expected loss in Equation 2.19.

$$z_{opt} = \operatorname*{argmin}_{z^{\star} \in \mathbb{A}} E\{L(Z, z^{\star})\}$$
(2.19)

Where $L(\cdot)$ is the loss function, A denotes the allowable interval for the estimate. In the resource modeling applications, the expected loss could be solved by a discrete sum over all the realizations of simulation in Equation 2.20 (Glacken, 1996).

$$E\{L(Z, z^{\star})\} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} f(z_n) L(z_n, z^{\star})$$
(2.20)

A simple example in Figure 2.6 will be used to illustrate the workflow of minimizing the expected utility in parameter estimation. In this case study, the loss function has a linear form, which is given below:

$$L(z, z^{\star}) = \begin{cases} \lambda_1(z - z^{\star}) & z \ge z^{\star} \\ \lambda_2(z^{\star} - z) & z < z^{\star} \end{cases}$$
(2.21)

Where z is the true value, and z^* denotes the estimated value. The estimated error is defined as $z^* - z$ in the loss function. $z^* - z < 0$ represents underestimation and $z^* - z > 0$ denotes overestimation. λ_1 and λ_2 are the penalties assigned for the underestimation and overestimation, respectively. Loss functions are classified as symmetric or asymmetric based on the penalty on each side. The symmetric loss function means the penalty is the same in the underestimation and overestimation ($\lambda_1 = \lambda_2$), while the asymmetric loss function unequally weights underestimation or underestimation ($\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$). It is supposed that $\lambda_1 = 0.5$ and $\lambda_2 = 0.1$ in this case study, a sketch of this linear loss function is shown in Figure 2.6a. The probability distribution for a categorical variable Z is displayed in Figure 2.6b. Three scenarios, { $z^* = 1, 5, 9$ }, of calculating the expected loss are given in Figure 2.6c, the expected loss is calculated by averaging all possible losses caused by the difference between the estimated value and the true value. The plot between expected loss and the estimate z^* is shown in Figure 2.6d, we can see the expected loss decreases and then increases with increasing z. The minimum expected loss is reached when z equals to 8, which is the optimal estimate.

Additionally, Journel (1984) proved that for a linear loss function, the *p*-quantize of the distribution is the value that minimizes the expected loss. The *p*-quantile is calculated based on the weights on the overestimation and underestimation in the loss function.

$$p = \frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2} \tag{2.22}$$

The optimal estimate z_{opt} is the *p*-quantile value from the distribution of *Z*, which is shown in Equation 2.23.

$$z_{opt} = F_Z^{-1}(p) (2.23)$$

Where $F^{-1}(\cdot)$ is the inverse cumulative distribution function. It indicates when $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2$ ($z_{opt} = 0.5$), the optimal value would be the median. When $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$ ($z_{opt} < 0.5$), the optimal estimate would be less than the median. This can be explained that more penalties for overestimation would lead to a more conservative estimate. Similarly, when $\lambda_1 > \lambda_2$ ($z_{opt} > 0.5$), the optimal estimate would be greater than the median since underestimation is penalized more than overestimation.



Figure 2.6: A case study to show the workflow of minimizing expected loss in the parameter estimation (Deutsch, 2010). (a) The asymmetric linear loss function. (b) The distribution of variable z. (c) The expected utility for three scenarios. (d) The optimal estimate with the minimum expected loss.

2.4 Value of information

The concept of value of information (VOI) analysis originates from business decisions (Schlaifer, 1959), and it was first introduced in the petroleum industry for the drilling decision (Grayson, 1960). The new information is able to change our previous understanding of the uncertainty with the increased knowledge of subsurface. VOI analysis should be implemented in the context of decision making, information does not have any value if the decision remains the same (Bratvold et al., 2009; Trainor Guitton et al., 2014). That is, the information would be considered valuable if it could change the decision, and it is worth collecting when the VOI exceeds the cost of information (Figure 2.7).



Figure 2.7: A sketch of the changes of uncertainty, cost and VOI along with the increasing information.

2.4.1 Classification of information

Information is often categorized based on its reliability and sampling method in the VOI analysis of Earth Science problems. Based on the reliability of information, they could be categorized as perfect information and imperfect information. The perfect information indicates the information has no noise and is directly related to the prospect outcome. The imperfect information indicates the information is measured with noise or without a direct relationship with the prospect outcome. Perfect or imperfect information is alternatively regarded as the reliability of information. They could be measured by the conditional prob-

ability in the posterior value. Perfect information has a conditional probability of 1, while the conditional probability of imperfect information is less than 1. Most information in Earth Science is imperfect, such as geophysical information. Trainor Guitton et al. (2011) proposed an approach to measure the reliability of geophysical information. It is based on simulating the synthetic information as a comparison. Trainor Guitton (2014) applied this approach to analyze VOI in the context of groundwater sustainability decisions.

Additionally, the information could also be categorized as partial information and total information based on their sampling method (Ketzenberg et al., 2006; Williams and Johnson, 2015). Partial information, like well data, is locally sampled, while total information, like geophysical information, is exhaustively sampled at every location. Total information is often used as secondary data in geological modeling, since it is able to provide information in the unsampled location in the partial information. In Table 2.1, Eidsvik et al. (2015a) summarized the characteristics of different types of information in the aspect of perfect or imperfect, and partial or total.

There are also some other criteria for information classification. According to the way of collecting information, it can be divided into sequential information and simultaneous information (Eidsvik et al., 2018; Hoffman et al., 2011; Morosov and Bratvold, 2021). According to the source of information, it can be divided into single-source information and multiple-source information (Avolio et al., 1991; Shaw, 1982). The appropriate information classification should be designed based on our research goals.

Category	Perfect	Imperfect
Total	Accurate observations are collected for all locations. This is rare, occurring when there is highly accurate data gath- ering with extensive coverage.	Noisy observations are gathered for all locations. A typical example is the collection of geophysical information with extensive coverage.
Partial	Accurate data are gathered at some lo- cations. This information could be ob- tained, for instance, when the core sam- ples are carefully analyzed.	Noisy observations are gathered at some locations. A typical example is the collection of well logging in the well drilling process.

Table 2.1: The classification of information (Eidsvik et al., 2015a).

2.4.2 VOI analysis in the Earth Sciences

Many uncertainties surround the future regarding cumulative oil production or net present value due to the limited information for drilling wells. This geo-spatial uncertainty related to the subsurface properties could affect the investor's behavior on the design of production strategy. The decision-related information is often collected to reduce uncertainty and improve decision-making. The value of information (VOI) is defined by the difference between posterior value (PoV) and prior value (PV). Under a risk-neutral position, the PoV and PV are, respectively, calculated from the expected value with information and the expected value without information.

$$VOI = PoV - PV$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} Expected value with \\ additional information \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} Expected value without \\ additional information \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.24)

Two questions are often involved in VOI analysis. The first one is how accurate/reliable of the information (Trainor Guitton, 2010; Trainor Guitton et al., 2011). The measure of information reliability is often considered a challenge in VOI analysis . In most Earth Science problems, the information is not directly related to the decision-related properties, for example, the geophysical information is indirectly related to the geological properties, the uncertainty exists between the transfer of geophysical information to the geological properties. Data reliability has attracted many researchers in information analysis (Agmon and Ahituv, 1987; Trainor Guitton et al., 2011). Data reliability means the information is directly or indirectly related to the decision-related property. It could also simply be expressed as the conditional probability in Equation 2.25 (Eidsvik et al., 2015a; Trainor Guitton, 2010). Perfect information has a reliability of Pr = 1, while imperfect information has a reliability of Pr < 1. Although the information reliability in many engineering problems is accessible from the success rate of repetitive experiments, it is difficult to determine the reliability of the information in Earth Science problems. Bickel et al. (2008) incorporated seismic information into a decision making framework, and proposed a workflow to measure the reliability of 4-D seismic based on the rock physics analysis. Trainor Guitton et al. (2011) introduce a framework to measure the reliability of geophysical information (Pr) in the presence of geological uncertainty.

 $Pr = Prob \{ Interpretation from information | the truth geological scenario \} (2.25)$

The second question is about whether the information is worth its cost or not in VOI analysis (Eidsvik et al., 2015b; Heath et al., 2017; Kunst et al., 2020). This is because VOI analysis is performed before collecting it, which makes it difficult to calculate an accurate posterior value. Many different methods have been proposed to approximate the posterior value, such as Gaussian approximation, double-loop Monte Carlo, and simulation-regression approach, which will be described in detail in the next subsection. Generally, in order to determine whether the information is worth collecting, VOI analysis should be placed in the context of decision making. Information is worth collecting when the value of information is greater than the cost of information.

VOI analysis is considered by engineers in the petroleum industry. Cunningham and Begg (2008) employed VOI approach in the construction of learning well strategy in the offshore well program, it would facilitate the identification of the optimal well order in a sequential drilling project. Santos and Schiozer (2017) evaluated the value of additional injection well in the context of selecting production strategy, and the reliability of additional information is analyzed based on sensitivity analysis. Santos et al. (2017b) also investigated the drilling information in the aspect of the ability to reduce uncertainty, the ability to change decisions, and the ability to increase profit. These aspects are utilized as the standards to assess the value of this information. Hong et al. (2018) addressed the value of history matching in the framework of decision-based VOI analysis, this procedure was implemented in both static and dynamic models. Dutta et al. (2019b) applied this approach to analyze the value of 4-D seismic in a spatial decision situation. He et al. (2018) also applied the concept of VOI assessment in the context of whether to execute a pilot or not in the Brugge oilfield. These applications indicate that VOI analysis could be implemented in the context of reservoir decision making.

2.4.3 Posterior value estimation

The PoV is the value of an event occurring after taking additional information into account. Since VOI analysis is performed before actually collecting the data, which makes it difficult to calculate the conditional expectation in posterior value. Previous research documents the approaches to approximate the conditional expectation, such as Gaussian parameter model (Dutta et al., 2019a; Jalal and Alarid Escudero, 2018), double-loop Monte Carlo (Barros et al., 2015; Heath et al., 2018), and simulation-regression approach (Eidsvik et al., 2008; Strong et al., 2015). These approaches will be discussed below.

(1) Parameter model

The parameter model was introduced to estimate the PoV by Eidsvik et al. (2008), and Bhattacharjya et al. (2010) employed spatial statistical models in the assessment of the value of decision-related information. This approach based on the parameter model often depends on a strong assumption of Gaussian framework to analytically calculate the posterior value. Bhattacharjya et al. (2013) extended this approach in the multivariate model with an assumption in a multivariate Gaussian space. Under the Gaussian modeling assumption, the PoV of information y is expressed as:

$$PoV(\boldsymbol{y}) = \mu_w F\left(\frac{\mu_w}{\sigma_w}\right) + \sigma_w f\left(\frac{\mu_w}{\sigma_w}\right)$$
(2.26)

Where $\mu_w = \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i$ and $\sigma_w^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{i=1}^n \sigma_{ij}$ denote the mean and variance of the profit distribution at the *n* spatial units, respectively. $f(\cdot)$ and $F(\cdot)$ refer to the probability density function and cumulative density function of a standard Gaussian distribution. This approach has been applied in many different disciplines. Rojnik and Naveršnik (2008) employed a parameter model with Gaussian process to analyze the value of health information. Eidsvik and Ellefmo (2013) applied this Gaussian model to approximate the value of boreholes in mineral exploration. Rezaie et al. (2014) applied the parameter model with closed skew-normal distributions to seismic amplitude information analysis. Although the parameter model approach is convenient and computationally efficient, it heavily relies on the assumption of the Gaussian framework.

(2) Double-loop Monte Carlo

The PoV is the expected outcome over all the best decisions from each possible scenario. In the risk-neutral position, PoV is expressed in Equation 2.27 (Dutta et al., 2019b). It indicates this process involves two nested expectations .

$$\operatorname{PoV}(\boldsymbol{y}) = E_{\boldsymbol{y}} \left\{ \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \left\{ E_{\boldsymbol{g}} \left\{ V(\boldsymbol{g}, d) \mid \boldsymbol{y} \right\} \right\} \right\}$$
(2.27)

Where E_g and E_y are the nested expectations with the uncertainty from geological models g and information models y, respectively. The expected value could be numerically solved via performing Monte Carlo simulation (Brennan et al., 2007). The double-loop Monte Carlo approach is based on two nested simulations to quantify PoV. Thus, the PoV could be written as:

$$\operatorname{PoV}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \frac{1}{N_2} \sum_{n_2=1}^{N_2} \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \left\{ \frac{1}{N_1} \sum_{n_1=1}^{N_1} \left\{ v(g_{n_1}, d) \mid y_{n_2} \right\} \right\}$$
(2.28)

Where N_1 and N_2 are the number of realizations in the first-loop simulation and secondloop simulation, respectively. It indicates a two-step procedure is involved in this approach, the first-loop Monte Carlo is performed to calculate the inner expression, which aims to capture the uncertainty from the geological model. The second-loop Monte Carlo is utilized to calculate the outer expression, it is used to reflect the uncertainty from the information (Dutta et al., 2019b). The selection of the sample size in the inner expression is crucial, this conditional expectation is often approximated based on the rejection sampling (Dutta et al., 2019b; Rothery et al., 2020).

The double-loop Monte Carlo is proposed by Barros et al. (2015), his workflow is based on a twin experiment to optimize the production strategy within a closed-loop reservoir management framework. Dutta et al. (2019b) applied the double-loop Monte Carlo to evaluate the value of time-lapse seismic data, and Hong et al. (2018) utilized this approach in the assessment of production data in the history matching. Although this approach does not have any simplifying assumptions involved, it has a significant constraint on computational demand for VOI assessment as it requires a large number of reservoir simulations.

(3) Simulation-regression approach

The idea of using regression to estimate the VOI originates from medical decision making, it aims to use a regression function to approximate the expectation in the inner loop of PoV (Strong et al., 2015; Tuffaha et al., 2016). Inspired by this idea, Eidsvik et al. (2017) proposed the simulation-regression approach in VOI analysis for subsurface energy resources applications. The simulation-regression approach is a computationally efficient approach in the estimation of posterior value. It is implemented based on constructing a regression relationship between the value outcomes and the possible information scenarios under multiple realizations (Eidsvik et al., 2017; Strong et al., 2014). That is, in the presence of geological uncertainty, the conditional expectation $E\{V(\boldsymbol{g}, d) \mid y_n\}$ could be approximated by the regression value $\hat{v}(y_n, d) = F_d(y_n)$, where $F_d(\cdot)$ is a regression function for alternative d. Thus, the PoV is expressed below:

$$\operatorname{PoV}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \left\{ E\left\{ V(\boldsymbol{g}, d) \mid y_n \right\} \right\}$$

$$\approx \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \hat{v}(y_n, d)$$
(2.29)

Using the simulation-regression approach in the VOI analysis has gradually attracted people's attention in the oil industry. Eidsvik et al. (2017) utilized the simulation-regression approach to evaluate the value of geophysical information in the presence of geological uncertainty. His research showed that, under the Multi-Gaussian framework, the simulation-regression approach produces similar results with the parameter model approach. Dutta et al. (2019a) presented the comparison between the simulation-regression approach and double-loop Monte Carlo. The result indicates the simulation-regression approach is computationally more efficient than the double-loop Monte Carlo method with similar accuracy. Dutta et al. (2019b) employed this approach in the evaluation of time-lapse seismic in the context of well placement. In the regression is tested to have a higher efficiency than principal component regression. He et al. (2019) applied the simulation-regression approach to evaluate the value of production data in the production forecast. It simplified

the process of production forecast by directly using the observed data without model calibration. Anyosa et al. (2021) combined the simulation-regression approach and statistical analysis to assess the value of seismic information. Different regression approaches are also evaluated in the VOI analysis under the decision context of CO_2 injection.

CHAPTER 3

PREFERENCE MEASUREMENTS IN THE PRESENCE OF GEOLOGICAL UNCERTAINTY

This chapter demonstrates the impact of preferences on decision analysis and a workflow is proposed to investigate the relationship between different preference measurements (loss function and utility function). The proposed workflow is illustrated using an exponential utility function and a quadratic utility function in decision making with uniformly distributed alternatives. The relationship between these preference measurements is constructed by connecting the penalty factor of loss functions and the risk tolerance of utility functions. Limitations are discussed at the end of the chapter.

3.1 Motivation

Risk preference plays an important role in the development of decision theory, it refers to investors' tendency or behavior in the presence of uncertainty. The development of decision theory in the energy industry ranges from the minimum expected loss to the maximum expected utility (Deutsch, 2020), they are utilized to incorporate investors' preferences in decision making. The utility function is a well-known tool to quantify risk attitude, and a rational decision is associated with the maximum expected utility, different risk positions could be quantitatively measured by the utility function. In addition, the loss function is also popular in capturing investors' attitudes. It incorporates different penalties in the underestimation and overestimation to facilitate decision-making (Goodfellow et al., 2016; Schorfheide, 2000). Investors are able to find the estimate most likely to produce the desired outcome by minimizing the expected loss.

Loss functions are often used in parameter estimation, such as mineral grade control in the classification of ore and waste (Vasylchuk and Deutsch, 2018; Verly, 2005). In contrast, utility functions are commonly employed in the optimization of strategies, such as the well placement optimization in the petroleum industry (Güyagüler and Horne, 2004; Ozdogan and Horne, 2006). These functions are often employed in different contexts, which brings difficulties to integrate these two frameworks. Although preference measurements, like loss function and utility function, provide approaches to manage risk in reservoir decision making, the underlying relationship between them is not clear.

This chapter aims to investigate the relationship between the loss function and utility function. This is conducted by using the exponential utility function and quadratic loss function. The relationship between risk position in utility function and the penalty factor of the loss function is constructed, which provides a new perspective for understanding the loss functions and utility function in decision making.

3.2 Preference measurements in decision making

In the past few decades, the utility function has had a profound impact on decision theory. It is an essential tool to measure the satisfaction of decision-makers and reflect people's preferences under risk (Eidsvik et al., 2015a; Zou et al., 2020). The framework of expected utility theory was first proposed by Dianiel Bernoulli and systematically organized by Von Neumann and Morgenstern in 1947. This theorem indicates that the rational decision is always associated with the maximum expected utility. The decision-making problems in the petroleum industry with expected utility could be formulated as follows (Vizcaino, 2019):

$$d_0 = \underset{d \in D}{\operatorname{argmax}} E\{U(V(\boldsymbol{g}, d))\}$$
(3.1)

Where d_0 denotes the optimal alternative, and $V(\cdot)$ refers to the profit function. **D** is a set of alternatives, and **g** is an ensemble of geological models. The expected utility $E\{U\}$ could also be expressed as the summation of a series of utility values with equal weights (Equation 3.2). These weights come from a countable set of equal-probability N realizations generated from stochastic simulation. Taking three alternatives (A, B, C) as an example, the process of decision making using expected utility is shown in Figure 3.1.

$$\underset{d \in \boldsymbol{D}}{\operatorname{argmax}} E\left\{ U\left(V(\boldsymbol{g}, d)\right) \right\} = \underset{d \in \boldsymbol{D}}{\operatorname{argmax}} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} U\left(v(g_n, d)\right)$$
(3.2)



Figure 3.1: The workflow of reservoir decision making based on expected utility.

The other crucial concept in decision theory is the loss function, which is extensively utilized in parameter estimation (Chakraborty and Das, 2018; Meena et al., 2018). In subsurface resource management, the process of using a loss function to identify the optimal decision is expressed in Equation 3.3. That is, the desired decision with loss functions is calculated from a two-step optimization. The first round of optimization requires minimizing the expected loss to find the optimal estimates. After that, the other round of optimization is performed to maximize the optimal estimates over all the alternatives. This two-step optimization with loss function could be sketched in Figure 3.2.

$$d_0 = \operatorname*{argmax}_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \left\{ \operatorname*{argmin}_{Z^{\star}(d)} E\left\{ L\left(Z(\boldsymbol{g}, d), Z^{\star}(d)\right) \right\} \right\}$$
(3.3)

Where $L(\cdot)$ denotes the loss function. $Z(\cdot)$ and $Z^*(\cdot)$ are the functions for true variable and estimate variable, respectively. For a given strategy d, the expected loss could also be expressed in Equation 3.4 for the mineral grade control (Deutsch, 2020; Vasylchuk and Deutsch, 2018). It is calculated from a discrete sum over all simulated realizations:

$$E\left\{L(Z(\boldsymbol{g},d), z^{\star}(d))\right\} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} L\left(z(g_n,d), z^{\star}(d)\right)$$
(3.4)

Where $z(\cdot)$ represents the value of mineral grade represented by multiple realizations, and $z^*(\cdot)$ is the single value of estimated grade. N is the number of realizations.



Figure 3.2: The workflow for reservoir decision making based on expected loss.

A simple example is utilized to illustrate the impact of different risk positions in decision making (Figure 3.3). Suppose a rational investor needs to make a decision between two alternatives, A and B. For decision A, it has an uncertain outcome, that is, 50% chance to obtain 10M and 50% chance to get 40M. While for decision B, the investor would receive a certain amount of money (25M). The investor aims to maximize the expected utility in the decision making, and the expected utility of each alternative under different risk positions is shown in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.3: A simple decision tree for binary decision making.

(a) Investors holding risk-neutral positions have a linear utility function shown in Figure 3.4a. In this situation, maximizing expected utility is equivalent to maximizing expected value, and the risk-neutral investor prefers the alternative with a larger expected value. Since $E\{(V(A))\} = 0.5 \times 10 + 0.5 \times 40 = 25$ M, and $E\{(V(B))\} = 1.0 \times 25 = 25$ M, alternative A is as preferred as the alternative B for investors in a risk-neutral position.

- (b) The risk-averse investors possess a concave utility function. In Figure 3.4b, it can be seen that E{U(V(A)} = 0.5 × U(10) + 0.5 × U(40), and E{U(V(B)) = U(25). The alternative B is preferred over A in this risk position due to E{U(V(A)) < E{U(V(B))}. This result indicates risk-averse investors, in this case, prefer the alternative with a safe outcome.
- (c) The decision-maker in Figure 3.4c has an opportunity-seeking position. It shows that $E\{U(V(A))\} > E\{U(V(B))\}$ due to the concave shape of utility function. Thus, people would show more interest in alternative A than B in this risk position, which implies that opportunity-seeking investors, in this example, tend to choose the alternative with an uncertain outcome.



Figure 3.4: The expected utility of alternatives A and B under different risk positions. (a) The risk-neutral position. (b) The risk-averse position. (c) The opportunity-seeking position.

This example indicates that different risk positions are able to alter the decision making in practical applications. A better understanding of risk position is significant in reservoir decision making. The risk position is captured by the curvature of the utility function, and it is quantified by the risk tolerance (Santos et al., 2017c; Walls, 2005a). Therefore, the impact of risk preference on decision making could be explored by performing sensitivity analysis of the risk tolerance in the utility function.

Another example is used to illustrate the impact of loss functions in decision making. In this example, it is assumed the profit returns from alternatives A and B are normally distributed, and they have the same mean and different variance. The linear loss functions with different preferences are utilized to penalize the error between the estimated value and the true value. For a given penalty factor, the optimal estimate for alternative A and Bare $z_{opt}^{\star}(A)$ and $z_{opt}^{\star}(B)$, respectively. They could be solved from the *p*-quantile value in Equation 2.22 (Journel, 1984). The final decision is changed under different penalty factors in the linear loss functions, three main scenarios are analyzed below:

- (a) The first scenario is a symmetric linear loss function with an equal penalty on the overestimation and underestimation (Figure 3.5a). The optimal estimate equals the median, or expected value, as the alternatives are Gaussian distributed (Figure 3.6a). Thus, z^{*}_{opt}(A) = z^{*}_{opt}(B), which indicates alternatives A and B are equivalent to the investors with this loss function.
- (b) The second scenario is an asymmetric loss function with more penalty on the overestimation (Figure 3.5b). The optimal estimate is less than the median (or expected value) based on the quantile value. It can be observed from Figure 3.6b that the optimal value for alternative A is larger than that of B, z^{*}_{opt}(A) > z^{*}_{opt}(B). Therefore, people would choose alternative A.
- (c) The last scenario is an asymmetric loss function with more penalty on the underestimation (Figure 3.5c). The optimal estimate is larger than the median (or expected value), and the quantile value indicates the optimal value for alternative A is less than that of B, $z_{opt}^{\star}(A) < z_{opt}^{\star}(B)$, in Figure 3.6c. Thus, the decision-makers would favor alternative B.

The above case study implies different attitudes on the overestimation and underestimation are able to alter the outcome in decision analysis. In practical applications, especially in mineral grade control, investors' attitudes toward the estimated error are important in the decision-making process. Different attitudes are captured by the penalty factor in the loss function. Therefore, the impact of attitudes on the overestimation and underestimation in decision making could be investigated by performing sensitivity analysis on the penalty factor in the loss function.



Figure 3.5: The linear loss function with different penalty factors. (a) The symmetric loss function with equal weights. (b) The asymmetric loss function with more weights on the overestimation. (c) The asymmetric loss function with more weights on the underestimation.



Figure 3.6: The optimal estimates of each alternative under different loss functions. (a) The optimal values under a symmetric linear loss function. (b) The optimal values under an asymmetric linear loss function with more penalty on the overestimation. (c) The optimal values under an asymmetric linear loss function with more penalty on the underestimation.

3.3 Loss function and utility function selection

Many different forms of loss functions have been proposed, such as linear loss function, quadratic loss function, indicator loss function, and so on (Chen, 2019; Kinyanjui and Korir, 2020; Sypherd et al., 2019). Therefore, selecting an appropriate form is the priority of

applying loss functions in decision analysis. In this chapter, the quadratic loss function is employed to link with the utility function. This loss function is a commonly used form because it is similar to the mean square error in regression analysis. Consider a random variable Z and its estimation z^* . The quadratic loss function is formulated in Equation 3.5, and it is shown in Figure 3.7.

$$L(z, z^{\star}) = \begin{cases} \lambda_1 (z^{\star} - z)^2 & z \ge z^{\star} \\ \lambda_2 (z^{\star} - z)^2 & z^{\star} > z \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

In the above equation, the loss is defined as the estimated error according to the difference between the estimated value z^* and true value z. The $z^* - z < 0$ means the underestimation, while $z^* - z > 0$ stands for the overestimation. λ_1 and λ_2 are penalty factors with positive values. The $\lambda = \frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2}$ could reflect the symmetry of the quadratic loss function. It is categorized as a symmetric loss function ($\lambda = 1$) and asymmetric loss function ($\lambda \neq 1$) based on the penalty for the overestimation and underestimation. Since the optimal estimate relates only to the λ , the quadratic loss function could be simplified to $\lambda_2 = 1$ and $\lambda_1 = \lambda$, and investors' attitudes are reflected by the penalty factor λ .

The symmetric quadratic loss function ($\lambda = 1$) has an interesting property. It indicates that the optimal estimate is determined by the distribution's expected value regardless of distribution shape. The proof of optimal estimate in symmetric quadratic loss function based on expected value (EV) could be found as follows:

$$\frac{dE\{L(Z, z^{\star})\}}{dz^{\star}} = \frac{dE\{(z^{\star})^2 - 2Zz^{\star} + z^2\}}{dz^{\star}}$$
$$= -2E\{Z\} + 2z^{\star}$$
$$= -EV + z^{\star}$$
(3.6)

Let $\frac{dE\{L(Z,z^{\star})\}}{dz^{\star}} = 0$, the optimal estimate $z_{opt}^{\star} = EV$. The result indicates investors prefer the decision with a larger expected return in the context of a symmetric quadratic loss function, independent of the type of distribution.



Figure 3.7: The quadratic loss function with different penalty factors.

Since the utility function for each investor is difficult to obtain in practice, various models of utility functions have been developed to investigate the impact of risk positions on decision making. The commonly utilized forms are quadratic utility function, exponential utility function, and the power utility function (Gerber and Pafum, 1998; Niromandfam et al., 2020). The exponential utility function is utilized in this chapter, which is suitable for the risk representation in the economic-related decision making, and has the characteristic of being monotonic increasing (Cozzolino, 1977). The exponential utility function has a form in Equation 3.7, it is also commonly used in the petroleum industry to incorporate risk attitudes (Suslick and Schiozer, 2004; Wood and Khosravanian, 2015).

$$U(v) = \begin{cases} \frac{1 - \exp(-rv)}{r} & r \neq 0\\ v & r = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

Where r and v are the risk tolerance and the monetary value, respectively. The risk tolerance r is the only parameter to reflect the risk position (Figure 3.8): (1) r > 0 stands for the risk aversion. Decision-makers prefer a safe decision with a certain outcome, even though it has a lower expected return. This utility function has a concave shape with a diminishing marginal utility; (2) r = 0 represents risk neutrality. Investors only pay attention to the expected return, and the risk is not under consideration. There is a linear relationship between utility and monetary value; and (3) r < 0 implies the opportunity-seeking posi-

tion, which is associated with a convex shape of utility function. The alternative has a high potential of rewards in spite of the high risk.



Figure 3.8: The exponential utility function with different risk tolerance.

Since the utility function for the risk-neutral position is linear, the expected utility for this risk position only depends on the expected return (Equation 3.8). That is, maximizing the expected utility is equivalent to maximizing the expected value in a risk-neutral position.

$$E\left\{U(V)\right\} = \int U(V)f(V)dV = \int Vf(V)dV = EV \quad \text{For} \quad r = 0$$
(3.8)

Where V is the profit distribution and $f(\cdot)$ is the probability density function. Thus, the optimal estimate is equal to the expected return in quadratic loss function when $\lambda = 1$, and the expected utility also depends on the expected return in exponential utility function when r = 0. This property indicates the equivalence between the symmetric quadratic loss function and exponential utility function with a risk-neutral position, because they are both used in decision making based on the expected return.

3.4 Transitional parameters in preference measurements

This section aims to compute the transitional parameters in different preference measurements by analyzing the impact of preferences on decision making. In order to simplify the calculation, the alternatives, A and B, are assumed to have uniformly distributed returns V(A) and V(B), in the intervals of [a, b] and [c, d], respectively. The loss function is an important measurement to evaluate the fitness of the estimate in the presence of uncertainty (Otchere et al., 2021; Xie et al., 2018). The optimal estimate is the value that minimizes the expected loss. The $z_{opt}^{\star}(A, \lambda)$ and $z_{opt}^{\star}(B, \lambda)$ are the optimal estimates of decision A and decision B with the penalty factor λ taken into account. According to Appendix A.1a, they are given by the following equations:

$$z_{opt}^{\star}(A,\lambda) = \frac{a+\sqrt{\lambda}b}{1+\sqrt{\lambda}}$$
 for $\lambda \neq 1$ (3.9)

$$z_{opt}^{\star}(B,\lambda) = \frac{c + \sqrt{\lambda}d}{1 + \sqrt{\lambda}} \quad \text{for} \quad \lambda \neq 1$$
 (3.10)

As the optimal estimate is affected by the penalty factor, we define the transitional penalty factor λ_T as the penalty factor when the optimal estimates in different decisions are the same (Figure 3.9). That is, the transitional penalty factor λ_T is the value when the optimal estimate from alternative A and B are the same (Equation 3.11), and it could also be numerically solved from Equation 3.15.

$$z_{opt}^{\star}(A,\lambda_T) = z_{opt}^{\star}(B,\lambda_T) \tag{3.11}$$

Additionally, rational investors aim to maximize the expected utility in decision making. For the risk-neutral position, the maximizing of expected utility is equivalent to the maximizing of expected value. While for the risk-sensitive investors with an exponential utility function (Appendix A.1b), the expected utility for decision A and B are expressed as follows:

$$E\left\{U(V(A),r)\right\} = \frac{1}{r} + \frac{\exp(-br) - \exp(-ar)}{r^2(b-a)} \quad \text{for} \quad r \neq 0$$
(3.12)

$$E\left\{U(V(B),r)\right\} = \frac{1}{r} + \frac{\exp(-dr) - \exp(-cr)}{r^2(d-c)} \quad \text{for} \quad r \neq 0$$
(3.13)

The expected utility is also affected by the risk tolerance, which might change the outcome in decision analysis (Figure 3.9b). In order to find the balance of two alternatives, the transitional risk tolerance r_T is defined as the value when the expected utility of decision A is equal to it is in decision B (Equation 3.14). Since the difference between $E\{U(V(A), r)\}$ and $E\{U(V(B), r)\}$ is very small when the r becomes large in the exponential expected utility. Thus, the transitional risk tolerance r_T could be numerically solved by comparing the ratio of these two terms with one (Equation 3.16).

$$E\left\{U(V(A), r_T)\right\} = E\left\{U(V(B), r_T)\right\}$$
(3.14)



Figure 3.9: A sketch to illustrate the transitional parameters for different preference measurements. (a) The transitional penalty factor λ_T . (b) The transitional risk tolerance r_T .

Both the transitional penalty factor λ_T and transitional risk tolerance r_T are able to reflect the balance of two different decisions. That is, the decision-makers are indifferent to these two decisions in this situation. It also implies the equivalence of these transitional parameters under the same decision-making context. Therefore, we could investigate the relationship between loss function and utility function by comparing these transitional parameters. The numerically way to solve the transitional parameters is based on Equation 3.15 and Equation 3.16:

$$PF(\lambda) = \frac{a-c}{d-b} - \sqrt{\lambda} \quad \text{for} \quad \lambda \neq 1$$
 (3.15)

$$RT(r) = 1 - \frac{\left(\exp(-br) - \exp(-ar)\right)(d-c)}{\left(\exp(-dr) - \exp(-cr)\right)(b-a)} \quad \text{for} \quad r \neq 0$$
(3.16)

Where $PF(\lambda)$ and RT(r) are the functions for penalty factor and risk tolerance, respectively. The values of transitional parameters could be numerically solved by finding their intersection with the X-axis.

3.5 Link between loss function and utility function

The following flow chart is used to illustrate the workflow of investigating the relationship between different preference measures (Figure 3.10). There are three main aspects in this workflow: Firstly, the appropriate form of the loss function and utility function should be determined. In this chapter, the quadratic loss function and exponential utility function are used to illustrate the workflow. Second, the alternatives are compared under different decision criteria. When investors are indifferent to these two decisions, we can obtain the transitional penalty factor and transitional risk tolerance. These transitional parameters are comparable because they lead to the same decision. Lastly, this process could be simplified by adopting uniformly distributed alternatives, and the relationship of preference measurements will be constructed by repetitive experiments with different decisions.



Figure 3.10: A sketch of workflow to connect the loss function and utility function.

The parameters in the loss function and utility function that reflect personal preference are penalty factor and risk tolerance, respectively. Thus, our target is to investigate the relationship of different preference measurements by connecting the penalty factor and risk tolerance. Since these parameters may change the outcome of decision making, there may be a situation where investors are indifferent to the decisions. In this situation, the parameters are named as transitional penalty factor and transitional risk tolerance. The transitional penalty factor λ_T and transitional risk tolerance r_T are solved from $PF(\lambda_T) = 0$ and $RT(r_T) = 0$, they are the intersections of $PF(\lambda)$ and RT(r) with the X-axis. An example is used to illustrate the numerical solution of these transitional parameters. It is carried out for two alternatives uniformly distributed in the interval of [2.0, 7.0] and [3.0, 5.0], respectively. The result indicates $PF(\lambda)$ only has one intersection with the X-axis, while the RT(r) has two intersections with the X-axis (Figure 3.11). Therefore, the transitional penalty factor λ_T is 0.24, and the transitional risk tolerance r_T is 0.62. The other intersection at zero in Figure 3.11b is invalid.



Figure 3.11: An example of numerically solving the transitional parameters from: (a) The quadratic loss function. (b) The exponential utility function.

The transitional parameters can be found only in the case of alternatives with overlapping distributions (Figure 3.12). These distributions are intersected with each other in a limited range, their intervals could be expressed by four different points c, a, b, d in Figure 3.12b. These points are sequentially generated: Firstly, randomly sample the point c within the interval of [0.1, 1.0]. Secondly, the spaces between every two adjacent points are randomly generated in the interval of [0.1, 1.0], and lastly, the distributions are obtained by the accumulative sum of these random increments. 200 experiments are conducted by changing the distributions' intervals, the transitional penalty factor λ_T and corresponding transitional risk tolerance r_T are recorded to construct the cross plot (Figure 3.13). Since the transitional penalty factor λ_T has a large range, it is transformed to the logarithmic transitional penalty factor $\ln \lambda_T$ for an intuitive display.



Figure 3.12: The position of two decisions (green and blue) with uniform distributions. (a) The decisions have separate distributions. (b) The decisions have overlapping distributions. (c) The decisions have separate distributions.

The relationship between the risk tolerance and penalty factor is summarized from observing the cross plot in Figure 3.13: (1) the dots in origin indicate the symmetric quadratic loss function is equivalent to the risk-neutral position in the exponential utility function, which is also consistent with the conclusion from Section 3.3; (2) the dots in the second quadrant represent the asymmetric quadratic loss function with more penalty on the underestimation. It is related to the risk-seeking position in the exponential utility function; and (3) the dots in the fourth quadrant imply the asymmetric quadratic loss function with more penalty on overestimation. It corresponds to the risk-averse position in the exponential utility function. In addition, the logarithmic of transitional penalty factor $ln\lambda_T$ has an approximate negative trend with the transitional risk tolerance r_T . That is, a smaller penalty factor is more likely to be related to a larger risk tolerance. Although this relationship is not quantitative, a workflow to integrate the loss function and utility function is established.



Figure 3.13: The cross plot between transitional penalty factor (logarithmic scale) and transitional risk tolerance (linear scale).

3.6 Conclusion

The relationship is constructed between the risk tolerance of utility function and the penalty factor of loss function. The result indicates that (1) the symmetric quadratic loss function produces the same result with the risk-neutral position in exponential utility function, as the decision criterion in these preference measurements is based on the expected return, (2) the asymmetric quadratic loss function with more penalty on underestimation corresponds to the risk-seeking position in exponential utility function, and (3) the asymmetric quadratic loss function with more penalty on overestimation corresponds to the risk-averse in the exponential utility function. In addition, the transitional penalty factor has an approximate inverse relationship with the transitional risk tolerance, the smaller penalty factor has a high probability of connecting with the larger risk tolerance.

There are also many limitations involved in the proposed workflow. For example: (1) The relationship between the penalty factor and risk tolerance is not quantitative. They only have an approximate inverse relationship. (2) Only the quadratic loss function and exponential utility function are considered in our example. There are many different loss

functions and utility functions that are worth trying in the future. (3) All the alternatives are assumed to be uniformly distributed to simplify the calculation. Although this research has some limitations, a framework of integration of the loss function and utility function is established. The constructed framework still exhibits the possible potential between them, and provides a new understanding of preference measurements in practical applications.

CHAPTER 4

DECISION MAKING WITH AN EXPLICIT CONSIDERATION OF RISK

Decision analysis in the petroleum industry is challenging due to the inherent uncertainty from the limited understanding of the subsurface. In recent years, the expected utility theory has gained widespread attention in reservoir decision making. When there is no explicit utility function, the mean-variance criterion or maximizing risk-adjusted value is a convenient alternative under the expected utility framework. In these approaches, variance is used as the measure of risk. However, investors only dislike the downside volatility. To improve risk management in the oilfield in the presence of geological uncertainty, the lower partial moment is utilized as the risk assessment in this chapter. The main content is organized by the following four sections to illustrate the downside-risk approach in reservoir decision making: (1) discuss the motivation of this chapter; (2) summarize the difference between the mean-variance model and the mean-variance optimization, (3) review different risk measurement methods, and summarize the characteristics of these approaches; (4) introduce the downside-risk approach with an explicit consideration of risk, which is demonstrated in the mean-lower patial-variance-upper partial variance (MLU) model and MLU optimization, respectively.

4.1 Motivation

The expected utility theory is famous for decision making under conditions of uncertainty. This theorem indicates that a rational decision (d_0) is always associated with the maximum of expected utility (Markowitz, 2014). The decision-making problems in the petroleum industry, such as the production strategy selection from a set of countable alternatives (D), could be formulated in Equation 4.1. It captures geological uncertainty by generating multiple geological models { $g = g_n; n = 1, 2, ..., N$ } with equal probability. These geological models are used to construct the economic model (v) during the decision-making process.

$$d_0 = \underset{d \in D}{\operatorname{argmax:}} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^N U\left(v(g_n, d)\right)$$
(4.1)

Variance is extensively utilized to measure the risk in reservoir decision making under the expected utility framework when there is no implicit utility function, such as meanvariance criterion (Markowitz, 2014) or risk-adjusted value (Cozzolino, 1977). The meanvariance criterion approximates expected utility for risk-averse investors, and variance or standard deviation is treated as the measure of risk (Figure 4.1). This criterion is used in the context of decision selection, and it has been applied in the petroleum industry for production strategies and investment selection (Al Harthy, 2007; Gallardo and Deutsch, 2020; Wang et al., 2020). The risk-adjusted value measures an investment's return with the risk taken into consideration by the risk tolerance (r). It is often used in the context of decision optimization to capture different preferences. The maximization of risk-adjusted value is mathematically equivalent to the efficient frontier in the mean-variance criterion (Equation 4.2). It has also been widely utilized in well placement with the mean-variance optimization to capture different risk attitudes (Capolei et al., 2015; Chang et al., 2015; Jesmani et al., 2020; Mohsin Siraj et al., 2017). Consider a production strategy d in the search space \mathbb{S} with countless alternatives, the objective function in well placement is constructed by transferring the monetary distribution (V) from multiple geological models. The decisionoptimization process using the risk-adjusted value could be formulated below:

$$d_0 = \underset{d \in \mathbb{S}}{\operatorname{argmax:}} E\{V(\boldsymbol{g}, d)\} - r\sigma^2\{V(\boldsymbol{g}, d)\}$$
(4.2)

However, the variance is often considered inadequate to assess risk, as people are mainly concerned about the volatility below a certain level (Al Janabi, 2015; Deng et al., 2020; Grootveld and Hallerbach, 1999). Some unusually high outcomes are not of concern, yet they increase the variance significantly. Alternatives are developed to improve the assessment of risk, like semi-variance, downside risk or lower partial moment (Cumova and Nawrocki, 2014; Salah et al., 2018; Santos et al., 2017a,1; Sortino and Van Der Meer, 1991; Viole and Nawrocki, 2016). Thus, the need to improve the measure of risk in reservoir de-

cision analysis motivates explicitly analyzing risk.



Figure 4.1: A sketch of the mean-variance model. The red dotted line is the efficient frontier, and the dots in the shadow area is dominated by the dot in the upper left corner.

4.2 Variance-based approach in decision making

The variance-based approach in decision making could be illustrated from two aspects: the mean-variance criterion (mean-variance model) and maximizing the risk-adjusted value (mean-variance optimization). These approaches employ variance as the measure of risk. In this section, a detailed comparison between the mean-variance model and mean-variance optimization will be given.

The advantage of mean-variance model is that the decision-making process only depends on statistical parameters (mean and variance). The optimal alternatives in the efficient frontier are dominant over other alternatives regardless of the risk attitude. It is convenient for those who do not have any theoretical background of utility theory in economics. This model, however, has two major limitations: (1) it is designed for situations with a countable number of alternatives, such as drilling order selection; and (2) there could be more than one optimal alternative on the efficient frontier, investors might not be able to identify a unique best alternative based on this model.

The mean-variance optimization is suitable for more practical applications, such as well placement optimization, where countless alternatives are involved in the decision-making process. This approach is able to capture different attitudes by the risk tolerance, but the specific value of risk tolerance is difficult to quantify in practice. Thus, sensitivity analysis is often performed on the risk tolerance to explore the impact of attitudes on decision-making. In this approach, there is only one optimal alternative, which means investors could identify the best alternative according to different preferences. The engineers also need the knowledge of utility theory in economics to better understand investor attitudes

A comparison between the mean-variance model and mean-variance optimization is shown in Table 4.1. It provides a summary of the mean-variance approaches with six aspects (number of alternatives, number of optimal alternatives, preferences, utility background, expected utility theory, and measure of risk). These approaches are consistent with the expected utility framework, and they use the variance to measure the risk in decision making.

	Mean-variance model	Mean-variance optimization
Alternative	Accountable	Not accountable/Accountable
Optimal alternative	One/More	One
Attitude	Not necessary	Necessary
Utility knowledge	Not necessary	Necessary
Expected utility	Consistent	Consistent
Measure of risk	Variance	Variance

Table 4.1: Comparison between the mean-variance model and mean-variance optimization.

4.3 Measure of risk

Risk originates from a situation involving uncertainty, and it is often associated with undesirable events going to happen. (Balzer, 1990; Hillson and Murray Webster, 2017; Ma and La Pointe, 2011; Rachev et al., 2011). This term is often utilized in decision theory (Knight, 2012; Sortino and Van Der Meer, 1991), which is significant to reservoir decision
making in the presence of geological uncertainty. In this subsection, the major approaches of assessing risk in the context of economics are described.

The traditional way to manage the risk is based on the maximum shortfall. It employs the magnitude of the worst scenario to define the risk, which could be expressed as $\max\{v_0 - v, 0; v \in V\}$. Where v is the value from the profit distribution V, and v_0 is an appropriate risk benchmark. This benchmark is widely accepted as the minimum acceptable return, which is a predefined target in the decision-making process (Jin et al., 2006; Markowitz, 2010; Sortino et al., 2001). There have been many criticisms of this approach (Hauge et al., 2014; Huysmans et al., 2006). An obvious shortcoming of this measure of risk is that it does not consider the size of the shortfall. Meanwhile, it also ignores the probability distribution, which may make decision-makers too conservative (Klebaner et al., 2017).

The other traditional way to measure risk is based on the probability of shortfall (Balzer, 1990). It is defined as: $\operatorname{Prob}\{v < v_0; v \in V\}$. This approach only takes the probability into account, which ignores all the information in the profit distribution. Since the probability of shortfall and the maximum shortfall are incomplete in the risk measurement, some researchers employed the expected shortfall (or conditional value-at-risk) to define the risk, the mathematical form of expected shortfall (*ES*) could be expressed in Equation 4.3 (Acerbi et al., 2001; Sortino et al., 2001; Tasche, 2002). However, there are some concerns that downside risk is linearly measured in this approach. That is, investors have an underlying risk-neutral position in the front of downside risk (Sortino et al., 2001).

$$ES = E\left\{v_0 - V; \text{ for all } v_0 - V > 0\right\}$$
(4.3)

Markowitz (1952) proposed the mean-variance criterion in decision analysis under the expected utility framework to capture different risk attitudes. However, there are some controversies in this criterion about measuring the risk by variance in Equation 4.4. Since it is obvious that investors only dislike the downside volatility, variance or standard deviation is often considered inadequate as they disproportionately penalize the upside potential. Additionally, a similar concept of risk-adjusted value is proposed by Cozzolino (1977), the maximization of risk-adjusted value is mathematically equivalent to the efficient frontier in the mean-variance criterion. It has also been widely utilized in the petroleum industry

with the mean-variance optimization to capture different risk attitudes (Capolei et al., 2015; Chang et al., 2015; Jesmani et al., 2020; Mohsin Siraj et al., 2017).

$$\sigma^2(V) = E\{(V - E\{V\})^2\}$$
(4.4)

As people only dislike the volatility below a certain level, alternatives are developed to improve the risk assessment in the fields of economics and finance, such as semi-variance or lower partial moment (Fabozzi and Peterson, 2003; Salah et al., 2018; Santos et al., 2017c; Sortino and Van Der Meer, 1991). Markowitz (2014) commented the semi-variance could be an alternative of variance in the measure of risk, which is a particular form of lower partial moments. Viole and Nawrocki (2016) claimed the risk in investment could be quantified by the probability of investment return below a specified benchmark. Klebaner et al. (2017) and Ayub et al. (2011) used the lower partial moments to assess the downside volatility and quantify the risk. Assuming the profit distribution V has a cumulative probability distribution F(V), the α -th lower partial moments with the truncated value v_0 is given by:

$$LPM_{\alpha}(V, v_0) = (-1)^{\alpha} \int_{-\infty}^{v_0} (V - v_0)^{\alpha} dF(V)$$
(4.5)

Many risk assessment approaches have been documented in this subsection. However, only the variance and lower partial moment are appropriate in decision analysis under the expected utility framework. That is, these risk measurements are able to capture different risk positions in the decision-making process.

4.4 Downside-risk approach in decision making

In many practical applications under the expected utility framework, variance is often treated as the measure of risk, such as the mean-variance model or risk-adjusted value. A simple example from Sortino et al. (2001) is used to illustrate the limitation of assessing risk by variance in decision analysis (Figure 4.2). The profit distribution of two alternatives, A and B, have the same mean and variance. The profit distribution of alternative A is right-skewed, while alternative B has the shape of a nearly normal distribution. If investors make decisions using the mean-variance criterion, these two alternatives would make no difference for investors in any risk position. However, it is obvious that most decision-makers would prefer the alternative A, as its profit distribution has a larger upside tail and smaller downside volatility. Thus, using variance as the measure of risk over-penalizes upside volatility, which is inconsistent with investors' behavior.



Figure 4.2: The profit distributions from two alternatives with the same expected value and variance.

A growing number of researches are focusing on the downside volatility to measure the risk in decision analysis. Dimitrakopoulos et al. (2007) introduced the concept of downside risk in the optimization of open-pit mine design. The standard deviation is regarded as the uncertainty, the downside risk and upside reward are separated by the minimum acceptable return. Cumova and Nawrocki (2014) combined the downside risk and upside potential in the expected utility framework, which was used to incorporate preferences on the risk and potential. Viole and Nawrocki (2016) employed the lower partial moment and upper partial moment to quantify the risk and potential, respectively. Figure 4.3 illustrates the concept of downside risk, upside potential, and other components in the profit distribution. It indicates that uncertainty is quantified by the variance, risk is assessed by the downside volatility, and potential is measured by the upside volatility. The risk and potential are truncated by a benchmark, which is a predefined target (Klebaner et al., 2017; Ling et al., 2020).



Figure 4.3: The illustration of risk and potential in a probability distribution.

In order to integrate the downside risk into the expected utility framework, Zakamouline and Koekebakker (2009) and Zakamouline (2014) proposed a generalized mean-variance approach, which decomposes the expected utility into the form of partial moments (Equation 4.6) by Taylor series expansion.

$$E\{U(V)\} = l_{+}UPM_{1}(V, v_{0}) - \frac{r_{+}}{\beta}UPM_{\beta}(V, v_{0}) - \lambda_{0}(l_{-}LPM_{1}(V, v_{0}) + \frac{r_{-}}{\alpha}LPM_{\alpha}(V, v_{0}))$$
(4.6)

Where V refers to the profit with a monetary value, and v_0 denotes the benchmark (minimum acceptable return) for the lower partial moment of order α (LPM_{α}) and upper partial moment of order β (UPM_{β}). λ_0 is a positive value. l_+ and l_- are indicator functions that take values in {0, 1}. Santos et al. (2017a) applied this generalized mean-variance approach to separately incorporate the attitudes on risk and potential in the context of decision selection. The expected utility could be expressed in Equation 4.7 with an explicit analyzing risk, which is a particular case of Equation 4.6 when $\lambda_0 = 1$, $l_- = 1$, $l_+ = 1$, $\alpha = 2$ and $\beta = 2$. The detailed proof could be found in Appendix A.2.

$$E\{U(V)\} = E(V, v_0) - \frac{LPM_2(V, v_0)}{\tau_-} + \frac{UPM_2(V, v_0)}{\tau_+}$$
(4.7)

Where $E(V, v_0)$ refers to $E(V - v_0)$. $UPM_2(V, v_0) = \int_{v_0}^{+\infty} (V - v_0)^2 dF(V)$ denotes the upper partial variance and $LPM_2(V, v_0) = \int_{-\infty}^{v_0} (V - v_0)^2 dF(V)$ is the lower partial variance variance variance V.

ance. $\tau_+ = \frac{-2}{r_+}$ represents the attitude to the upside potential (upside opportunity-seeking $0 < \tau_+ < \infty$, upside risk-neutral $\tau_+ \to \infty$), and $\tau_- = \frac{2}{r_-}$ is the attitude on the downside risk (downside risk-averse $0 < \tau_- < \infty$, downside risk-neutral $\tau_- \to \infty$).

The mean-variance criterion (mean-variance model) and maximizing risk-adjusted value (mean-variance optimization) are variance-based approaches. In order to improve the measure of risk in these approaches, the downside-risk approach would be demonstrated in the following two aspects: the mean-lower partial variance-upper partical variance (MLU) model and the MLU optimization.

4.4.1 MLU model in decision making

The mean-variance criterion is widely used for the decision selection problem, it is controversial due to the inappropriate measurement of variance by risk. Due to the alternatives with higher expected returns, lower risks, and higher potential are more attractive, in this research, a MLU model is developed according to Equation 4.7, which is a 3-D model composed of the mean, lower partial variance, and upper partial variance (Figure 4.4). This model is able to facilitate decision analysis by capturing the expected return, downside volatility (risk), and upside volatility (potential) of the profit distribution from each alternative. Taking alternatives A and B as an example to illustrate the rule in the MLU model. The alternative A is preferred over alternative B when they have a relationship in Equation 4.8. It also requires that the equalities of all equations are not satisfied at the same time. Similar to the mean-variance model, the efficient frontier of MLU model is constructed based on the set of optimal alternatives. This model is consistent with the expected utility framework, and also applicable in the context of decision selection.

$$\begin{cases} E(A) \ge E(B) \\ UPM_2(A) \ge UPM_2(B) \\ LPM_2(A) \le LPM_2(B) \end{cases}$$
(4.8)



Figure 4.4: A sketch of the MLU model. The red dotted line is the efficient frontier, and the dot in the corner dominates other dots in the shadow box.

Two examples are utilized to compare the mean-variance model and the MLU model. In the first case (Figure 4.5a), based on the stochastic dominance rules, alternative B is preferred over alternative A. More specifically, alternative B dominates alternative A by the first-degree stochastic dominance, as the payoff from alternative B is larger than the payoff from alternative A at any quantile (Acorn et al., 2020; Whang, 2019). In the meanvariance model, only the expected return and variance from the profit distribution are taken into account in the decision-making process, the alternatives on the efficient frontier are regarded as the optimal decisions, which have (1) a larger mean and equal/smaller variance or (2) a smaller variance and equal/larger mean. Thus, we are unable to distinguish the better alternative based on the mean-variance criterion in this case, because alternative Bhas both a larger mean and variance than alternative A (Figure 4.5b). That is, alternatives A and B both are on the efficient frontier in the mean-variance model, which indicates their preference relationship is not certain. This case would also be applied in the MLU model for comparison. The results in Figure 4.5b depict alternative B has a larger mean and upside partial variance than alternative A, meanwhile, the lower partial variance of alternative Bis smaller than that of alternative A. According to the character of optimal alternatives in the efficient frontier from the MLU model, the investors preferred alternative B over alternative A based on the analysis from the MLU model.



Figure 4.5: Comparison between mean-variance model and MLU model in the first case. (a) The cumulative distributions for alternatives. (b) The parameters involved in these decision models (minimum acceptable return is 7).

In the second case (Figure 4.6a), alternative B is also preferred over alternative A. Although the cumulative probability distributions of these alternatives are intersected with each other, the area under the cumulative probability distribution of A is larger than that of B for any payoff values, which indicates alternative B dominates alternative A by the second-degree stochastic dominance (Gallardo and Deutsch, 2020; Müller et al., 2017). The parameters involved in the mean-variance model and MLU model are shown in Figure 4.6b. The results show the mean and variance of alternative B are greater than that of alternative A, which indicates these strategies do not have a clear preference relationship in the meanvariance model. Meanwhile, the downside volatility of alternative B is smaller than that of alternative A, and the upside volatility of alternative B is larger than that of alternative A. Therefore, using the MLU model, alternative B could be identified as the preferred decision over alternative A. From these two examples, only the alternative B is identified as the optimal decision in the MLU model, which is consistent with the investors' behavior.

4.4.2 MLU optimization in decision making

The mean-variance model is only applicable in the situation when alternatives could be enumerated (Figure 4.1). In order to capture different risk attitudes in practical problems that are related to countless alternatives, maximizing the risk-adjusted value is often utilized



Figure 4.6: Comparison between mean-variance model and MLU model in the second case. (a) The cumulative distributions for alternatives. (b) The parameters involved in these decision models (minimum acceptable return is 7).

in the context of decision optimization (Equation 4.2). But variance is inappropriate to measure the risk in this approach. Thus, we will discuss the application of the downside-risk approach in decision optimization.

A typical application of decision optimization is the well placement in the petroleum industry, it is often associated with significant uncertainty and risk due to the limited understanding of the subsurface (Epelle and Gerogiorgis, 2020; Naderi and Khamehchi, 2017; Pouladi et al., 2020). In order to improve risk management in the well placement optimization in the presence of geological uncertainty, a workflow is proposed based on the MLU optimization. Four main steps are involved in this workflow: (1) transfer geological uncertainty by multiple realizations, (2) set up economic models from flow simulation, (3) capture preferences in the decision rule, and (4) perform decision optimization by explicitly analyzing risk. These steps are detailed described in the following.

(1) Transfer geological uncertainty by multiple realizations

The geological model consists of the structure model, lithofacies model, petrophysics model, and dynamic fluid model (Pyrcz and Deutsch, 2014; Yin et al., 2020). They are hierarchically modeled to characterize the reservoir (Figure 4.7). However, the subsurface resource is difficult to accurately measure caused by the limited data and variability at all scales. This incomplete understanding of the reservoir leads to large uncertainty in the geological modeling and a great challenge in well placement. The geostatistical community provides tools to quantify the geological uncertainty. It is conducted by generating multiple geological models (realizations) using stochastic simulation (Deutsch, 2018). These different geological ical models have an equal probability, and their difference is able to reflect the geological uncertainty.



Figure 4.7: A sketch of the hierarchically geological model in reservoir characterization.

(2) Set up economic models by reservoir simulation

Net present value (NPV) is a common economic index to analyze the profitability of a project. It is obtained by performing reservoir flow simulation. The NPV of a given production strategy in a determined geological model is expressed below:

NPV =
$$\sum_{t=1}^{T} \frac{R_t - E_t}{(1+r_d)^t} - C_w$$
 (4.9)

Where T is the total production time, and r_d refers to the discount factor. R_t and E_t represent the revenue and expense at time t during the operation. C_w denotes the total cost to drill the wells. In a two-phase (oil and water) flow model, R_t and E_t are given by:

$$R_t = p_o Q_t^o \tag{4.10}$$

$$E_t = p_w^p Q_t^{w,p} + p_w^i Q_t^{w,i} (4.11)$$

Where Q_t^o is the total volumes of oil at the time t. P_o is the oil price. $Q_t^{w,p}$ and $Q_t^{w,i}$ are the total volumes of water produced and water injected at the time t. P_w^p and P_w^i are the water production cost and water injection cost. Investors usually have the target to maximize the economic value of the oil field, and the economic model is constructed by the NPV from reservoir simulation. In the risk-neutral position, the expected NPV is often adopted as the objective function to measure the reservoir potential in the presence of geological uncertainty (Onwunalu and Durlofsky, 2010; Zhao et al., 2020).

(3) Incorporate preferences in the decision criterion

Decision criterion in petroleum industry considers economic models converted from geological models based on limited well or seismic constraints. Since risk and potential coexist in the well placement under the geological uncertainty, the decision criterion of maximizing expected utility is adopted to capture different attitudes. For a given production strategy (d) in the presence of geological uncertainty, the lower partial variance and upper partial variance are expressed in Equation 4.12 and Equation 4.13, respectively.

$$LPM_2(V, v_0) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} (\min[v(g_n, d) - v_0, 0])^2$$
(4.12)

$$UPM_2(V, v_0) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} (\max[v(g_n, d) - v_0, 0])^2$$
(4.13)

The risk-quantified decision optimization in the well placement considers multiple realizations in an ensemble of stochastic models. These realizations are able to capture geological uncertainty, and the expected utility in Equation 4.7 could be expressed in Equation 4.14.

$$E\{U(V)\} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left(v(g_n, d) - v_0 \right) - \frac{1}{\tau_-} \left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} (\min[v(g_n, d) - v_0, 0])^2 \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\tau_+} \left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} (\max[v(g_n, d) - v_0, 0])^2 \right)$$
(4.14)

The above equation could be used as the objective function in the optimization algorithm to locate the optimal well plan. The lower partial variance and upper partial variance are utilized to measure the risk and potential, respectively. It indicates rational investors prefer the profit distribution with a larger expected value, higher volatility on the upside, and smaller volatility on the downside, which is consistent with investors' behavior.

(4) Perform decision optimization with an explicit consideration of risk

Many global optimization algorithms have been introduced in petroleum industry to fa-

cilitate the design of oilfield production strategies, which include particle swarm algorithm (Boah et al., 2019; Redoloza and Li, 2021), genetic algorithm (Emerick et al., 2009; Hamida et al., 2017; Naderi and Khamehchi, 2017), simultaneous perturbation stochastic approximation algorithm (Carpinelli et al., 2018; Pouladi et al., 2020) and so on. Generally, these algorithms can not guarantee to find the global optimal well position among countless alternatives, but their results are able to approximate the actual global solution (Liberti and Maculan, 2006; Migdalas et al., 2013). In this research, the expected utility is utilized as the objective function in these optimization algorithms, and well locations in the production strategy (d) are the design variables in well placement optimization. The optimization is used to select the optimal production strategy by maximizing the expected utility under certain constraints S.

$$d_0 = \operatorname*{argmax:}_{d \in \mathbb{S}} E(V(\boldsymbol{g}, d), v_0) - \frac{LPM_2(V(\boldsymbol{g}, d), v_0)}{\tau_-} + \frac{UPM_2(V(\boldsymbol{g}, d), v_0)}{\tau_+}$$
(4.15)

The above objective function could be numerically solved by using multiple realizations in Equation 4.12. This MLU optimization employs lower partial variance to measure the risk, which is able to improve risk management in well placement optimization.

4.5 Conclusion

Variance is often utilized as the measure of risk in reservoir decision making, such as the mean-variance model and mean-variance optimization. However, there are many arguments about the measure of risk by variance. Thus, the difference between the meanvariance model and mean-variance optimization is explored. Their advantages and limitations are summarized to guide future applications. After that, different risk measurements are reviewed. These previous researches indicate that the lower partial moment is a more robust alternative for variance in the measure of risk in decision analysis under the expected utility framework. Lastly, the downside-risk approach is introduced in this chapter with an explicit consideration of risk. This approach is illustrated in MLU model and MLU optimization: In the context of decision selection, a MLU model is developed based on the expected return, lower partial variance, and upper partial variance. The risk in this model is measured by the downward volatility below a benchmark, and it is quantified by the lower partial variance. Two synthetic examples are used to compare the MLU model and mean-variance model. The results imply that the MLU model has a better capability to identify the optimal decisions than the mean-variance model by explicitly assessing risk.

In the context of decision optimization, the workflow of MLU optimization is presented to improve the risk assessment in mean-variance optimization. Four main steps are involved in this workflow: (1) use multiple realizations to transfer geological uncertainty; (2) perform reservoir simulation to construct economic models; (3) make the decision criterion under the expected utility framework; and (4) employ the downside-risk approach in the optimization of well locations.

CHAPTER 5

VALUE OF GEOPHYSICAL INFORMATION ANALYSIS FOR DIFFERENT RISK POSITIONS

Geophysical data is critical information to improve reservoir decision making in the presence of geological uncertainty. Since the gathering of geophysical information is often expensive, value of information (VOI) analysis is often performed to assess the benefits of geophysical information before collection. However, the traditional VOI analysis is associated with a risk-neutral position. That is, the posterior value and prior value are calculated based on the expected return disregarding different risk positions in the presence of geological uncertainty. This chapter proposes a workflow to capture different risk attitudes in the VOI analysis. It is implemented by combining the utility theory and the simulationregression approach. A simplified case study is utilized to demonstrate the workflow of VOI analysis in the spatial decision situations, and the impact of risk preferences in VOI analysis is presented.

5.1 Motivation

Decision analysis is essential in the petroleum industry. Before making a critical decision, geophysical information is often collected to facilitate the decision making. The gathering of information is essential as it helps to reduce uncertainty and enhance confidence in decision making. The information has no value unless it potentially changes the decision, and it is worth collecting when the value of information exceeds the cost of information. The concept of VOI originates from business decisions (Schlaifer, 1959), and it was first introduced in the petroleum industry for the drilling decision (Grayson, 1960). VOI analysis is carried out under uncertainty where the information might be worthwhile if it could help to change the decision. This approach has been applied in the petroleum industry to evaluate the value of information, such as the measurement of seismic reliability in geophysics

(Eidsvik et al., 2008; Rezaie et al., 2014), the optimization of production strategy based on the information from additional wells (Trainor Guitton et al., 2014), and the assessment for the probability of leaking or sealing fault in the aquifer (Anyosa et al., 2021). The collected data provides information for guiding reservoir development, it reduces geological uncertainty by increased knowledge of the subsurface (Eidsvik et al., 2015b). VOI is commonly expressed as the difference between the expected return with additional information and the expected return without information if the decision-maker has a risk-neutral position (Bratvold et al., 2009).

$$VOI = \begin{bmatrix} Expected value with \\ additional information \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} Expected value without \\ additional information \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.1)

The future information is difficult to predict before collecting it, especially the conditional probability of outcomes given the possible information. Approaches are proposed to approximate the VOI, such as simulation-regression (Eidsvik et al., 2008; Strong et al., 2015), Gaussian approximation (Jalal and Alarid Escudero, 2018), and moment matching (Heath et al., 2018). However, all existing research into VOI analysis focuses on the riskneutral position (Dutta et al., 2019a; Eidsvik et al., 2008). That is, the posterior value and prior value are calculated based on the expected return disregarding different risk positions in the decision-making process and VOI analysis. In this research, the utility theory is incorporated in the VOI analysis. The expected utility framework is a widely utilized theory to capture risk attitudes in the decision-making process, and utility function could measure the satisfaction of decision-makers. Thus, this research will apply the utility theory in the VOI analysis to investigate the influence of different risk positions. It mainly includes: Firstly, using multiple realizations to transfer geological uncertainty; Next, introducing the utility theory in the VOI analysis. Lastly, performing sensitivity analysis of different risk attitudes in the VOI analysis. An example is presented in the selection of production strategy with the consideration of reservoir spatial heterogeneity. The result indicates that investors' preferences will influence the gathering of geophysical information, a better understanding of risk preferences is able to enhance the VOI analysis.

5.2 VOI analysis in spatial decision situations

The gathering of geophysical data is often considered to facilitate decision making in the petroleum industry. The data could provide information for guiding the design of production strategies in reservoir development, and also reduce geological uncertainty by increased knowledge of the subsurface (Bratvold et al., 2009; Eidsvik et al., 2015a). The general form of VOI is given by:

$$VOI(\boldsymbol{y}) = PoV(\boldsymbol{y}) - PV$$
(5.2)

Where PoV(y) is the posterior value with information y, PV is the prior value without collecting information. It is supposed that risk-neutral investors need to make a decision from an ensemble of alternative D in presence of geological uncertainty. Before making the decision, it might be worth collecting geophysical information to facilitate the decision-making process. In this spatial decision situation, the PoV and PV are, respectively, expressed as follows (Dutta et al., 2019b; Eidsvik et al., 2017):

$$PV = \max_{d \in D} \left\{ \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} v(g_n, d) \right\}$$
(5.3)

$$\operatorname{PoV}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \left\{ E\left\{ V(\boldsymbol{g}, d) | y_n \right\} \right\}$$
(5.4)

Where $\{g = g_n; n = 1, 2, ..., N\}$ denotes an ensemble of geological models from N realizations, and y_n is the simulated impedance in n-th realization. $\{V(g, d) = v(g_n, d); n = 1, 2, ..., N\}$ is a profit distribution, and $v(g_n, d)$ is the profit value from the alternative d and geological model g_n . It indicates that PV maximizes expected profit over all the alternatives, and the PoV is calculated by averaging the profit values from the optimal returns in each realization. Thus, the VOI in the risk-neutral position could be expressed as:

$$\operatorname{VOI}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \left\{ E\left\{ V(\boldsymbol{g}, d) | y_n \right\} \right\} - \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \left\{ \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} v(g_n, d) \right\}$$
(5.5)

Many uncertainties surround the future regarding cumulative oil production and net present value due to the limited information from drilling wells. The geospatial uncertainty associated with subsurface properties could affect the investor's behavior in the design of production strategies. The decision-related information is often collected to reduce uncertainty and improve decision making. The main target in VOI analysis is to determine the value of purchasing information. It is challenging because in most cases, information is measured indirectly, making it difficult to calculate an accurate posterior value. Many different methods have been proposed to approximate the posterior value. The simulation-regression approach is the most recently proposed method that has been applied to geophysics. It will be described in detail in the next subsection. Moreover, VOI analysis is performed before collecting the information. This concept is easily confused with terminal analysis. Hong et al. (2018) explained the difference between VOI analysis and terminal analysis using Figure 5.1. It indicates that the main difference between these two concepts is whether the information analysis is before or after the information is collected.



Figure 5.1: A sketch of an explanation of two different concepts in the information analysis. (a) The procedure of VOI analysis. (b) The procedure of terminal analysis (Hong et al., 2018).

VOI analysis has received increasing attention in the petroleum industry, especially in the field of geophysics (Eidsvik et al., 2008; Przybysz Jarnut et al., 2015; Trainor Guitton et al., 2014). Geophysical data provides important information for guiding oilfield exploration and development. However, the cost of seismic data acquisition is high. Therefore, it is becoming popular in the industry to use VOI analysis to help determine whether to

acquire seismic data. Houck (2004) introduced VOI analysis based on probability modeling in geophysics to evaluate the economic impact of geological data quality. Bickel et al. (2008) analyzed the reliability of seismic in the West Texas 3-D land survey to create more value. Dutta et al. (2019b) utilized the simulation-regression approach to approximate the value of geophysical information in the context of well placement. These applications show that VOI analysis could be part of the decision-making process.

5.3 Methodology

In the evaluation of geophysical information, the decision-related information is usually the seismic attribute, such as impedance (Dutta et al., 2019b; Trainor Guitton et al., 2011). A workflow (Figure 5.2) is proposed to incorporate different risk attitudes in the VOI analysis in the presence of geological uncertainty. This workflow consists of five main steps: (1) quantify geological uncertainty by multiple stochastic realizations; (2) simulate the corresponding geophysical attributes (impedance models) by rock physics analysis; (3) perform reservoir simulation to construct the economic models; (4) capture risk preferences in the decision-making process and VOI analysis by integrating utility theory; (5) approximate the VOI using the simulation-regression approach. Some important concepts and methods involved in this workflow will be described below.

5.3.1 Simulation-regression approach

The main challenge in VOI analysis is the estimation of PoV, especially the conditional expectation of PoV. The simulation-regression approach was proposed by Eidsvik et al. (2017) in the geophysical area. This technique aims to approximate the conditional expectation in the PoV using the regression method. In the simulation-regression approach, the conditional expectation in PoV is approximated by two major steps (Dutta et al., 2019a): Firstly, simulating future geophysical models and possible prospect values, and then regressing the information and the profits. The detailed steps involved in the simulation-regression workflow under the risk-neutral position are as follows:



Figure 5.2: A sketch of VOI approximation considering risk preferences in the presence of geological uncertainty.

- (a) Simulate an ensemble of geological models $\{g = g_n; n = 1, 2, ..., N\}$ using N realizations to transfer geological uncertainty.
- (b) Generate the synthetic impedance models $\{y = y_n; n = 1, 2, ..., N\}$ by rock physics analysis.
- (c) Perform reservoir simulation to obtain the profit values $v(g_n, d)$ from the alternative d and n-th geological model.

(c) Calculate the prior value (PV) based on maximizing the expected return over all the alternatives.

$$PV = \max_{d \in D} \left\{ \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} v\left(g_n, d\right) \right\}$$
(5.6)

(d) Regress between the impedance and the profit values. The regression values $\hat{v}(y_n, d)$ are able to approximate the inner conditional expectation in PoV:

$$\hat{v}(y_n, d) \approx E\left\{V\left(\boldsymbol{g}, d\right) \mid y_n\right\}$$
(5.7)

Substitute Equation 5.7 into Equation 5.4, the PoV could be approximated by the following equation.

$$PoV(\boldsymbol{y}) \approx \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \hat{v}(y_n, d)$$
(5.8)

(e) Calculate the VOI from the difference between the PoV and PV.

$$\operatorname{VOI}(\boldsymbol{y}) \approx \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \hat{v}(y_n, d) - \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \left\{ \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} v\left(g_n, d\right) \right\}$$
(5.9)

The simulation-regression approach provides a practical way to approximate VOI. The main idea of the simulation-regression approach is to approximate the conditional expectation in the PoV using the regression approach (Eidsvik et al., 2017). This idea was first proposed in medical decision-making to estimate the value of health data by Strong et al. (2014), the detailed proof could be found in Appendix A.3. Compared with other methods introduced in the literature review (Section 2.4), the simulation-regression approach is much more computationally efficient.

5.3.2 VOI analysis for different preferences

The traditional VOI analysis has the underlying assumption of a risk-neutral position. In order to capture different risk positions in the VOI analysis, the utility concept is integrated

into the VOI analysis (Equation 5.10), which gives a more robust definition of VOI.

$$VOI = \begin{bmatrix} Expected utility with \\ additional information \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} Expected utility without \\ additional information \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.10)

In this workflow, the profit values $v(g_n, d)$ are transferred to the utility values $v^u(g_n, d, r)$ using a utility function $U(\cdot)$ with a risk tolerance r, which could be given by:

$$v^{u}(g_{n}, d, r) = U(v(g_{n}, d), r)$$
(5.11)

The PV is calculated based on maximizing the expected utility over all the alternatives. Thus, the PV under the utility-scale is expressed below:

$$PV = \max_{d \in D} \left\{ \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} v^u \left(g_n, d, r \right) \right\}$$
(5.12)

The utility values and geophysical models are regressed to obtain the regression values $\hat{v}^u(y_n, d, r)$. It could approximate the conditional expected utility in the inner loop of PoV. Thus, the PoV under the utility-scale is approximated as:

$$\operatorname{PoV}(\boldsymbol{y}) \approx \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \hat{v}^{u} \left(y_{n}, d, r \right)$$
(5.13)

Thus, Equation 5.9 could be transferred to Equation 5.14. It is able to estimate the VOI with preferences taken into account, the preferences are quantified by the risk tolerance r in utility functions.

$$\operatorname{VOI}(\boldsymbol{y}) \approx \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \hat{v}^{u}(y_{n}, d, r) - \max_{d \in \boldsymbol{D}} \left\{ \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} v^{u}\left(g_{n}, d, r\right) \right\}$$
(5.14)

The main idea of this approach is to replace traditional economic models with utility models. It integrates the utility theory into the simulation-regression method, which can capture different risk positions in VOI analysis.

5.3.3 Partial least squares regression

The geophysical data and economical values are related in a very high dimension. Partial least squares regression (PLSR) has been adopted in the assessment of high dimensional information (Dutta et al., 2019b; Nocita et al., 2014). It is an approach that integrates the advantages of principal components analysis and multivariate regression (Abdi, 2003). This technique is particularly appropriate for a very large set of independent variables, it aims to maximize the correlation between the projection of predictors and projection of responses (Rosipal and Krämer, 2005). The PLSR model could be expressed by:

$$X = EP^T + R_x \tag{5.15}$$

$$Y = FQ^T + R_y \tag{5.16}$$

Where X is a matrix of predictors, Y is a matrix of responses. E and F are the projections of X and Y. P and Q matrices correspond to the loadings. R_x and R_y , respectively, refer to the matrices of residuals for X and Y. PLSR aims to develop a regression model between E and F, that is, $\{F = EB + R\}$, where B is the coefficient matrix, and R is the residual matrix. The latent variables E and F are computed by Xw and Yc, where w and c are the weight vectors with a unit length. They are determined by maximizing the covariance between E and F in Equation 5.17.

max:
$$\operatorname{Cov}(E, F) = \max: \operatorname{Cov}(Xw, Yc)$$
 (5.17)

This process could be sketched in Figure 5.3. It indicates the process of PLSR includes three main steps: Firstly, decompose the original predictors and responses, which should satisfy the maximum covariance between the decomposed latent variables, Secondly, perform least squares regression in a low-dimensional latent space. Lastly, the decomposed latent variables could transform into the original space using the loading matrixes. This PLSR approach would be employed in our research to approximate VOI under the simulation-regression approach.



Figure 5.3: A sketch of particle least square regression (Yoshida et al., 2017).

5.4 Synthetic example

A simple case study is shown below to illustrate the workflow of calculating the VOI, and the impacts of risk preferences in the VOI analysis (Figure 5.4). In the context of deciding to drill (d = 1) or not drill (d = 0) a well with an uncertain outcome (wet n = 1 and dry n = 0). People are planning to collect geophysical information to facilitate this decision making in well drilling, the information (y) only has two possible scenarios (positive polarity y = 1 or negative polarity y = 0). A simplified decision tree for this case study is shown in Figure 5.4, which includes all the given values in the VOI analysis. The geophysical information does not affect the outcome values under each decision scenario. The reason is that the subsurface reservoir exists without any uncertainty, the outcome values only rely on the different decisions rather than the information.

5.4.1 Workflow of VOI analysis in spatial decision situations

It is supposed that the investor has a risk-neutral position, the target of VOI analysis is to determine the amount of money that investors are willing to pay for the geophysical information. The prior value (PV) is the value without collecting the information, which could be calculated by maximizing the expected value over all the alternatives. The outcome of drilling the well: $E\{V(d = 1)\} = 3.2 \times 0.25 - 0.8 \times 0.75 = 0.2M$, and the outcome of giving up drilling: $E\{V(d = 0)\} = 1.0 \times 0.0 = 0.0M$. Thus, people would choose to drill



Figure 5.4: The simplified decision tree for VOI analysis (modified from Eidsvik et al. (2017)).

the well, and the PV is shown below:

$$PV = \max \left\{ E \left\{ V(d=1) \right\}, E \left\{ V(d=0) \right\} \right\}$$

= max{0.2, 0.0} (5.18)
= 0.2M

The posterior value (PoV) is the value with the consideration of information. The investors might make different decisions under each information scenario:

(a) If the seismic polarity is positive, p(y = 1) = 0.7. The outcome of drilling the well E{V(y = 1, d = 1)} = 3.2 × 0.1 − 0.8 × 0.9 = −0.4M, the outcome of giving up drilling the well: E{V(y = 1, d = 0)} = 0.0M. Thus, people would choose to walk away under in a situation of positive polarity, and the corresponding outcome v(y = 1) is:

$$v(y = 1) = \max\left\{ E\left\{ V(y = 1, d = 1) \right\}, E\left\{ V(y = 1, d = 0) \right\} \right\}$$

= max{-0.4,0}
=0.0M (5.19)

(b) If the seismic information has a negative polarity, p(y = 0) = 0.3. The outcome of drilling the well: $E\{V(y = 0, d = 1)\} = 3.2 \times 0.6 - 0.8 \times 0.4 = 1.6$ M. The outcome of giving up drilling the well: $E\{V(y = 0, d = 0)\} = 0.0$ M. Thus, people would choose to drill the well in a situation of negative polarity, and the corresponding outcome v(y = 0) is:

$$v(y = 0) = \max \left\{ E \left\{ V(y = 0, d = 1) \right\}, E \left\{ V(y = 0, d = 0) \right\} \right\}$$

= max{1.6, 0.0}
= 1.6M (5.20)

According to the investors' behavior in the possible information scenarios, the PoV is calculated by summing the conditional expectations over all the information scenarios.

$$PoV(\boldsymbol{y}) = p(y = 1) \times v(y = 1) + p(y = 0) \times v(y = 0)$$
$$= 0.7 \times 0.0 + 0.3 \times 1.6$$
(5.21)
$$= 0.48M$$

The VOI is defined as the difference between the PoV and PV. Thus, the value of geophysical information in this case study is given by the following:

$$VOI(\boldsymbol{y}) = PoV(\boldsymbol{y}) - PV = 0.28M$$
(5.22)

The result of VOI should be compared with the cost of acquiring this information. It indicates that risk-neutral people will collect the seismic if the cost is below 0.28M.

5.4.2 Impacts of risk positions in VOI analysis

Most investors are sensitive to the risk in practical applications, in this example, the exponential utility function is utilized to capture investors' tendency to risk. Suppose the investors are risk-averse with a risk tolerance of r = 0.5, the monetary values could be transferred into utility values, including u(d = 1, n = 1) = 1.6, u(d = 1, n = 0) = -0.98, and u(d = 0) = 0.0. Therefore, based on the maximizing of expected utility in decision analysis, the PV is expressed in Equation 5.23. The result implies that people would not choose to drill the well when there is no additional information available.

$$PV = \max\left\{E\left\{U(d=1)\right\}, E\left\{U(d=0)\right\}\right\}$$
$$= \max\{0.25 \times 1.6 - 0.75 \times 0.98, 0.0\}$$
(5.23)
$$=0.0$$

In the calculation of PoV (Eqaution 5.13), investors will make different decisions under each possible information (positive polarity or negative polarity), which is summarized below:

(a) If the seismic polarity is positive, people would choose to give up drilling the wells.

$$u(y = 1) = \max\left\{ E\left\{ U(y = 1, d = 1) \right\}, E\left\{ U(y = 1, d = 0) \right\} \right\}$$
$$= \max\{1.6 \times 0.1 - 0.98 \times 0.9, 0.0\}$$
$$= 0.0$$
(5.24)

(b) If the seismic polarity is negative, people would choose to drill the wells.

$$u(y = 0) = \max\left\{ E\left\{ U(y = 0, d = 1) \right\}, E\left\{ U(y = 0, d = 0) \right\} \right\}$$
$$= \max\{1.6 \times 0.6 - 0.98 \times 0.4, 0.0\}$$
(5.25)
$$= 0.568$$

Based on the choices in each possible information scenario, the PoV for the investors in a risk-averse position (r = 0.5) is calculated as follows:

$$PoV(\boldsymbol{y}) = p(y = 1) \times u(y = 1) + p(y = 0) \times u(y = 0)$$
$$= 0.7 \times 0.0 + 0.3 \times 0.568$$
(5.26)
$$= 0.17$$

The value of geophysical information for the risk-averse investors (r = 0.5) is expressed:

$$VOI(\boldsymbol{y}) = PoV(\boldsymbol{y}) - PV = 0.17$$
(5.27)

Thus, the geophysical data would be worth collecting when the utility of seismic is less than 0.17. It is supposed that the cost of collecting seismic is 0.2M, the risk-neutral investors would collect it (VOI > 0.2), while risk-averse people (r = 0.5) will give it away (VOI < U(0.2)). The result indicates that different attitudes would impact the value of geophysical information, which leads to the change of decisions related to collecting information.

5.5 Conclusion

VOI is an estimate of the value of decision-related information. In order to investigate the effect of risk preferences in the VOI analysis, a workflow to approximate VOI considering different risk preferences in the presence of geological uncertainty is proposed. This work-flow employs an ensemble of realizations to capture geological uncertainty, and the utility theory is integrated into the simulation-regression approach to approximate VOI. This work-flow would enhance the VOI analysis by considering different risk positions. Additionally, a simple example is utilized to demonstrate the workflow of VOI analysis in spatial decision situations, and the impact of different risk positions in VOI analysis is also presented. The result indicates that different attitudes in the VOI analysis might produce different decisions about gathering information. The robust VOI analysis should take risk preferences into account in spatial decision situations with uncertain outcomes.

CHAPTER 6

APPLICATION: RESERVOIR DECISION MAKING

Seeking the optimal production strategy is an essential step in hydrocarbon reservoir development. It is challenging as high risk is often involved due to the complex subsurface and limited information. Thus, the petroleum industry has become increasingly concerned with risk management when designing production strategies in the presence of geological uncertainty. This chapter is focused on the application of the downside-risk approach in the design of production strategy, which will be illustrated from two aspects: decision optimization (MLU optimization) and decision selection (MLU model). The downside-risk approach is applied in the context of well placement optimization and drilling order selection, respectively. The comparison between the downside-risk approach and mean-variance approach is demonstrated in these cases, and the impact of risk attitudes on decision analysis is also presented.

6.1 Introduction

Reservoir decision making is one of the most crucial tasks in the petroleum industry. It often involves high risk in the presence of geological uncertainty due to a limited understanding of the subsurface reservoir. In many petroleum applications, the decision criterion is based on a mean-variance criterion or maximizing risk-adjusted value. These approaches utilize variance to measure risk, and they are performed under the expected utility framework. However, variance is often considered inadequate to assess risk, as investors only dislike the downside volatility below a certain benchmark. The downside-risk approach has been documented in Chapter 4 from the aspects of decision optimization (MLU optimization) and decision selection (MLU model). In this approach, the lower partial variance is utilized to quantify risk by only penalizing the downside volatility, which is consistent

with investors' behavior in decision making. In this chapter, the downside-risk approach is applied in the design of production strategies of a synthetic reservoir model with the consideration of spatial heterogeneity. It is illustrated in the context of well placement optimization (decision optimization) and drilling order selection (decision selection), respectively. The observation implies that the downside-risk approach outperforms the mean-variance approach because it is able to improve reservoir decision making by explicitly assessing risk.

6.2 Decision making in well placement optimization

This section will demonstrate the application of MLU optimization in decision making. It is illustrated in the context of well placement optimization, and the difference between the mean-variance optimization and MLU optimization is also discussed.

6.2.1 Background

Consider a 2-D channelized reservoir $(1200m \times 1200m)$ that has been produced for 2 years with 3 wells, including 2 injection wells (I1, I2) and 1 production well (P1) (Figure 6.1). It is planned to drill other 4 infill wells, including 3 production wells (P2, P3, P4) and 1 injection well (I4), to increase the oil production for the next 8 years. The well plan is to be optimized by maximizing the expected utility over the total producing life of 10 years.



Figure 6.1: The location of predrilled exploration wells.

All of these exploration wells are drilled in the channelized sandstone, and the detailed information of these exploration wells is shown in Table 6.1. It is assumed the porosity in the channelized sandstone is between 15% to 30%, and permeability in this depositional environment is distributed between 30mD to 1000mD. In the floodplain mudstone, the porosity has a distribution between 10% to 14%, and permeability ranges from 1.5mD to 25mD. During development, the injection wells keep a constant rate control of $70m^3/day$, and the production well has a constant bottom hole pressure of 3.9×10^7 Pa. All the infill wells are drilled at the same time in this example.

	I1	I2	P1
Well type	Injection well	Injection well	Production well
Well constraint	$70 \mathrm{m}^3/\mathrm{day}$	$70 \mathrm{m}^3/\mathrm{day}$	$3.9 imes 10^7 \mathrm{Pa}$
Facies	Channel	Channel	Channel
Rock type	Sandstone	Sandstone	Sandstone
Porosity	24%	28%	18%
Permeability	80mD	316mD	32mD

Table 6.1: Summary of the information from exploration wells.

Multiple equiprobable realizations are generated by stochastic simulation to characterize the geological uncertainty (Figure 6.2). An ensemble of 100 realizations of lithofacies is simulated using the SNESIM program with a multi-point geostatistical algorithm (Liu, 2006; Strebelle, 2002). The training image in reservoir modeling originates from the channelized depositional environment with two distinct facies, channel and floodplain. Next, the porosity and permeability are simulated conditioned to the facies using the sequential Gaussian simulation (SGS) by the GSLIB-style program USGSIM (Manchuk and Deutsch, 2012). These petrophysical properties have a correlation of 0.6 in this example. Finally, the initial water saturation is modelled using the petrophysical models based on the relationship from Leverett J-function (Leverett et al., 1942; Yin et al., 2020).



Figure 6.2: Three representative realizations of (a) Lithofacies (code 1 is channelized sand and code 2 is floodplain mud), (b) Porosity, (c) Permeability (millidarcy on a logarithmic scale), and (d) Water saturation. The blue dots are predrilled injection wells, and the red dot is the predrilled production well.

Ideally, all the realizations should be considered to capture the geological uncertainty. However, it is computationally expensive to optimize the production strategy over a large set of realizations by flow simulations (Nwachukwu et al., 2018; Shirangi and Durlofsky, 2016). In order to improve the computational efficiency, 20 representative realizations are selected based on the similarity of simulation models (Figure 6.3). It is conducted by applying multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) and distance-based clustering in the simulation models (Mahjour et al., 2020; Yousefzadeh et al., 2021).



Figure 6.3: The result of realization reduction. The two axes are arbitrary coordinates from MDS.

6.2.2 Workflow

This case study illustrates the application of the downside-risk approach in well placement optimization. A schematic of the proposed workflow to manage risk in well placement optimization is shown in Figure 6.4. The workflow is outlined below:

- (a) Determine the candidate wells {d = w_i; i = 1, 2, ..., 8}, where i is the index of wells. {w_i; i = 1, 2, 3, 4} are constants to represent the locations of predrilled wells {P1, I1, I2, I3}, and {w_i; i = 5, 6, 7, 8} are locations to be optimized for infill wells {P2, P3, P4, I4}.
- (b) Employ multiple realizations (g) to transfer the geological uncertainty. In order to improve computational efficiency in the well placement optimization, the selected representative realizations are utilized in this example.

(c) Set up the economic model $v(\cdot)$ for the well plan d under a determined geological model g_n . The economic model is composed of the revenue from oil production, the cost from water injection/production, and the cost from drilling the wells.

$$v(g_n, d) = \sum_{t=1}^{T} \frac{p_o Q_t^o(g_n, d) - \left(p_w^p Q_t^{w, p}(g_n, d) + p_w^i Q_t^{w, i}(g_n, d)\right)}{(1 + r_d)^t} - C_w$$
(6.1)

Where T - total production time (years), r_d - discount factor (%), C_w - total cost to drill the wells (\$), Q_t^o - total volumes of oil at time t in units of stock tank barrel (STB), p_o - oil price (\$/STB), $Q_t^{w,p}$ - total volumes of water produced at time t (STB), $Q_t^{w,i}$ - total volumes of water injected at time t (STB). p_w^p - water production cost (\$/STB), and p_w^i -the water injection cost (\$/STB).

(d) Transfer the profit distribution into expected utility. The profit distribution comes from the economic models of multiple realizations.

$$E\{U(V(\boldsymbol{g},d))\} = E\{V(\boldsymbol{g},d),v_0\} - \frac{LPM_2\{V(\boldsymbol{g},d),v_0\}}{\tau_-} + \frac{UPM_2\{V(\boldsymbol{g},d),v_0\}}{\tau_+}$$
(6.2)

Where $V(\boldsymbol{g}, d) = \{v(g_n, d); n = 1, 2, \dots, N\}$ is the profit distribution over the N representative realizations for the well plan d. v_0 denotes the predefined benchmark.

(e) Optimize the well plan by maximizing the expected utility from Equation 6.2, which is called the MLU optimization.

$$d_0 = \underset{d \in S}{\operatorname{argmax}} E\{U(V(\boldsymbol{g}, d))\}$$
(6.3)

Subject to:

$$\left\|w_i - w_j\right\| > w_0^{\min} \text{ and } i \neq j$$
 (6.4)

Where d_0 is the optimal production strategy, and S is the study area. w_0^{\min} denotes the minimum spacing between wells, which is 150m in this case study. $\|\cdot\|$ is the operator that computes the Euclidean distance.

(f) Perform sensitivity analysis to investigate the impact of attitudes, and make a comparison between the MLU optimization (Equations 6.2 and 6.3) and mean-variance optimization (Equation 4.2) in well placement.

Additionally, the risk tolerance τ_+/τ_- (MLU optimization) and r (mean-variance optimization) could reflect investors' acceptable level of risk in decision analysis with uncertain outcomes. The values of these parameters are related to the monetary units, and they could be obtained through questionnaires or interviews (Walls, 2005a). However, when there is no opportunity to conduct these surveys, the sensitivity analysis is often performed to investigate the impact of preferences in decision making. In this example, two particular sets of risk tolerance values are utilized to capture investors' different preferences in meanvariance optimization and MLU optimization.



Figure 6.4: A sketch of the workflow for the MLU optimization in decision making.

6.2.3 Results

MATLAB Reservoir Simulation Toolbox (MRST) is utilized to perform the reservoir simulation, which is an open-source toolbox developed by SINTEF (Lie, 2019). The detailed economic parameters and simulation parameters are shown in Table 6.2 and Table 6.3, respectively. The particle swarm optimization (PSO) algorithm is employed in this example to identify the optimal well locations, which is a metaheuristic algorithm inspired by the social behavior of birds. This algorithm was developed by Eberhart and Kennedy (1995) and has been widely applied in well placement (Afshari et al., 2014; Harb et al., 2020; Nwankwor et al., 2013). The PSO algorithm is different from classic optimization approaches, like gradient descent, in that the objective function is not required to be differentiable. The modified particle swarm optimization (MPSO) algorithm is proposed by Tian and Shi (2018), it improves the PSO algorithm to achieve a balance between the exploration and exploitation (Ding et al., 2014). Using the same swarm population size (20) and a maximum number of iterations (120), the convergence plot based on the PSO algorithm and MPSO algorithm in the risk-neutral position is shown in Figure 6.5. The result indicates that the PSO algorithm has a premature convergence and is quickly trapped in the local optima. While the optimization based on the MPSO algorithm converges to a larger value, which implies this algorithm has a stronger ability to escape local optimum. Therefore, the MPSO algorithm will be employed for the following well placement optimization to investigate the impact of different risk attitudes.



Figure 6.5: The convergence plot of PSO and MPSO in a risk-neutral position.

-

Parameter	Value
Oil price	60\$/STB
Water price	6.0\$/STB
Water injection cost	7.0\$/STB
Discount factor	10%
Well drilling cost	1×10^6 \$

 Table 6.2: Economic parameters in the well placement.

 Table 6.3: General simulation information in the well placement.

Parameter	Value
Number of grids	$30 \times 30 \times 1$
Grid size	$40\text{m} \times 40\text{m} \times 40\text{m}$
Phases	Water (W) and oil (O) phase
Fluid densities (WO)	$1000 \mathrm{Kg/m^3}, 700 \mathrm{Kg/m^3}$
Fluid viscosities (WO)	1cp, 5cp
Rock compressibility	$1\times 10^{-13} \mathrm{Pa}^{-1}$
Initial reservoir pressure	$4 imes 10^7 \mathrm{Pa}$
Injection well	$70 \mathrm{m}^3/\mathrm{day}$
Production well	$3.9 imes 10^7 \mathrm{Pa}$
Production life	10 years
The optimization results of mean-variance optimization and MLU optimization are shown from Figure 6.6 to Figure 6.10. In these two approaches, the optimal production strategies are designed based on different preferences. It can be observed that the deployment of development wells is placed in a grid map of the average permeability models, and the profit value from each representative realization is displayed in the histogram. The result in the risk-neutral position (Figure 6.6) shows a larger expected profit (1.14×10^7 \$) than the results in other risk positions. It indicates risk-neutral investors aim to design a production strategy with the largest expected return in these two approaches.



Figure 6.6: Results of a risk-neutral position. (a) The optimal well locations. (b) The profit distribution from representative realizations.

Figure 6.7 and Figure 6.8 display the optimal production strategy and profit distribution of the mean-variance optimization for different risk positions. The variance is treated as the measure of risk in this mean-variance approach. The production strategy under a risk-averse position $(r = 1 \times 10^{-7})$ indicates decision-makers might reduce the variance by decreasing the upside volatility. It has a smaller variance compared with other risk positions. For the opportunity-seeking position $(r = -1 \times 10^{-7})$, investors might seek some undesirable scenarios (negative NPV) to increase the variance. It often has a larger variance compared with other risk positions. Results from the mean-variance approach are inconsistent with investors' behavior, as people only dislike the downside risk. In practice, they would not pursue these negative values in an opportunity-seeking position, and the downside risk has not been significantly reduced in a risk-averse position using the mean-variance optimization.



Figure 6.7: Results of a risk-averse position in the mean-variance optimization. (a) The optimal well locations. (b) The profit distribution from representative realizations.



Figure 6.8: Results of an opportunity-seeking position in the mean-variance optimization. (a) The optimal well locations. (b) The profit distribution from representative realizations.

The optimal production strategies and profit distribution under the MLU optimization are shown in Figure 6.9 and Figure 6.10. The lower partial variance is employed as the measure of risk in this approach, and the red dotted line $(1.14 \times 10^7 \$)$ is regarded as the benchmark for the downside risk and upside potential. It can be observed that, compared with the risk-neutral position, the lower partial variance is significantly reduced in the riskaverse position ($\tau_{-} = 1 \times 10^5$, $\tau_{+} = 1 \times 10^8$). In the opportunity-seeking position ($\tau_{-} = 1 \times 10^8$, $\tau_{+} = 1 \times 10^5$), the result indicates the upside volatility from this position is obviously larger than other risk positions, because investors are only interested in the upside potential. Therefore, this approach is more consistent with investors' behavior than the mean-variance optimization.



Figure 6.9: Result of a risk-averse position in the MLU optimization. (a) The optimal well locations. (b) The profit distribution from representative realizations.



Figure 6.10: Results of an opportunity-seeking position in the MLU optimization. (a) The optimal well locations. (b) The profit distribution from representative realizations.

The result from Figure 6.6 indicates that the worst and the best scenario in a risk-neutral position are realization 14 and realization 8, respectively. In the presence of geological uncertainty, compared with the production strategy from a risk-neutral position (Figure 6.11a), investors who have a risk-averse position ($\tau_{-} = 1 \times 10^{5}$, $\tau_{+} = 1 \times 10^{8}$) would prefer the production strategy in Figure 6.11b. It can be seen that the production strategy under the risk-averse position would become more beneficial in realization 14, those investors want to maximize safety and improve some bad outcomes. Similarly, the production strategy in the best scenario (realization 8) under a risk-neutral position (Figure 6.11c) would be further improved by the decision-makers who have an opportunity-seeking posi-

tion ($\tau_{-} = 1 \times 10^{8}, \tau_{+} = 1 \times 10^{5}$) in Figure 6.11d, because opportunity-seeking investors would pay more attention to higher returns.



Figure 6.11: Production strategies from different preferences in a determined realization. (a) The risk-neutral position in realization 14. (b) The risk-averse position in realization 14. (c) The risk-neutral position in realization 8. (d) The opportunity-seeking position in realization 8. The grid maps are the permeability models on a logarithmic scale.

6.3 Decision making in drilling order selection

This section is used to illustrate the application of the MLU model in the production strategies selection. The difference between the MLU model and mean-variance model is also compared by applying them in the context of drilling order selection.

6.3.1 Background

Consider a 2-D reservoir model with two-phase (oil and water) flow in the background of channel sedimentation. The reservoir has been developed for two years with three wells, including two production wells and one water injection well. The production well has a constant bottom hole pressure of 3.9×10^7 Pa, and the injection well has a constant volume

of water of $70\text{m}^3/\text{day}$. Now, it is planning to drill another four infill wells to increase the production, and the locations of these wells are shown in Figure 6.12. These four infill wells are drilled sequentially, with the interval between every two wells being six months. The target of this case study is to select the optimal drilling order from the total production life of 10 years.



Figure 6.12: The well locations in the drilling order selection.

The drilling order for these four infill wells would involve a total of 24 options, as shown in Figure 6.13. In each strategy, the uncertainties associated with multiple geological conditions are transmitted through multiple equiprobable geological models, and these geological realizations are assumed to be matched with the production data. In order to determine the optimal drilling order from the 24 alternatives, the manager would consider the trade-offs between risks and rewards to make a decision.

Choice	Drilling order	Choice	Drilling order	Choice	Drilling order	Choice	Drilling order
d_1	P3→I3→P2→P4	d_7	P3→I3→P4→P2	d_{13}	P3→P4→I3→P2	d ₁₉	P4→P3→I3→P2
d_2	P3→P2→I3→P4	d_8	P3→P2→P4→I3	d_{14}	P3→P4→P2→I3	d_{20}	P4→P3→P2→I3
d_3	I3→P3→P2→P4	d_9	I3→P3→P4→P2	d_{15}	I3→P4→P3→P2	d_{21}	P4→I3→P3→P2
d_4	I3→P2→P3→P4	d_{10}	I3→P2→P4→P3	d_{16}	I3→P4→P2→P3	d_{22}	P4→I3→P2→P3
d_5	P2→P3→I3→P4	d_{11}	P2→P3→P4→I3	d_{17}	P2→P4→P3→I3	d ₂₃	P4→P2→P3→I3
d_6	P2→I3→P3→P4	d_{12}	P2→I3→P4→P3	d_{18}	P2→P4→I3→P3	d_{24}	P4→P2→I3→P3

Figure 6.13: A list of alternatives in the drilling order selection.

6.3.2 Workflow

This case study is utilized to illustrate the application of the MLU model in the drilling order selection. The main difference between the drilling order selection and well placement optimization is that we could enumerate all the alternatives. The workflow for decision selection based on MLU model is shown in Figure 6.14 and outlined in detail below:

- (a) Enumerate all the alternatives D. There are 24 alternatives for the design of well drilling order in this case study (Figure 6.13).
- (b) Simulate an ensemble of realizations {g = g_n; n = 1, 2, ..., N} to transfer the geological uncertainty. Usually, the decision selection has a limited number of alternatives, which is much more computationally efficient than the decision optimization.
- (c) Set up the economical models {v(g_n, d); n = 1, 2, ..., N; d ∈ D} using reservoir simulation from geological models.
- (d) Construct the MLU model based on the mean, lower partial variance, and upper partial variance from the profit distributions of 24 alternatives. For a given drilling order *d*, these parameters are calculated below:

$$E\{V(\boldsymbol{g},d)\} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} v(g_n,d)$$
(6.5)

$$LPM_2\left(V(\boldsymbol{g}, d), v_0\right) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left(\min\left[v(g_n, d) - v_0, 0\right]\right)^2$$
(6.6)

$$UPM_2\left(V(\boldsymbol{g}, d), v_0\right) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left(\max\left[v(g_n, d) - v_0, 0\right]\right)^2$$
(6.7)

- (e) Select the optimal decisions based on the efficient frontier in the MLU model.
- (f) Compare the optimal alternatives from the efficient frontier of mean-variance model and MLU model.



Figure 6.14: A sketch of workflow for the MLU model in decision making.

6.3.3 Results

Different drilling orders in various geological scenarios lead to the change of profit values. The profit distribution for each decision is available from the reservoir simulation of 100 realizations. Figure 6.15 provides a boxplot of profit distributions for the set of alternatives. The profit distributions from different alternatives overlap each other, and they are mainly distributed between 0.75×10^7 to 1.5×10^7 . The red dotted line $(1.14 \times 10^7$ s) is regarded as the truncation between risk and potential, the profits from multiple realizations in all the alternatives are distributed around the given benchmark.



Figure 6.15: The boxplot of profit distributions from different drilling orders.

The expectations and variances from profit distributions involved in the different drilling orders are plotted in Figure 6.16. According to the mean-variance criterion, the optimal decisions on the efficient frontier often have a smaller variance or a larger expectation. It can be observed that the efficient frontier in the mean-variance model is made up of 8 alternatives: d_4 , d_{10} , d_{16} , d_{22} , d_{24} , and d_{20} (Figure 6.16). However, the mean-variance model has limited ability for comparing alternatives according to previous theoretical examples. The MLU model is constructed in Figure 6.17 based on the mean, lower partial variance, and upper partial variance. The dots in this model represents the 24 alternatives for different drilling order, the optimal alternatives are in the efficient frontier based on the rules in the MLU model.



Figure 6.16: The efficient frontier in the mean-variance model.

However, it is difficult to determine the efficient frontier and optimal alternatives from a visual inspection of the MLU model (Figure 6.17). The MLU dominance matrix is designed to reflect the dominant relationship between every two decisions (Figure 6.18). The blue block indicates the alternative in the row is dominated by the other alternative in the column, and the grey block implies there is no dominance between the alternatives. It can be observed that all the blocks on the column of alternatives d_{20} and d_{24} are grey, which indicates these strategies are undominated by other alternatives. Since the optimal decisions on the efficient frontier should not be dominated by any other decisions, the alternatives d_{20} and d_{24} are identified as the optimal projects based on the rules of the MLU model.

There are six optimal alternatives identified from the efficient frontier of the meanvariance model: d_4 , d_{10} , d_{16} , d_{22} , d_{24} , and d_{20} . But it can be seen from Figure 6.19 that d_4 , d_{10} , d_{16} and d_{22} are worse than d_{24} . Because these alternatives have smaller expectations, larger downside volatility and smaller upside volatility than d_{24} . Therefore, some preference relationships are not identified in the mean-variance model. While in the MLU model, only d_{24} and d_{20} are both on the efficient frontier (Figure 6.17). Although d_{24} has a larger expected value and a larger upside volatility than the d_{20} , the lower partial variance of d_{24} is also larger than the d_{20} . Therefore, compared with the mean-variance model, the MLU model excludes some unreasonable choices, which enhances decision analysis in the presence of geological uncertainty.



Figure 6.17: The MLU model of the drilling order selection.



Figure 6.18: The MLU dominance matrix of the drilling order selection.



Figure 6.19: The parameters of optimal alternatives in the mean-variance model.

6.4 Conclusion

In this chapter, the downside-risk approach is applied to design production strategies in the context of decision optimization and decision selection. The first example is the well placement optimization with a consideration of spatial heterogeneity under geological uncertainty, the expected utility framework is utilized as the decision criterion to incorporate risk attitudes, and the measure of risk is based on the lower partial variance, which improves the well placement by explicitly assessing risk. The result indicates that the optimum well placement could be affected by different risk positions on the downside risk and upside potential. Investors with a risk-neutrality always prefer the production strategy with a larger expected profit, people with a risk-averse position are likely to choose the decision with a smaller lower partial variance, and investors who have an opportunity-seeking position might tend to the well locations with a larger upper partial variance. The mean-variance optimization and MLU optimization are also compared in this example. Since the investors only dislike the downside volatility, which indicates that the mean-variance optimization over-penalized the high values in the risk-averse position. Thus, the lower partial variance is more robust than the variance as a measure of risk. The MLU optimization is more consistent with investors' behaviors, and it is outperformed the mean-variance optimization in well placement optimization.

The second example is related to the drilling order selection. Since the mean-variance criterion is often utilized in the petroleum industry to select the production strategy in the presence of geological uncertainty, variance is considered inadequate to assess risk as people only dislike the volatility below a certain level. In Chapter 4, a high-dimensional MLU model is proposed to facilitate decision-making by an explicit risk. This model utilized the lower partial variance to qualify the measure of risk, and the set of optimal alternatives could be identified based on the efficient frontier. In this chapter, the MLU model is applied in the drilling order selection in the presence of geological uncertainty. The observation implies that both decision models do not always help us to find the best single alternatives. Compared with the mean-variance model, the MLU model is able to reduce the number of optimal alternatives by excluding some unfavorable alternatives. Therefore, the chance of obtaining better results is increased in the drilling order selection by employing the MLU model with an explicit consideration of risk.

CHAPTER 7

APPLICATION: VALUE OF GEOPHYSICAL INFORMATION ANALYSIS

Geophysical information is valuable in the design of production strategies in oilfield development. Since the value of geophysical information is often analyzed in the underlying assumption of a risk-neutral position, a framework is proposed to capture different risk positions in the VOI analysis. It is implemented by integrating utility theory into the simulationregression approach. This framework has been discussed in Chapter 5. In this chapter, we will focus on the application of the proposed workflow to some practical problems, and the impact of different preferences in VOI analysis is also discussed. It will be illustrated through a case study of evaluating geophysical information in the context of production strategies selection.

7.1 Introduction

Geophysical data provides important information to improve the understanding of the subsurface geological model. Before collecting geophysical information, VOI analysis is often performed to evaluate the worth of the information (Bratvold et al., 2009; Eidsvik et al., 2015b; Trainor Guitton et al., 2014). However, VOI is often calculated from the difference between the expected value of the posterior value (PoV) and the prior value (PV), which has the underlying assumption of a risk-neutral position. A practical workflow for effective integration of different preferences in the VOI analysis in the presence of geological uncertainty is demonstrated in Chapter 5. This workflow consists of five main steps: (1) employ multiple geological models to transfer geological uncertainty, (2) simulate the geophysical information from rock physics analysis, (3) construct economic models under the given production strategies, (4) convert economic models to utility models to capture preferences, and (5) approximate VOI for different risk positions by using the simulationregression approach. The main goal of this workflow is to combine utility functions into the simulation-regression approach. The utility function quantitatively measures the satisfaction of decision-makers, it is a useful tool under the expected utility framework to capture risk attitudes in the decision-making process. The simulation-regression approach is proposed by Bratvold et al. (2009) to approximate the posterior value in the VOI analysis. In this chapter, a case study is presented to demonstrate the implementation of the proposed workflow. It is applied to evaluate the geophysical information in the context of production strategies selection. The impact of different risk positions in the VOI analysis will also be demonstrated in this case study.

7.2 Value of geophysical information

This section will demonstrate the application of VOI analysis for different risk positions. The impact of preferences will be discussed by evaluating the value of geophysical information in the context of production strategies selection.

7.2.1 Problem formulation

Consider a 2-D channelized reservoir that will be produced for 10 years. It has been under production for 2 years with one producer and two injectors (Figure 7.1). The three exploration wells in Figure 7.1a are drilled in the channel. The detailed information of these exploration wells is shown in Table 7.1. During the development of oilfield, the injection wells keep a constant rate control with $70m^3/day$, and the production well has a constant bottom hole pressure of 3.9×10^7 Pa. In order to increase the oil production, four infill wells are planned to drill in the location shown in Figure 7.1b. It is supposed that all the infill wells are drilled at the same time in this example. However, there is great uncertainty involved in the subsurface, which leads to the two alternatives (D1, D2) in the oilfield development: (1) D1 refers to drilling the infill wells; (2) D2 represents the infill wells are not drilled. Before making the decision, investors are planning to collect the geophysical information to facilitate this decision making. Thus, the target of this example is to evaluate the value of geophysical information in the context of production strategy selection considering different risk positions.



Figure 7.1: The locations of producers and injectors in different production strategies. (a) The alternative D1. (b) The alternative D2.

	I1	I2	P1
Well location	(300m, 1008m)	(984m, 960m)	(480m, 540m)
Porosity	24%	28%	18%
Permeability	80mD	316mD	32mD
Lithofacies	Channelized sandstone	Channelized sandstone	Channelized sandstone

Table 7.1: The table summarizes the information from exploration wells.

7.2.2 Data modeling

The data in VOI analysis mainly includes geological models, geophysical models, and economic models. They are modeled based on the observed data from limited wells, which would be described below:

Firstly, an ensemble of geological models is generated from stochastic simulation to capture the geological uncertainty (Figure 7.2). The multiple-point geostatistical algorithm is utilized to model the depositional facies spatial heterogeneity. The petrophysical models, porosity and permeability, are simulated within the constraint of depositional facies using the USGSIM program. This program allows enables the cosimulation of multiple variables within different rock types (Manchuk and Deutsch, 2012).



Figure 7.2: Three realizations each of: (a) Lithofacies (code 1 is channelized sand and code 2 is floodplain mud). (b) Porosity. (c) Permeability (millidarcy on a logarithmic scale).

Next, the possible seismic responses could be generated using the simulated geological models. The synthetic geophysical information is closely related to the reservoir properties, such as acoustic impedance. It often has a negative correlation with porosity and permeability (Mavko et al., 2020; Pyrcz and Deutsch, 2014). The synthetic impedance is generated using the program PEM_3D, which is based on Gassmann's theory to construct the petrophysical elastic model (Hadavand and Deutsch, 2015). The synthetic seismic attributes are upscaled to be consistent with the geophysical sampling interval, and then the upscaled seismic attributes are smoothed using the moving window average, as shown in Figure 7.3.



Figure 7.3: Three realizations of synthetic acoustic impedance.

The net present value (NPV) is calculated by conducting flow simulation to measure the performance of the reservoir. The prior NPV distributions of these two alternatives are shown in Figure 7.4, these distributions are calculated before collecting information, that is, these NPV distributions are generated without considering future information. It is obvious that alternative D1 has a larger expected NPV than alternative D2. Thus, investors with a risk-neutral position would select the alternative D1 if we do not collect the information.



Figure 7.4: The prior distribution of these two alternatives.

Finally, all the monetary values are converted to a utility-scale using the exponential utility function. The decision-making process is based on maximizing the expected utility, and the VOI is also calculated under the utility-scale. The effect of risk attitudes on the VOI analysis also will be investigated by performing sensitivity analysis of risk tolerance in the following Subsection 7.2.4.

7.2.3 Partial least square regression

Partial least square regression (PLSR) is employed in the simulation-regression approach. PLSR is a multivariate regression approach aiming to maximize the correlation from decomposed matrixes from projections of predictor and projections of responses (Dutta et al., 2019b; Meacham Hensold et al., 2019; Tantishaiyakul et al., 2006). The quality of the PLSR model can be evaluated from the mean square error (MSE) by implementing k-fold cross-validation. It can be observed that as the number of principal components increases, MSE first decreases and then gradually increases. The number of principal components to minimize the MSE could be found in Figure 7.5. It indicates 9 principal components in the regression model could bring the minimum MSE in the alternative D1, and the optimum number of principal components is 12 in the alternative D2.



Figure 7.5: Relationship between MSE and number of principal components under a risk-neutral position. (a) The alternative D1. (b) The alternative D2.

The data set is split into training and test sets. The training set is used to fit regression models with the optimum number of principal components, and the test set is utilized to evaluate the performance of the regression models. The scatter plot in Figure 7.6 shows the relationship between observed values from the test sets and predicted values from PLSR regression. It can be seen that the dots distribute symmetrically around a 45-degree diagonal. After constructing these regression models, the conditional expectation in the PoV would be approximated using these regression values.



Figure 7.6: Scatter plot of fitted values vs observed values under the risk-neutral position for two different alternatives. (a) The alternative D1. (b) The alternative D2.

7.2.4 VOI analysis for different risk positions

The profit distributions are normalized between 0 to 1, and then transferred into the utilityscale (Figure 7.7). In the normalized space, the utility values are also scaled between 0 and 1, which is consistent with the range of the normalized monetary values. Since the number of realizations is limited, the uncertainty in the VOI analysis could be captured by the bootstrap analysis (Dutta et al., 2019b; Eidsvik et al., 2017). It can be observed that different risk positions will affect the investors' decision about the gathering of seismic. Assuming the cost of information (COI) is 3.6×10^{-3} (or 2.7×10^{5} \$), it is a normalized value that needs to be transferred into the utility-scale in different risk positions. The seismic would be worth collecting when EU(VOI) > U(COI).

The result in Figure 7.8 indicates that the decision about collecting or giving up gathering information would be impacted by the preferences on risk. Investors with the risk tolerance of r = 0 and r = 1 are not willing to collect the seismic, because the expected utility of VOI, EU(VOI), is less than the utility value of information cost U(COI). But when the risk tolerance r = -1, investors would prefer to collect the impedance information as it has a larger expected utility of VOI, that is, EU(VOI) > U(COI).



Figure 7.7: The utility distributions for alternatives over different risk positions. (a) The risk-averse position (r = 1). (b) The risk-neutral position (r = 0). (c) The opportunity-seeking position (r = -1).



Figure 7.8: The VOI distributions for alternatives over different risk positions. (a) The risk-averse position (r = 1). (b) The risk-neutral position (r = 0). (c) The opportunity-seeking position (r = -1).

It can be observed from Figure 7.9a that with the increase of risk tolerance, both U(COI)and EU(VOI) become smaller. The result in Figure 7.9b indicates that investors who are not sensitive to the risk (r is close to zero) are not willing to collect the seismic, because the expected utility of VOI is less than the utility value of seismic cost. But investors who are sensitive to the risk (r is much greater or smaller than zero) prefer to collect the impedance information as it has a larger expected utility of VOI.



Figure 7.9: The result of VOI analysis for different risk positions. (a) The plot of U(COI) and EU(VOI). (b) The plot of difference between EU(VOI) and U(COI).

7.3 Conclusion

VOI analysis is an estimate of the additional value from decision-related information. To investigate the impact of risk appetite in VOI analysis, a workflow for approximating the VOI considering different risk positions in the presence of geological uncertainties is proposed in Chapter 5. This workflow integrates utility theory into the simulation-regression approach to approximate the VOI. The utility theory takes different risk attitudes into account in the decision analysis, and the simulation-regression approach is an efficient technique 1 to approximate the VOI. In this Chapter, the proposed workflow is applied in a 2-D channelized reservoir to evaluate geophysical information in the context of selecting optimal production strategies. The partial least square regression is employed in the simulation-regression approach to approximate the conditional expectation of the PoV. The impact of risk preferences is analyzed by performing sensitivity analysis to the risk tolerance, which provides useful insight for decision-makers in the VOI analysis. The result indicates that, in our example, investors who have a risk-neutral position are not willing to gather the information, while investors who are sensitive to the risk are more likely to collect the geophysical information. Thus, different risk appetites would affect the decision about gathering information in VOI analysis. It would be more robust for VOI analysis with the risk positions taken into account by integrating the utility theory in the simulation-regression approach.

Chapter 8 Concluding remarks

Reservoir management often involves high risk due to the lack of knowledge about the subsurface. Investors hold different risk preferences in reservoir decision making in the presence of geological uncertainty. Therefore, understanding the impact of risk preferences leads to improved reservoir management.

This thesis contributes to reservoir management by investigating the impact of risk preferences under the expected utility theory, and reservoir decision making in the presence of geological uncertainty is improved by using an explicit analysis of risk. These approaches are illustrated in the design of production strategies in a 2-D synthetic reservoir in Chapter 6 and Chapter 7. In this chapter, a summary of the main contributions of this thesis as well as the limitations of the methodologies and ideas for future work are provided.

8.1 Summary of contributions and limitations

Expected utility is a popular theory in decision analysis to reflect investors' preferences. However, current approaches often ignore the impact of risk preference in reservoir management. Within the expected utility framework, three primary contributions are made in this thesis: Firstly, the relationship between preference measurements is constructed in the presence of geological uncertainty. Secondly, the expected utility framework is introduced in reservoir decision making with an explicit consideration of risk. Lastly, the impact of preference is analyzed in VOI analysis under the spatial decision situation.

8.1.1 Preference measurements under geological uncertainty

Loss functions and utility functions are important tools in decision analysis as they could capture different preferences from investors. These subjective attitudes are reflected in the penalty factor in loss functions and risk tolerance in utility functions. The penalty factor assigns the weights penalizing underestimation and overestimation, and the risk tolerance measures the investors' preference in a risky activity. However, the loss function is often utilized in parameter estimation while the utility function is used in the optimization from a set of alternatives. Although both of these preference measurements are utilized in resource decision analysis, there is no clear understanding of their relationship.

To improve the understanding of preference measurements in the presence of geological uncertainty, a workflow is developed in Chapter 3 to establish the relationship between utility functions and loss functions. Their relationship is constructed based on risk tolerance and penalty factors. The decision based on loss functions aims to maximize the optimal estimates from minimizing the expected loss, while the decision criterion for the utility function is based on maximizing the expected utility. The corresponding risk tolerance and penalty factor could be connected when investors are indifferent to the alternatives.

There are some limitations involved in this workflow: (1) This approach is illustrated using the exponential utility function and quadratic loss function. There are many other forms of preference measurements that should be investigated. (2) In order to simplify the computation, all the profit distributions are assumed to be uniformly distributed, but in practice, the profit distributions could be more complex. (3) The relationship between risk tolerance and penalty factors is not exact. That is, they do not have a one-to-one relationship. Although limitations exist in this workflow, it provides a new perspective on the place of loss functions and utility functions in petroleum applications.

8.1.2 Decision making with an explicit consideration of risk

Variance is often utilized to measure risk for making decisions in the energy industry. It is utilized in the form of a mean-variance criterion or maximizing risk-adjusted value under the expected utility framework (Huang and Yang, 2020; Motta et al., 2000). But investors dislike the downside volatility less than a certain benchmark. Therefore, there is a need to improve the risk measurements in decision making. The approaches utilized to assess risk are summarized in Chapter 4. This summary indicates that only variance and lower partial moments are appropriate in the expected utility framework, and lower partial moment is more consistent with investors' behavior.

The downside-risk approach is introduced in Chapter 4. In this approach, the profit return is truncated to the downside risk and upside potential based on a benchmark. The lower partial variance quantifies the downside risk, and the upper partial variance measures the upside potential. This approach is discussed in the context of decision selection and decision optimization. In decision selection, the MLU model is developed based on the mean, lower partial variance and upper partial variance, which has a stronger ability to identify optimal alternatives than the mean-variance model. In the decision optimization, a workflow of MLU optimization in the presence of geological uncertainty is proposed to improve the measure of risk in the mean-variance optimization (maximizing the risk-adjusted value). Moreover, the difference between the MLU model and MLU optimization is discussed, the main advantage of MLU model is that preference is not taken into account in this model, while the MLU optimization has the primary advantage that this approach could be applied in a situation with countless alternatives.

In Chapter 5, the downside-risk approach is applied in the design of production strategies. The MLU optimization is compared with mean-variance optimization in the well placement optimization (decision optimization), the result indicates that the MLU optimization is more consistent with investors' behavior. Additionally, the MLU models are applied in drilling order selection (decision selection), and its result is compared with the meanvariance model (mean-variance criterion). The results reveal that the lower partial variance outperforms variance in the measure of risk, which improves reservoir decision making by explicitly analyzing risk.

8.1.3 Value of information for different risk positions

VOI analysis is used in the assessment of decision-related information before collecting it. This approach has been applied to geophysical information in the spatial decision situation, and the simulation-regression approach is employed to estimate the conditional expectation of the posterior value. VOI is often defined as the difference of expected value between posterior value and prior value, which is associated with an underlying risk-neutral position.

The main contribution of Chapter 6 is to give a more general definition of VOI analysis, it is defined by the difference of expected utility between the posterior value and prior value. It is implemented by integrating the utility theory in the simulation-regression approach, which is able to capture different risk positions in VOI analysis. The detailed workflow of VOI analysis for different risk positions is introduced in Chapter 6. It consists of five steps: (1) multiple realizations to capture uncertainty, (2) model the geophysical information, (3) simulate the profit distribution under each alternative, (4) transfer the profit distribution into the utility space, and (5) perform simulation-regression in the utility distribution. A small example is utilized to illustrate the VOI analysis should be implemented under the decision-related context and the impact of different risk positions in VOI analysis.

In Chapter 7, the proposed workflow is applied to assess the value of geophysical information in the design of production strategies. It is used to explore the impact of risk positions on VOI analysis. The results indicate that different risk positions may alter the decision to gather information. That is, a better understanding of risk positions may lead to a more robust VOI analysis. This workflow also has some limitations: (1) A notable one is about the source of information. Only a single source of formation is considered in this research, but there are often multiple sources involved in practical applications. (2) Another limitation is related to the estimation of the posterior value. Although the simulationregression approach has been used in many studies to estimate VOI, other methods could also be considered to approximate VOI.

8.2 Future work

Several areas may be considered to improve the risk-quantified decision making in reservoir management. Some ideas for future research are presented as:

(a) Preference measurements in multi-attribute decision making

As mentioned previously, there are limitations involved in the investigation of preference measurements. The established relationship in Chapter 3 is a special case using the exponential utility function and quadratic loss function with the uniformly distributed alternatives. Therefore, different types of functions should be utilized to construct a more general relationship, and more complex alternative distributions should also be taken into account. Additionally, the objective factors that affect decision making are only monetary values in this thesis, but in practice, there are many objective factors that could affect our decisions, such as the recovery factor (Virine and Murphy, 2007) and time horizons (Zhao et al., 2020). Thus, the multi-attribute utility theory could be adopted to quantify the impact of each factor in decision making (Martins et al., 2020), which is also an important topic to improve reservoir decision making.

(b) Computational efficiency in multiple realizations

It is computationally expensive to perform well placement optimization taking multiple realizations into account, especially when the number of realizations is very large. Numerous approaches have been developed to improve computational efficiency in robust optimization, such as surrogate models in reservoir simulation or advanced algorithms in representative realizations selection. In this research, the representative realization is selected just by using the static models based on the clustering method, which disregards the dynamic information. Some approaches are proposed to improve computation efficiency using dynamic information, for example, selecting the presentation realization based on time of flight (Pouladi et al., 2017), or constructing the surrogate modelling based on the model order reduction (Ghadiri et al., 2021). These promising approaches could improve the computation efficiency as well as accuracy in well placement optimization.

(c) Global optimization in decision making

In most situations, countless alternatives are involved in the decision-making process. Many global optimization algorithms have been developed to improve decision optimization. They are employed to find the minimum or maximum value from a given objective function. The MPSO algorithm is utilized in our research, which is better than the PSO algorithm in escaping from local optimum. However, limited by computational resources and the model complexity, global optimization algorithm does not ensure the global best solution in most cases (Floudas and Gounaris, 2009; Wang et al., 2012). There is a trade-off between the optimal solution and feasible solution. Therefore, a measure of the difference between the optimization solution and the global best is an important topic in the heterogeneity reservoir.

(d) VOI analysis with multiple sources

VOI analysis has been introduced in geophysics in recent years, it evaluates the value of geophysical information to facilitate decision making. In Chapter 5, a workflow is proposed to integrate utility functions in the simulation-regression approach, the proposed methodology highlights the importance of preferences in the VOI analysis. However, the source of information considered in our research only comes from one source (geophysical data). But in many practical applications, multiple sources of information are commonly used to facilitate decision making, such as geophysical data (Eidsvik et al., 2008; Przybysz Jarnut et al., 2015), production data (Hong et al., 2018), and well data (Hanea et al., 2019; Trainor Guitton et al., 2014). Therefore, it is significant to evaluate the value of information from multiple sources in future work.

(d) Application in more practical situations

The synthetic geological models are utilized in the examples of this research. Although realistic oilfield data is difficult to obtain, some public datasets are available for the purpose of research, such as the Brugge field (De Barros, 2019; Zhang et al., 2018) or the Norne field (Lorentzen et al., 2020). It could be more intuitive by applying the proposed approach in a practical situation. Additionally, in the real world, uncertainty may also come from economic factors, such as the fluctuation of oil prices and water prices. Thus, using the realistic oilfield data in the presence of economical uncertainty could also be a direction in future work.

The topics discussed above are some additional work to improve the methodologies and workflows developed in this thesis. Additional research should be applied to increase the robustness and reliability of risk management in reservoir decisions in the presence of geological uncertainty.

8.3 Final comments

Recall the thesis statement proposed in Chapter 1: Understanding the impacts of risk preferences has great significance to reservoir management. Reservoir decision making and risk management in the presence of geological uncertainty will be enhanced by explicitly analyzing risk.

In this thesis, risk preference is investigated in reservoir management under the expected utility framework. Guiding by this theory, a workflow based on the downside-risk approach is developed to improve risk management. In the downside-risk approach, the risk is reflected by the downside volatility and quantified by the lower partial variance, which is able to improve reservoir decision making by explicitly analyzing risk.

Since the VOI analysis is often implemented under the risk-neutral position, it could be improved by considering different risk positions. In this thesis, the preference is taken into account in the VOI analysis under the spatial decision situation, it is performed by integrating the utility theory in the simulation-regression approach. This approach provides a more robust VOI analysis by analyzing the impact of preferences.

Lastly, the contribution and the limitations of this research are summarized. Some additional work in the future is discussed, which is able to improve the risk-quantified decision making in reservoir management in the presence of geological uncertainty.

References

- Abdi, H. (2003). Partial least square regression (pls regression). *Encyclopedia for Research Methods for the Social Sciences*, 6(4):792–795.
- Acerbi, C., Nordio, C., and Sirtori, C. (2001). Expected shortfall as a tool for financial risk management. ArXiv Preprint Cond-mat/0102304.
- Acorn, T., Boisvert, J., and Leuangthong, O. (2020). Managing geologic uncertainty in pit shell optimization using a heuristic algorithm and stochastic dominance. *Mining, Metallurgy & Exploration*, 37(2):375–386.
- Afshari, S., Pishvaie, M., and Aminshahidy, B. (2014). Well placement optimization using a particle swarm optimization algorithm, a novel approach. *Petroleum Science and Technology*, 32(2):170–179.
- Agmon, N. and Ahituv, N. (1987). Assessing data reliability in an information system. Journal of Management Information Systems, 4(2):34–44.
- Agterberg, F. P. and Bonha Carter, G. F. (2005). Measuring the performance of mineralpotential maps. *Natural Resources Research*, 14(1):1–17.
- Akkaya, M. (2021). Utility: Theories and models. In *Applying Particle Swarm Optimization*, pages 3–14. Springer.
- Al Harthy, M. H. (2007). Utility efficient frontier: an application in the oil and gas industry. *Natural Resources Research*, 16(4):305–312.
- Al Janabi, M. A. (2015). Scenario optimization technique for the assessment of downsiderisk and investable portfolios in post-financial crisis. *International Journal of Financial Engineering*, 2(03):1550028.
- Allah Bukhsh, Z., Stipanovic, I., Klanker, G., O'Connor, A., and Doree, A. G. (2019). Network level bridges maintenance planning using multi-attribute utility theory. *Structure and Infrastructure Engineering*, 15(7):872–885.
- Andersen, S., Harrison, G. W., Lau, M. I., and Rutström, E. E. (2018). Multiattribute utility theory, intertemporal utility, and correlation aversion. *International Economic Review*, 59(2):537–555.

- Anthonisz, S. A. (2012). Asset pricing with partial-moments. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 36(7):2122–2135.
- Anyosa, S., Bunting, S., Eidsvik, J., Romdhane, A., and Bergmo, P. (2021). Assessing the value of seismic monitoring of CO₂ storage using simulations and statistical analysis. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 105:103219.
- Armstrong, W. E. (1948). Uncertainty and the utility function. *The Economic Journal*, 58(229):1–10.
- Arrow, K. J. (1971). The theory of risk aversion. *Essays in the theory of risk-bearing*, pages 90–120.
- Avolio, B. J., Yammarino, F. J., and Bass, B. M. (1991). Identifying common methods variance with data collected from a single source: An unresolved sticky issue. *Journal* of Management, 17(3):571–587.
- Ayub, U., Abbas, Q., Saeed, S. K., and Sargana, S. M. (2011). Lower partial moments-proxy of downside risk. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research In Business*, 3(2):1069–1084.
- Ballestero, E. (2005). Mean-semivariance efficient frontier: A downside risk model for portfolio selection. *Applied Mathematical Finance*, 12(1):1–15.
- Balzer, L. A. (1990). How to measure risk. AIC Conferences, Sydney, Australia.
- Barros, E., Jansen, J., and Van den Hof, P. (2015). Value of information in parameter identification and optimization of hydrocarbon reservoirs. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 48(6):229–235.
- Berger, J. O. (2013). *Statistical decision theory and Bayesian analysis*. Springer Science and Business Media.
- Bernoulli, D. (1954). Exposition of a new theory on the measurement. *Econometrica*, 22(1):23–36.
- Bhattacharjya, D., Eidsvik, J., and Mukerji, T. (2010). The value of information in spatial decision making. *Mathematical Geosciences*, 42(2):141–163.
- Bhattacharjya, D., Eidsvik, J., and Mukerji, T. (2013). The value of information in portfolio problems with dependent projects. *Decision Analysis*, 10(4):341–351.

Bickel, J. E., Gibson, R. L., McVay, D. A., Pickering, S., and Waggoner, J. R. (2008).

Quantifying the reliability and value of 3-D land seismic. *SPE Reservoir Evaluation* & *Engineering*, 11(05):832–841.

- Boah, E. A., Kondo, O. K. S., Borsah, A. A., and Brantson, E. T. (2019). Critical evaluation of infill well placement and optimization of well spacing using the particle swarm algorithm. *Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology*, 9(4):3113– 3133.
- Bratvold, R. B. and Begg, S. (2010). *Making good decisions*, volume 207. Society of Petroleum Engineers Richardson, Texas.
- Bratvold, R. B., Bickel, J. E., and Lohne, H. P. (2009). Value of information in the oil and gas industry: past, present, and future. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 12(04):630–638.
- Brennan, A., Kharroubi, S., O'hagan, A., and Chilcott, J. (2007). Calculating partial expected value of perfect information via Monte Carlo sampling algorithms. *Medical Decision Making*, 27(4):448–470.
- Brockett, P. L. and Kahane, Y. (1992). Risk, return, skewness and preference. *Management Science*, 38(6):851–866.
- Caers, J. (2011). Modeling uncertainty in the Earth Sciences. John Wiley & Sons.
- Capolei, A., Suwartadi, E., Foss, B., and Jørgensen, J. B. (2015). A mean-variance objective for robust production optimization in uncertain geological scenarios. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 125:23–37.
- Cardoso, M. and Durlofsky, L. (2010). Use of reduced-order modeling procedures for production optimization. *SPE Journal*, 15(02):426–435.
- Carpinelli, G., Mottola, F., Noce, C., Russo, A., and Varilone, P. (2018). A new hybrid approach using the simultaneous perturbation stochastic approximation method for the optimal allocation of electrical energy storage systems. *Energies*, 11(6):1505.
- Chakraborty, S. and Das, P. (2018). A multivariate quality loss function approach for parametric optimization of non-traditional machining processes. *Management Science Letters*, 8(8):873–884.
- Chang, Y., Petvipusit, K. R., and Devegowda, D. (2015). Multi-objective optimization coupled with dimension-wise polynomial-based approach in smart well placement

under model uncertainty. In SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium. OnePetro.

- Chen, B., He, J., Wen, X., Chen, W., and Reynolds, A. C. (2017). Uncertainty quantification and value of information assessment using proxies and Markov chain Monte Carlo method for a pilot project. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 157:328– 339.
- Chen, C. H. (2019). Optimal process mean setting based on asymmetric linear quality loss function. *Journal of Information and Optimization Sciences*, 40(1):37–41.
- Chiu, W. H. (2010). Skewness preference, risk taking and expected utility maximisation. *The Geneva Risk and Insurance Review*, 35(2):108–129.
- Cozzolino, J. M. (1977). A simplified utility framework for the analysis of financial risk. In SPE Economics and Evaluation Symposium. OnePetro.
- Cumova, D. and Nawrocki, D. (2014). Portfolio optimization in an upside potential and downside risk framework. *Journal of Economics and Business*, 71:68–89.
- Cunningham, P. and Begg, S. (2008). Using the value of information to determine optimal well order in a sequential drilling program. *AAPG bulletin*, 92(10):1393–1402.
- Da Cruz, P. S. (2000). *Reservoir management decision-making in the presence of geological uncertainty*. PhD thesis, Stanford University.
- Da Cruz, P. S., Horne, R. N., and Deutsch, C. V. (2004). The quality map: a tool for reservoir uncertainty quantification and decision making. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 7(01):6–14.
- De Barros, G. (2019). *Enhanced reservoir management with multiple realizations*. PhD thesis, University of Alberta.
- De Barros, G. and Deutsch, C. V. (2018). Using all realizations in reservoir management. *CCG Annual Report*, 20(209):1–10.
- Deng, T., Yan, W., Nojavan, S., and Jermsittiparsert, K. (2020). Risk evaluation and retail electricity pricing using downside risk constraints method. *Energy*, 192:116672.
- Deutsch, C. V. (2010). Decision making and grade control. University of Alberta.
- Deutsch, C. V. (2018). All realizations all the time. In *Handbook of Mathematical Geosciences*, pages 131–142. Springer, Cham.
- Deutsch, C. V. (2020). Implementation of geostatistical algorithms. Mathematical Geo-

sciences, pages 1–11.

- Dimitrakopoulos, R., Martinez, L., and Ramazan, S. (2007). A maximum upside/minimum downside approach to the traditional optimization of open pit mine design. *Journal of mining science*, 43(1):73–82.
- Ding, S., Jiang, H., Li, J., and Tang, G. (2014). Optimization of well placement by combination of a modified particle swarm optimization algorithm and quality map method. *Computational Geosciences*, 18(5):747–762.
- Dohm, C. (2005). Quantifiable mineral resource classification: A logical approach. In *Geostatistics Banff 2004*, pages 333–342. Springer.
- Dutta, G., Mukerji, T., and Eidsvik, J. (2019a). Value of information analysis for subsurface energy resources applications. *Applied Energy*, 252:113436.
- Dutta, G., Mukerji, T., and Eidsvik, J. (2019b). Value of information of time-lapse seismic data by simulation-regression: comparison with double-loop Monte Carlo. *Computational Geosciences*, 23(5):1049–1064.
- Eberhart, R. and Kennedy, J. (1995). Particle swarm optimization. In Proceedings of the IEEE international conference on neural networks, volume 4, pages 1942–1948. Citeseer.
- Efron, B. (1982). The jackknife, the bootstrap and other resampling plans. SIAM.
- Eidsvik, J., Bhattacharjya, D., and Mukerji, T. (2008). Value of information of seismic amplitude and csem resistivity. *Geophysics*, 73(4):R59–R69.
- Eidsvik, J., Dutta, G., Mukerji, T., and Bhattacharjya, D. (2017). Simulation-regression approximations for value of information analysis of geophysical data. *Mathematical Geosciences*, 49(4):467–491.
- Eidsvik, J. and Ellefmo, S. L. (2013). The value of information in mineral exploration within a multi-gaussian framework. *Mathematical Geosciences*, 45(7):777–798.
- Eidsvik, J., Martinelli, G., and Bhattacharjya, D. (2018). Sequential information gathering schemes for spatial risk and decision analysis applications. *Stochastic Environmental Research and Risk Assessment*, 32(4):1163–1177.
- Eidsvik, J., Mukerji, T., and Bhattacharjya, D. (2015a). Value of information in the Earth Sciences: Integrating spatial modeling and decision analysis. Cambridge University

Press.

- Eidsvik, J., Mukerji, T., Bhattacharjya, D., and Dutta, G. (2015b). Value of information analysis of geophysical data for drilling decisions. In *Petroleum Geostatistics 2015*, pages cp–456. European Association of Geoscientists & Engineers.
- Emerick, A. A., Silva, E., Messer, B., Almeida, L. F., Szwarcman, D., Pacheco, M. A. C., and Vellasco, M. M. B. R. (2009). Well placement optimization using a genetic algorithm with nonlinear constraints. In SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium. OnePetro.
- Epelle, E. I. and Gerogiorgis, D. I. (2020). Adjoint-based well placement optimisation for enhanced oil recovery (eor) under geological uncertainty: From seismic to production. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 190:107091.
- Erbas, D. and Christie, M. A. (2007). Effect of sampling strategies on prediction uncertainty estimation. In *SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium*. OnePetro.
- Estrada, J. (2004). Mean-semivariance behaviour: an alternative behavioural model. *Journal of Emerging Market Finance*, 3(3):231–248.
- Fabozzi, F. J. and Peterson, P. P. (2003). *Financial management and analysis*, volume 132. John Wiley & Sons.
- Fahrenwaldt, M. A. and Sun, C. (2020). Expected utility approximation and portfolio optimisation. *Insurance: Mathematics and Economics*, 93:301–314.
- Fellner, G. and Maciejovsky, B. (2007). Risk attitude and market behavior: Evidence from experimental asset markets. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 28(3):338–350.
- Fetel, E. and Caumon, G. (2008). Reservoir flow uncertainty assessment using response surface constrained by secondary information. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 60(3–4):170–182.
- Floudas, C. A. and Gounaris, C. E. (2009). A review of recent advances in global optimization. *Journal of Global Optimization*, 45(1):3–38.
- Gallardo, E. and Deutsch, C. V. (2019). Approximate physics-discrete simulation of the steam-chamber evolution in steam-assisted gravity drainage. SPE Journal, 24(02):477–491.
- Gallardo, E. and Deutsch, C. V. (2020). Decision making in the presence of geological uncertainty with the mean-variance criterion and stochastic dominance rules. *SPE*
Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 23(01):031–044.

- Garlappi, L. and Skoulakis, G. (2011). Taylor series approximations to expected utility and optimal portfolio choice. *Mathematics and Financial Economics*, 5(2):121.
- Gass, S. I. and Harris, C. M. (1997). Encyclopedia of operations research and management science. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 48(7):759–760.
- Gerber, H. U. and Pafum, G. (1998). Utility functions: from risk theory to finance. *North American Actuarial Journal*, 2(3):74–91.
- Ghadiri, M., Marjani, A., Daneshfar, R., and Shirazian, S. (2021). Model order reduction of a reservoir simulation by SOD-DEIM. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 200:108137.
- Glacken, I. (1996). Change of support by direct conditional block simulation. Master's thesis, Standford University.
- Gökgöz, F. and Atmaca, M. E. (2017). Portfolio optimization under lower partial moments in emerging electricity markets: Evidence from turkey. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 67:437–449.
- Goodfellow, I., Bengio, Y., and Courville, A. (2016). *Deep Learning, ser. Adaptive computation and machine learning*. MIT Press.
- Gorbovskaia, O. and Belozerov, B. (2016). Geological uncertainties influence on investment decision making. In SPE Russian Petroleum Technology Conference and Exhibition. OnePetro.
- Grayson, C. J. (1960). Decisions under uncertainty: Drilling decisions by oil and gas operators. Ayer.
- Greco, S., Figueira, J., and Ehrgott, M. (2016). Multiple criteria decision analysis. Springer.
- Grootveld, H. and Hallerbach, W. (1999). Variance vs downside risk: Is there really that much difference? *European Journal of operational research*, 114(2):304–319.
- Guo, Q., Li, J., Zou, C., Guo, Y., and Yan, W. (2012). A class of multi-period semi-variance portfolio for petroleum exploration and development. *International Journal of Systems Science*, 43(10):1883–1890.
- Güyagüler, B. and Horne, R. N. (2004). Uncertainty assessment of well placement optimization. *SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering*, 7(1):24–32.

- Hadavand, M. and Deutsch, C. V. (2015). A petro elastic model to generate synthetic 3-D and 4-D seismic data. *CCG Annual Report*, 17(212):1–4.
- Hamida, Z., Azizi, F., and Saad, G. (2017). An efficient geometry-based optimization approach for well placement in oil fields. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 149:383–392.
- Hanea, R., Casanova, P., Hustoft, L., Bratvold, R., Nair, R., Hewson, C., Leeuwenburgh, O., and Fonseca, R. (2019). Drill and learn: a decision-making work flow to quantify value of learning. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 22(03):1131–1143.
- Harb, A., Kassem, H., and Ghorayeb, K. (2020). Black hole particle swarm optimization for well placement optimization. *Computational Geosciences*, 24(6):1979–2000.
- Harding, B. E. (2021). Drillhole spacing determination with value of information. Master's thesis, University of Alberta.
- Harvey, C. R., Liechty, J. C., Liechty, M. W., and Müller, P. (2010). Portfolio selection with higher moments. *Quantitative Finance*, 10(5):469–485.
- Hassett, M., Sears, R. S., and Trennepohl, G. L. (1985). Asset preference, skewness, and the measurement of expected utility. *Journal of Economics and Business*, 37(1):35–47.
- Hauge, K. H., Blanchard, A., Andersen, G., Boland, R., Grøsvik, B. E., Howell, D., Meier, S., Olsen, E., and Vikebø, F. (2014). Inadequate risk assessments-a study on worst-case scenarios related to petroleum exploitation in the lofoten area. *Marine Policy*, 44:82–89.
- He, J., Sarma, P., Bhark, E., Tanaka, S., Chen, B., Wen, X. H., and Kamath, J. (2018). Quantifying expected uncertainty reduction and value of information using ensemblevariance analysis. SPE Journal, 23(02):428–448.
- He, J., Sun, W., and Wen, X. H. (2019). Rapid forecast calibration using nonlinear simulation regression with localization. In *SPE Reservoir Simulation Conference*. OnePetro.
- Heath, A., Manolopoulou, I., and Baio, G. (2017). A review of methods for analysis of the expected value of information. *Medical Decision Making*, 37(7):747–758.
- Heath, A., Manolopoulou, I., and Baio, G. (2018). Bayesian curve fitting to estimate the expected value of sample information using moment matching across different sample sizes. *Medical Decision Making*.

- Hillson, D. and Murray Webster, R. (2017). Understanding and managing risk attitude. Routledge.
- Hoffman, R. M., Kagel, J. H., and Levin, D. (2011). Simultaneous versus sequential information processing. *Economics Letters*, 112(1):16–18.
- Hong, A., Bratvold, R., Thomas, P., and Hanea, R. (2018). Value of information for model parameter updating through history matching. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 165:253–268.
- Houck, R. T. (2004). Predicting the economic impact of acquisition artifacts and noise. *The Leading Edge*, 23(10):1024–1031.
- Huang, C. F. and Litzenberger, R. H. (1988). *Foundations for financial economics*. North-Holland.
- Huang, X. and Yang, T. (2020). How does background risk affect portfolio choice: An analysis based on uncertain mean-variance model with background risk. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 111:105726.
- Huysmans, M., Madarász, T., and Dassargues, A. (2006). Risk assessment of groundwater pollution using sensitivity analysis and a worst-case scenario analysis. *Environmental Geology*, 50(2):180–193.
- Jalal, H. and Alarid Escudero, F. (2018). A gaussian approximation approach for value of information analysis. *Medical Decision Making*, 38(2):174–188.
- Jesmani, M., Jafarpour, B., Bellout, M. C., and Foss, B. (2020). A reduced random sampling strategy for fast robust well placement optimization. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 184:106414.
- Jia, J. and Dyer, J. S. (1996). A standard measure of risk and risk-value models. *Management Science*, 42(12):1691–1705.
- Jin, H., Markowitz, H., and Yu Zhou, X. (2006). A note on semi-variance. Mathematical Finance: An International Journal of Mathematics, Statistics and Financial Economics, 16(1):53–61.
- Journel, A. (1984). Mad and conditional quantile estimators. In *Geostatistics for natural resources characterization*, pages 261–270. Springer.

Kaddoura, K., Zayed, T., and Hawari, A. H. (2018). Multiattribute utility theory de-

ployment in sewer defects assessment. *Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering*, 32(2):04017074.

- Keeney, R. L. and Sicherman, A. (1976). Assessing and analyzing preferences concerning multiple objectives: An interactive computer program. *Behavioral Science*, 21(3):173–182.
- Keith, A. J. and Ahner, D. K. (2021). A survey of decision making and optimization under uncertainty. *Annals of Operations Research*, 300(2):319–353.
- Kettunen, J. and Salo, A. (2017). Estimation of downside risks in project portfolio selection. *Production and Operations Management*, 26(10):1839–1853.
- Ketzenberg, M. E., Van Der Laan, E., and Teunter, R. H. (2006). Value of information in closed loop supply chains. *Production and Operations Management*, 15(3):393–406.
- Khosravanian, R. and Aadnoy, B. S. (2016). Optimization of casing string placement in the presence of geological uncertainty in oil wells: offshore oilfield case studies. *Journal* of Petroleum Science and Engineering, 142:141–151.
- Kim, J., Yang, H., and Choe, J. (2020). Robust optimization of the locations and types of multiple wells using cnn based proxy models. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 193:107424.
- Kinyanjui, J. K. and Korir, B. C. (2020). Bayesian estimation of parameters of weibull distribution using linex error loss function. *International Journal of Statistics and Probability*, 9(2):1–38.
- Klebaner, F., Landsman, Z., Makov, U., and Yao, J. (2017). Optimal portfolios with downside risk. *Quantitative Finance*, 17(3):315–325.
- Knight, F. H. (2012). Risk, uncertainty and profit. Courier Corporation.
- Kunst, N., Wilson, E. C., Glynn, D., Alarid Escudero, F., Baio, G., Brennan, A., Fairley, M., Goldhaber Fiebert, J. D., Jackson, C., and Jalal, H. (2020). Computing the expected value of sample information efficiently: practical guidance and recommendations for four model-based methods. *Value in Health*, 23(6):734–742.
- Lean, H. H., McAleer, M., and Wong, W. K. (2010). Market efficiency of oil spot and futures: A mean-variance and stochastic dominance approach. *Energy Economics*, 32(5):979–986.

- Leverett, M., Lewis, W., and True, M. (1942). Dimensional-model studies of oil-field behavior. *Transactions of the AIME*, 146(01):175–193.
- Levy, H. (2015). Stochastic dominance: Investment decision making under uncertainty. Springer.
- Liberti, L. and Maculan, N. (2006). *Global optimization: from theory to implementation*, volume 84. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Lie, K. A. (2019). An introduction to reservoir simulation using MATLAB/GNU Octave: User guide for the MATLAB Reservoir Simulation Toolbox (MRST). Cambridge University Press.
- Lin, T. (2018). Notes on regression-approximation of the conditional expectation function. *GitHub Repository*.
- Ling, A., Sun, J., and Wang, M. (2020). Robust multi-period portfolio selection based on downside risk with asymmetrically distributed uncertainty set. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 285(1):81–95.
- Liu, Y. (2006). Using the Snesim program for multiple-point statistical simulation. Computers & Geosciences, 32(10):1544–1563.
- Lopes, Y. G. and de Almeida, A. T. (2015). Assessment of synergies for selecting a project portfolio in the petroleum industry based on a multi-attribute utility function. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 126:131–140.
- Lorentzen, R. J., Bhakta, T., Grana, D., Luo, X., Valestrand, R., and Nævdal, G. (2020). Simultaneous assimilation of production and seismic data: application to the norne field. *Computational Geosciences*, 24(2):907–920.
- Ma, Y. Z. (2010). Error types in reservoir characterization and management. Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering, 72(3-4):290–301.
- Ma, Y. Z. and La Pointe, P. R. (2011). Uncertainty Analysis and Reservoir Modeling: Developing and Managing Assets in an Uncertain World, AAPG Memoir 96, volume 96. AAPG.
- Mahjour, S. K., Santos, A. A. S., Correia, M. G., and Schiozer, D. J. (2020). Developing a workflow to select representative reservoir models combining distance-based clustering and data assimilation for decision making process. *Journal of Petroleum Science*

and Engineering, 190:107078.

- Mahjour, S. K., Santos, A. A. S., Correia, M. G., and Schiozer, D. J. (2021). Scenario reduction methodologies under uncertainties for reservoir development purposes: distancebased clustering and metaheuristic algorithm. *Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology*, pages 1–24.
- Mamudu, A., Khan, F., Zendehboudi, S., and Adedigba, S. (2020). Dynamic risk assessment of reservoir production using data-driven probabilistic approach. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 184:106486.
- Manchuk, J. G. and Deutsch, C. V. (2012). A flexible sequential gaussian simulation program: USGSIM. *Computers & Geosciences*, 41:208–216.
- Markowitz, H. (1952). Portfolio selection. The journal of finance, 7(1):77–91.
- Markowitz, H. (1959). Portfolio selection. Yale University Press New Haven.
- Markowitz, H. (2010). Portfolio theory: as I still see it. Annual Review of Financial Economics, 2(1):1–23.
- Markowitz, H. (2014). Mean-variance approximations to expected utility. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 234(2):346–355.
- Martins, I., Moraes, F., Távora, G., Soares, H., Infante, C., Arruda, E., Bahiense, L., Caprace, J., and Lourenço, M. (2020). A review of the multicriteria decision analysis applied to oil and gas decommissioning problems. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 184:105000.
- Mavko, G., Mukerji, T., and Dvorkin, J. (2020). *The rock physics handbook*. Cambridge University Press.
- McLennan, J. and Deutsch, C. V. (2005). Ranking geostatistical realizations by measures of connectivity. In SPE International Thermal Operations and Heavy Oil Symposium. OnePetro.
- Meacham Hensold, K., Montes, C. M., Wu, J., Guan, K., Fu, P., Ainsworth, E. A., Pederson, T., Moore, C. E., Brown, K. L., and Raines, C. (2019). High-throughput field phenotyping using hyperspectral reflectance and partial least squares regression (PLSR) reveals genetic modifications to photosynthetic capacity. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 231:111–176.

- Meena, K., Arshad, M., and Gangopadhyay, A. K. (2018). Estimating the parameter of selected uniform population under the squared log error loss function. *Communications in Statistics Theory and Methods*, 47(7):1679–1692.
- Migdalas, A., Pardalos, P. M., and Värbrand, P. (2013). *From local to global optimization*, volume 53. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Mohsin Siraj, M., Van den Hof, P. M., and Jansen, J. D. (2017). Handling geological and economic uncertainties in balancing short-term and long-term objectives in waterflooding optimization. SPE Journal, 22(04):1313–1325.
- Mondal, D. and Selvaraju, N. (2019). A note on a mean-lower partial moment capm without risk-free asset. *Operations Research Letters*, 47(4):264–269.
- Moore, C. R., Moyes, C. P., and Patterson, D. (2005). The use of risk-adjusted values in exploration portfolio management. In SPE Hydrocarbon Economics and Evaluation Symposium. OnePetro.
- Moradi, B., Tangsirifard, J., Rasaei, M. R., Maklavani, A. M., and Bagheri, M. B. (2010). Effect of gas recycling on the enhancement of condensate recovery in an iranian fractured gas/condensate reservoir. In *Trinidad and Tobago Energy Resources Conference*. OnePetro.
- Morgenstern, O. and Von Neumann, J. (1953). *Theory of games and economic behavior*. Princeton University Press.
- Morosov, A. L. and Bratvold, R. B. (2021). Drilling-campaign optimization using sequential information and policy analytics. *SPE Journal*, pages 1–17.
- Motta, R., Caloba, G., Almeida, L., Moreira, A., Nogueira, M., Cardoso, L., and Berlink,
 L. (2000). Investment and risk analysis applied to the petroleum industry. In SPE
 Asia Pacific Oil and Gas Conference and Exhibition. OnePetro.
- Müller, A., Scarsini, M., Tsetlin, I., and Winkler, R. L. (2017). Between first and second order stochastic dominance. *Management Science*, 63(9):2933–2947.
- Naderi, M. and Khamehchi, E. (2017). Well placement optimization using metaheuristic bat algorithm. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 150:348–354.
- Nakajima, L. and Schiozer, D. (2003). Horizontal well placement optimization using quality map definition. In *Canadian International Petroleum Conference*. Petroleum Society

of Canada.

- Niromandfam, A., Yazdankhah, A. S., and Kazemzadeh, R. (2020). Designing risk hedging mechanism based on the utility function to help customers manage electricity price risks. *Electric Power Systems Research*, 185:106365.
- Nocita, M., Stevens, A., Toth, G., Panagos, P., van Wesemael, B., and Montanarella, L. (2014). Prediction of soil organic carbon content by diffuse reflectance spectroscopy using a local partial least square regression approach. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 68:337–347.
- Nwachukwu, A., Jeong, H., Pyrcz, M., and Lake, L. W. (2018). Fast evaluation of well placements in heterogeneous reservoir models using machine learning. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 163:463–475.
- Nwankwor, E., Nagar, A. K., and Reid, D. (2013). Hybrid differential evolution and particle swarm optimization for optimal well placement. *Computational Geosciences*, 17(2):249–268.
- Odoh, B. I., Ilechukwu, J. N., and Okoli, N. I. (2014). The use of seismic attributes to enhance fault interpretation of ot field, niger delta. *International Journal of Geosciences*, 2014.
- Onwunalu, J. E. and Durlofsky, L. J. (2010). Application of a particle swarm optimization algorithm for determining optimum well location and type. *Computational Geosciences*, 14(1):183–198.
- Otchere, D. A., Ganat, T. O. A., Gholami, R., and Ridha, S. (2021). Application of supervised machine learning paradigms in the prediction of petroleum reservoir properties: Comparative analysis of ANN and SVM models. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 200:108182.
- Ozdogan, U. and Horne, R. N. (2006). Optimization of well placement under timedependent uncertainty. *SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering*, 9(02):135–145.
- Plous, S. (1993). *The psychology of judgment and decision making*. Mcgraw-Hill Book Company.
- Pouladi, B., Karkevandi Talkhooncheh, A., Sharifi, M., Gerami, S., Nourmohammad, A., and Vahidi, A. (2020). Enhancement of spsa algorithm performance using reservoir

quality maps: Application to coupled well placement and control optimization problems. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 189:106984.

- Pouladi, B., Keshavarz, S., Sharifi, M., and Ahmadi, M. A. (2017). A robust proxy for production well placement optimization problems. *Fuel*, 206:467–481.
- Przybysz Jarnut, J., Didraga, C., Potters, J., Lopez, J., La Follett, J., Wills, P., Bakku, S., Xue, Y., Barker, T., and Brouwer, D. (2015). Value of information of frequent timelapse seismic for thermal eor monitoring at peace river. In SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. OnePetro.
- Pyrcz, M. J. and Deutsch, C. V. (2014). Geostatistical reservoir modeling. Oxford University Press.
- Rachev, S. T., Stoyanov, S. V., and Fabozzi, F. J. (2011). *Risk and uncertainty*, volume 211. John Wiley & Sons.
- Rahim, S. and Li, Z. (2015). Reservoir geological uncertainty reduction: an optimizationbased method using multiple static measures. *Mathematical Geosciences*, 47(4):373– 396.
- Redoloza, F. and Li, L. (2021). A comparison of extremal optimization, differential evolution and particle swarm optimization methods for well placement design in groundwater management. *Mathematical Geosciences*, 53(4):711–735.
- Rezaie, J., Eidsvik, J., and Mukerji, T. (2014). Value of information analysis and bayesian inversion for closed skew-normal distributions: Applications to seismic amplitude variation with offset data. *Geophysics*, 79(4):R151–R163.
- Rojnik, K. and Naveršnik, K. (2008). Gaussian process metamodeling in bayesian value of information analysis: a case of the complex health economic model for breast cancer screening. *Value in Health*, 11(2):240–250.
- Rosipal, R. and Krämer, N. (2005). Overview and recent advances in partial least squares. In International Statistical and Optimization Perspectives Workshop" Subspace, Latent Structure and Feature Selection", pages 34–51. Springer.
- Rothery, C., Strong, M., Koffijberg, H. E., Basu, A., Ghabri, S., Knies, S., Murray, J. F., Schmidler, G. D. S., Steuten, L., and Fenwick, E. (2020). Value of information analytical methods: report 2 of the ispor value of information analysis emerging good

practices task force. Value in Health, 23(3):277-286.

- Rubinstein, M. (2002). Markowitz's" portfolio selection": A fifty-year retrospective. *The Journal of Finance*, 57(3):1041–1045.
- Salah, H. B., De Gooijer, J. G., Gannoun, A., and Ribatet, M. (2018). Mean-variance and mean-semivariance portfolio selection: a multivariate nonparametric approach. *Financial Markets and Portfolio Management*, 32(4):419–436.
- Santos, S. M., Botechia, V. E., Schiozer, D. J., and Gaspar, A. T. (2017a). Expected value, downside risk and upside potential as decision criteria in production strategy selection for petroleum field development. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 157:81–93.
- Santos, S. M., Gaspar, A. T., and Schiozer, D. J. (2017b). Value of information in reservoir development projects: Technical indicators to prioritize uncertainties and information sources. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 157:1179–1191.
- Santos, S. M., Gaspar, A. T. F., and Schiozer, D. J. (2017c). Risk management in petroleum development projects: Technical and economic indicators to define a robust production strategy. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 151:116–127.
- Santos, S. M. and Schiozer, D. J. (2017). Assessing the value of information according to attitudes towards downside risk and upside potential. In SPE Europec featured at 79th EAGE Conference and Exhibition. OnePetro.
- Scheidt, C. and Caers, J. (2010). Bootstrap confidence intervals for reservoir model selection techniques. *Computational Geosciences*, 14(2):369–382.
- Scheidt, C., Li, L., and Caers, J. (2018). *Quantifying uncertainty in subsurface systems*, volume 236. John Wiley & Sons.
- Schlaifer, R. (1959). *Probability and statistics for business decisions*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Schorfheide, F. (2000). Loss function-based evaluation of DSGE models. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 15(6):645–670.
- Sefair, J. A., Méndez, C. Y., Babat, O., Medaglia, A. L., and Zuluaga, L. F. (2017). Linear solution schemes for mean-semivariance project portfolio selection problems: An application in the oil and gas industry. *Omega*, 68:39–48.

- Selle, B. and Hannah, M. (2010). A bootstrap approach to assess parameter uncertainty in simple catchment models. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 25(8):919–926.
- Shafiee, M., Animah, I., Alkali, B., and Baglee, D. (2019). Decision support methods and applications in the upstream oil and gas sector. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 173:1173–1186.
- Sharifi, M., Kelkar, M., Bahar, A., and Slettebo, T. (2014). Dynamic ranking of multiple realizations by use of the fast-marching method. *SPE Journal*, 19(06):1–069.
- Shaw, M. L. (1982). Attending to multiple sources of information: I. the integration of information in decision making. *Cognitive Psychology*, 14(3):353–409.
- Shirangi, M. G. and Durlofsky, L. J. (2016). A general method to select representative models for decision making and optimization under uncertainty. *Computers & Geosciences*, 96:109–123.
- Sivakumar, R., Kannan, D., and Murugesan, P. (2015). Green vendor evaluation and selection using ahp and taguchi loss functions in production outsourcing in mining industry. *Resources Policy*, 46:64–75.
- Sortino, F. A., Satchell, S., and Sortino, F. (2001). *Managing downside risk in financial markets*. Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Sortino, F. A. and Van Der Meer, R. (1991). Downside risk. *Journal of portfolio Management*, 17(4):27.
- Strebelle, S. (2002). Conditional simulation of complex geological structures using multiple-point statistics. *Mathematical Geology*, 34(1):1–21.
- Strong, M., Oakley, J. E., and Brennan, A. (2014). Estimating multiparameter partial expected value of perfect information from a probabilistic sensitivity analysis sample: a nonparametric regression approach. *Medical Decision Making*, 34(3):311–326.
- Strong, M., Oakley, J. E., Brennan, A., and Breeze, P. (2015). Estimating the expected value of sample information using the probabilistic sensitivity analysis sample: a fast, nonparametric regression-based method. *Medical Decision Making*, 35(5):570–583.
- Suslick, S. B. and Furtado, R. (2001). Quantifying the value of technological, environmental and financial gain in decision models for offshore oil exploration. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 32(2–4):115–125.

- Suslick, S. B. and Schiozer, D. J. (2004). Risk analysis applied to petroleum exploration and production: an overview. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 44(1-2):1–9.
- Sypherd, T., Diaz, M., Sankar, L., and Kairouz, P. (2019). A tunable loss function for binary classification. In 2019 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory (ISIT), pages 2479–2483. IEEE.
- Tantishaiyakul, V., Worakul, N., and Wongpoowarak, W. (2006). Prediction of solubility parameters using partial least square regression. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 325(1-2):8–14.
- Tasche, D. (2002). Expected shortfall and beyond. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 26(7):1519–1533.
- Tian, D. and Shi, Z. (2018). Mpso: Modified particle swarm optimization and its applications. Swarm and Evolutionary Computation, 41:49–68.
- Trainor Guitton, W. J. (2010). *On the value of information for spatial problems in the Earth Sciences.* PhD thesis, Stanford University.
- Trainor Guitton, W. J. (2014). A geophysical perspective of value of information: Examples of spatial decisions for groundwater sustainability. *Environment Systems and Decisions*, 34(1):124–133.
- Trainor Guitton, W. J., Caers, J., and Mukerji, T. (2011). A methodology for establishing a data reliability measure for value of spatial information problems. *Mathematical Geosciences*, 43(8):929–949.
- Trainor Guitton, W. J., Hoversten, G. M., Ramirez, A., Roberts, J., Juliusson, E., Key, K., and Mellors, R. (2014). The value of spatial information for determining well placement: A geothermal example. *Geophysics*, 79(5):W27–W41.
- Tuffaha, H. W., Strong, M., Gordon, L. G., and Scuffham, P. A. (2016). Efficient value of information calculation using a nonparametric regression approach: an applied perspective. *Value in Health*, 19(4):505–509.
- Ugarte Zarate, E., Pourrahimian, Y., and Boisvert, J. (2020). Optimizing block caving drawpoints over multiple geostatistical models. *International Journal of Mining, Reclamation and Environment*, 34(1):55–74.

- Vasylchuk, Y. and Deutsch, C. (2018). Improved grade control in open pit mines. *Mining Technology*, 127(2):84–91.
- Vasylchuk, Y. and Deutsch, C. (2019). Optimization of surface mining dig limits with a practical heuristic algorithm. *Mining, Metallurgy and Exploration*, 36(4):773–784.
- Verly, G. (2005). Grade control classification of ore and waste: a critical review of estimation and simulation-based procedures. *Mathematical Geology*, 37(5):451–475.
- Viole, F. and Nawrocki, D. (2016). Predicting risk/return performance using upper partial moment/lower partial moment metrics. *Journal of Mathematical Finance*, 6(5):900– 920.
- Virine, L. and Murphy, D. (2007). Analysis of multicriteria decision-making methodologies for the petroleum industry. In *IPTC 2007: International Petroleum Technology Conference*, pages cp–147. European Association of Geoscientists & Engineers.
- Vizcaino, E. G. (2019). Graph-Based Simulator for Steam-Assisted Gravity Drainage Reservoir Management. PhD thesis, University of Alberta.
- Waggoner, J. (2002). Quantifying the economic impact of 4-D seismic projects. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 5(02):111–115.
- Walls, M. R. (2005a). Corporate risk-taking and performance: A 20 year look at the petroleum industry. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 48(3–4):127– 140.
- Walls, M. R. (2005b). Measuring and utilizing corporate risk tolerance to improve investment decision making. *The Engineering Economist*, 50(4):361–376.
- Wang, H., Ciaurri, D. E., Durlofsky, L. J., and Cominelli, A. (2012). Optimal well placement under uncertainty using a retrospective optimization framework. SPE Journal, 17(01):112–121.
- Wang, Z., Yin, Z., Caers, J., and Zuo, R. (2020). A Monte Carlo-based framework for riskreturn analysis in mineral prospectivity mapping. *Geoscience Frontiers*, 11(6):2297– 2308.
- Weber, E. U. (2019). The utility of measuring and modeling perceived risk. In *Choice, Decision, and Measurement*, pages 45–56. Routledge.
- Whang, Y. J. (2019). Econometric analysis of stochastic dominance: concepts, methods,

tools, and applications. Cambridge University Press.

- Wilde, B. J. (2010). Data spacing and uncertainty. Master's thesis, University of Alberta.
- Williams, B. K. and Johnson, F. A. (2015). Value of information in natural resource management: technical developments and application to pink-footed geese. *Ecology and Evolution*, 5(2):466–474.
- Wood, D. A. and Khosravanian, R. (2015). Exponential utility functions aid upstream decision making. *Journal of Natural Gas Science and Engineering*, 27:1482–1494.
- Xie, Y., Zhu, C., Zhou, W., Li, Z., Liu, X., and Tu, M. (2018). Evaluation of machine learning methods for formation lithology identification: A comparison of tuning processes and model performances. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 160:182– 193.
- Xuena, X. and Jinlan, L. (2011). Optimal investment decision-making for petroleum enterprises based on risk tolerance. *Industrial Engineering Journal*, 14(6):60.
- Yin, Z., Strebelle, S., and Caers, J. (2020). Automated Monte Carlo-based quantification and updating of geological uncertainty with borehole data (AutoBEL v1. 0). *Geoscientific Model Development*, 13(2):651–672.
- Yoshida, K., Shimizu, Y., Yoshimoto, J., Takamura, M., Okada, G., Okamoto, Y., Yamawaki, S., and Doya, K. (2017). Prediction of clinical depression scores and detection of changes in whole-brain using resting-state functional mri data with partial least squares regression. *PloS One*, 12(7).
- Yousefzadeh, F. (2017). E-bayesian and hierarchical bayesian estimations for the system reliability parameter based on asymmetric loss function. *Communications in Statistics Theory and Methods*, 46(1):1–8.
- Yousefzadeh, R., Sharifi, M., Rafiei, Y., and Ahmadi, M. (2021). Scenario reduction of realizations using fast marching method in robust well placement optimization of injectors. *Natural Resources Research*, 30(3):2753–2775.
- Zakamouline, V. (2014). Portfolio performance evaluation with loss aversion. *Quantitative Finance*, 14(4):699–710.
- Zakamouline, V. and Koekebakker, S. (2009). A generalisation of the mean-variance analysis. *European Financial Management*, 15(5):934–970.

- Zhang, Y., Lorentzen, R., and Stordal, A. (2018). Practical use of the ensemble-based conjugate gradient method for production optimization in the brugge benchmark study. In SPE Norway One Day Seminar. OnePetro.
- Zhao, M., Zhang, K., Chen, G., Zhao, X., Yao, C., Sun, H., Huang, Z., and Yao, J. (2020). A surrogate-assisted multi-objective evolutionary algorithm with dimensionreduction for production optimization. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 192:107192.
- Zhou, J., Yang, X., and Guo, J. (2017). Portfolio selection and risk control for an insurer in the lévy market under mean-variance criterion. *Statistics and Probability Letters*, 126:139–149.
- Zou, X., Scholer, A. A., and Higgins, E. T. (2020). Risk preference: How decision maker's goal, current value state, and choice set work together. *Psychological Review*, 127(1):74.

APPENDIX A

APPENDICES

A.1 Preference measurements in decision making

(a) Quadratic loss function: As for the decision has a uniform distribution within the interval between a and b, the expected loss $E\{L(Z, z^*)\}$ is expressed below:

$$E\left\{L(Z, z^{\star})\right\} = \int_{a}^{z^{\star}} (Z - z^{\star})^{2} \frac{1}{b - a} dZ + \int_{z^{\star}}^{b} \lambda (Z - z^{\star})^{2} \frac{1}{b - a} dZ$$
$$= \frac{1}{3(b - a)} \left((z^{\star})^{3} - a^{3} + 3z^{\star}a^{2} - 3(z^{\star})^{2}a \right)$$
$$+ \frac{\lambda}{3(b - a)} \left(b^{3} - (z^{\star})^{3} - 3z^{\star}b^{2} + 3(z^{\star})^{2}b \right)$$
(A.1)

Using the first derivative test to find the extreme point of expected loss function. It is conducted by taking the derivative of $E\{L(Z, z^*)\}$ with respect to z^* as follows:

$$\frac{dE\left\{L(Z,z^*)\right\}}{dz^*} = \frac{1}{b-a}\left((z^*)^2 + a^2 - 2az^*\right) + \frac{\lambda}{b-a}\left(-(z^*)^2 - b^2 + 2bz^*\right)$$

$$= (1-\lambda)(z^*)^2 + 2(b\lambda - a)z^* + a^2 - \lambda b^2$$
(A.2)

The optimal estimate z_{opt}^{\star} is valid in the interval [a, b]. Let $\frac{dE\{L(Z, z^{\star})\}}{dz^{\star}} = 0$, the optimal estimate z_{opt}^{\star} could be solved:

$$z_{opt}^{\star} = \frac{a + \sqrt{\lambda b}}{1 + \sqrt{\lambda}} \quad \text{for} \quad \lambda \neq 1$$
 (A.3)

(b) Exponential utility function: The expected utility for a decision with a uniform distribution X of interval between a and b is expressed in Equation A.4.

$$E\left\{U(X)\right\} = \int_{a}^{b} \frac{1 - \exp(-rX)}{r} \frac{1}{b-a} dX = \frac{1}{r} + \frac{\exp(-br) - \exp(-ar)}{r^{2}(b-a)} \quad \text{for} \quad r \neq 0$$
(A.4)

A.2 Downside-risk approach in decision making

Insights about the downside-risk approach are drawn from Equation 4.7. Appendix A.2 summarizes the derivation process of this equation from previous research (Cumova and Nawrocki, 2014; Santos et al., 2017a; Zakamouline and Koekebakker, 2009). It aims to give a more detailed illustration of the downside-risk approach in decision making under the expected utility framework. Consider a monetary distribution X, the expected utility $E\{U(X)\}$ is expressed as:

$$E\{U(X)\} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} U(X)dF(X)$$
(A.5)

Where F(X) is the CDF. The expected utility is truncated by the reference point x_0 , which is given by:

$$E\{U(X)\} = \int_{-\infty}^{x_0} U_-(X)dF(X) + \int_{x_0}^{\infty} U_+(X)dF(X)$$
 (A.6)

Where U_{-} and U_{+} are the utility function above and below the reference point, respectively. Applying the Taylor series expansions for $U_{-}(x)$ and $U_{+}(x)$ around x_{0} , which yields:

$$E\{U(X)\} = \int_{-\infty}^{x_0} \left(\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{N!} U_{-}^{\{N\}}(x_0) (X - x_0)^N \right) dF(X) + \int_{x_0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{N!} U_{+}^{\{N\}}(x_0) (X - x_0)^N \right) dF(X)$$
(A.7)

The lower partial moments and upper partial moments in the *N*-th order are defined as (Anthonisz, 2012; Gökgöz and Atmaca, 2017):

$$LPM_N(X, x_0) = (-1)^N \int_{-\infty}^{x_0} (X - x_0)^N dF(X)$$
(A.8)

$$UPM_N(X, x_0) = \int_{x_0}^{+\infty} (X - x_0)^N dF(X)$$
 (A.9)

Substituting Equations A.8 and A.9 into Equation A.7. The expected utility could be expressed as:

$$E\{U(X)\} = U(x_0) + \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{N!} U_{-}^{\{N\}} (-1)^N LPM_N(X, x_0) + \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{N!} U_{+}^{\{N\}} (x_0) UPM_N(X, x_0)$$
(A.10)

In order to capture different risk positions in the upside and downside, the truncated utility function with a threshold of x_0 is used, which is given by:

$$U(x) = \begin{cases} (x - x_0) - \frac{r_+}{2}(x - x_0)^2 & x \ge x_0 \\ -(x_0 - x) + \frac{r_-}{2}(x_0 - x)^2 & x < x_0 \end{cases}$$
(A.11)

The utility function could be approximated by a quadratic form in a certain wide range of return by Tylor series expansion (Jia and Dyer, 1996; Markowitz, 1959). The expected utility in Equation A.10 is simplified into the partial moments form:

$$E\{U(x)\} = UPM_1(X, x_0) - \frac{r_+}{2}UPM_2(X, x_0) - \left(LPM_1(X, x_0) + \frac{r_-}{2}LPM_2(X, x_0)\right)$$
(A.12)

The expected utility in Equation A.12 could be further simplified below:

$$E\{U(X)\} = E(X - x_0) - \frac{r_+}{2}UPM_2(X, x_0) - \frac{r_-}{2}LPM_2(X, x_0)$$
(A.13)

Where r_+ is the attitude for the upside volatility (upside risk-seeking $r_+ < 0$, and upside risk-neutral $r_+ = 0$), and r_- is the attitude for the downside fluctuation (downside risk-averse $r_- > 0$, and downside risk-neutral $r_- = 0$).

A.3 Regression to approximate conditional expectation

Many studies have documented the use of regression to approximate conditional expectations (Lin, 2018; Strong et al., 2015). According to these studies, Appendix A.3 is used to illustrate the principle of approximating conditional expectation by regression. Firstly, the dependent variable Y is split into the conditional expectation function $E\{Y|X\}$ and a mean-zero error term e. That is:

$$Y = E\{Y|X\} + e \tag{A.14}$$

Where $E\{e\} = 0$. Equation A.10 has a similar form with regression models (Strong et al., 2015). Taking the mean square error regression as an example, it aims to minimize the mean squared error (MSE) between the observed variable Y and regression model m(x). The MSE of $E\{(Y - m(x))^2\}$ is given by:

$$E\{(Y - m(x))^{2}\} = E\{(Y - E\{Y|X\} + E\{Y|X\} - m(x))^{2}\}$$
$$= E\{(Y - E\{Y|X\})^{2}\} + E\{(E\{Y|X\} - m(x))^{2}\}$$
$$- 2E\{(Y - E\{Y|X\})(E\{Y|X\} - m(x))\}$$
(A.15)

Since $E\left\{Y - E\{Y|X\}\right\} = E\{e\} = 0$, and $E\left\{(Y - E\{Y|X\})^2\right\} = E\{e^2\}$ does not impact the optimization. Thus, the minimizing of MSE could be simplified:

$$\underset{m(x)}{\operatorname{argmin:}} E\{(Y - m(x))^2\} \equiv \underset{m(x)}{\operatorname{argmin:}} E\{(E\{Y|X\} - m(x))^2\}$$
(A.16)

When $m(x) = E\{Y|X\}$, the $E\{(Y - m(x))^2\}$ reaches to the minimum. Thus, regression m(x) offers a way of approximating the conditional expectation $E\{Y|X\}$.